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Key Data

Supply and Demand 
Kilometres of network    293.91 
Number of stations    301 
Fleet in operation (cars)    2,341 
Cars per km (million/year)   192.37
Total trips (million/year)   626.4

Economic data (€ million)
Total revenues     982.94
Total expenditure   978.66
Investments     118.96
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Presentation

A key aspect of Metro Madrid in 2017 was undoubtedly 
related to the strategic target of recovering the demand. 
This year, the Company has gone over the 600 M-user 
milestone for the first time since 2012. This means the 
biggest increase since 2000, i.e. 7.22%. 

Today, Metro Madrid is the most used transport method 
by Madrilenians.

In addition, we commemorated the start of the works 
by Compañía Metropolitano Alfonso XIII, the origins of 
Metro Madrid. These works have been a turning point 
for the standards of living of both locals and visitors, as 
well as for growth in the region and the international 
repercussion as a public transport company.  

The Autonomous Community of Madrid has committed to 
new challenges and projects in 2017 for the anniversary 
of the start of the underground system which will take 
place in 2019. These initiatives have become true as a 
result of the significant investment carried out by the 
Regional Government and the professionalism and 
dedication of Metro employees, who value tradition 

while at the same time look to the future, as they 
transform the underground system.

This year’s modernisation of lines 5 and 8 within the 
scheduled time has translated into an increased level 
of safety, comfort and efficiency in the service provided 
to users. 

The aim of integral renovation works of line 5 was to 
implement an advanced signalling system in the tunnel, 
stations and trains, which is already in use for other 
lines and has allowed for an increase in capacity.

For line 8, the railway line platform was replaced for 
a cutting-edge system and works were carried out in 
order to eliminate vibration and filtration, while making 
maintenance tasks more efficient. 

Works on line 5 were taking place at the same time as 
the first stages of the Station Modernisation Plan 2017-
2021 were underway at Canillejas, Torre Arias, Suanzes 
and Aluche stations, renovating vertical walls, paving, 
waterproofing and lighting systems. 

In addition, progress was made in the Accessibility 
Plan 2016-2020 as the works for installing two lifts 
at Principe Pío Station were started. These two lifts 
will be in addition to another 513 existing lifts. The 
2020 target means that 73% of the network will have 
accessible stations, which will position Metro Madrid as 
one of the greatest and most accessible underground 
systems in the world.

Also, in 2017, the new customer service model was fully 
implemented and is characterised by the presence of 
a Commercial Supervisor. After the makeover of old 
ticket offices, the new model will make the interaction 
between the staff and the users easier by means of 
direct contact – this will have a positive effect on the 
service quality.
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Among the actions taken for the continuous 
improvement of Metro Madrid service, the Autonomous 
Community of Madrid has started a staff selection 
process this year – 350 vacancies for Sector Supervisor 
and 200 vacancies for Service Assistant. These new 
features will strengthen customer service at the station 
through the work of the Commercial Supervisor and will 
support further the staff involved in train and facility 
maintenance.

To conclude, I’d like to point out at the awards we have 
received. The Premio Plena Inclusión Madrid 2017 
(Full Inclusion Award Madrid) for the Metro Madrid’s 
contribution to social inclusion of people with mental 
or developmental disabilities. This award acknowledges 
the development of Metro Madrid’s Corporate 
Responsibility Strategy. 

The second award given to Metro Madrid was by the 
Asociación Latinoamericana de Metros y Subterráneos 
(Latin American Association of Underground Networks 
or ALAMYS) and is known as Distinción Anual ALAMYS 
2017 (ALAMYS Annual Award 2017) for our Energy 
Saving Plan as the best railway project of the year in 
Latin America. 

These awards position the Company once again as a 
leading example to be followed by other operators in 
the world. 

A record position we will keep with the hard work of all 
the staff who have made Metro Madrid a fast, efficient, 
accessible and safe underground network, a world 
referent as whole. 
 

Rosalía Gonzalo López
President of the Board of Directors
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At Metro Madrid, we are working to be the preferred 
public transport option in the Autonomous Community 
of Madrid and provide quality and efficient public 
transport services with the ultimate aim of offering a 
good customer experience for those users who rely on 
us for their daily journeys.

These are our commitments, and thus, the duty of 
around 7,000 employees who take it upon them to keep 
Metro Madrid at the top of the list of public transport 
methods, Metro Madrid being the most used in the 
region.

Companies are, in the first place, the people who are 
part of them. Each and every one of us makes decisions 
and, in turn, each decision will make up the real essence 
our Company.

Metro Madrid is a world leading public transport 
company and was born nearly 100 years ago. We 
continue to seek improvement and become a company 
that engages with present and future generations. 

There is a very tight bond between Metro and the 
Autonomous Community of Madrid and for this reason, 
the impact that our activity has on this area is especially 
important in our view. This is due not only to the impact 
that this transport method has on the environment, 
but also on the economic development and the life of 
millions of Madrilenians and tourists who visit us each 
year. 

We care for each and every one of these people, no 
matter what they are like or what they need when they 
travel with us. We are a public service committed to 
excellence and therefore, we are always liaising with a 
hyper-connected society and are aware of social needs. 
We are always willing to provide an efficient solution to 

public transport committed users and to make Madrid a 
more accessible and sustainable region.

The year ended in a 7.22% rise in demand – the biggest 
increase in users since 2000, and for the first time since 
2012, surpassing 600 M-user milestone. 

The Company has benefited from a demand recovery in 
2017, obtaining the best annual accounts for the last 
decade and a profit of €4.3 M.

The economic recovery and the increased number of 
users has translated into a larger service offer – 350 
new employees have been recruited to strengthen and 
improve customer experience at the stations and lines 
5 and 8, two of the most important lines, are being 
renovated under ambitious improvement projects.

Obtaining these results just before our 100th 
anniversary has encouraged us to keep working in the 
same direction, offering a better service, as well as 
always adapting our services to an increased demand 
and at the same time being able to meet the needs and 
expectations of our clients with a more efficient and 
better-quality service.

Francisco de Borja Carabante Muntada
Metro Madrid Chief Executive
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Metro de Madrid Governing Bodies 

The company’s governing bodies include the General 
Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of Directors. The 
functions of these bodies are summarised as follows:

The General Meeting of Shareholders
The General Meeting of Shareholders is the body in 
charge of deliberating and resolving on the matters 
falling within the scope of its jurisdiction. As part of 
its deliberative functions, it has the authority to make 
changes to the company’s bylaws and to appoint, 
remove and demand answers from directors. 

It is also responsible for approving the company’s 
annual accounts and for distributing the fiscal year 
profit or loss and appointing the company’s auditors. 
It can also make decisions regarding transformations, 
mergers and spin-offs.

Board of Directors 
As Metro de Madrid’s ultimate governing body under 
the law and the by-laws, the Board of Directors acts as 
the Company’s representative and is vested with broad-
ranging powers to manage the Company’s interests.

Its primary responsibilities include approving the 
organic structure of the Company and the general 
strategies to be pursued. To do so, it negotiates and 
executes the contracts in furtherance of the corporate 
purpose, draws up the annual accounts and presents 
the directors’ report at the end of the year. 
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The composition of the different boards of directors 
of Metro de Madrid S.A. in 2017 was as follows:                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(From 10/10/2017 to 31/12/2017)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(From 01/01/2017 to 10/10/2017)

CEO
Pedro Manuel Rollán Ojeda  

Directors
Jesús Valverde Bocanegra 
Gregorio Moreno   
Francisco de Borja Carabante Muntada 
Jesús Mora de la Cruz  
Miguel Ángel García Martín 
Juan Ignacio Merino Mesa
José Trigueros Rodrigo
Rosario Rey García 

Secretary (non-Director)    
Ana Blasco Marzal

CEO
Rosalía Gonzalo López  

Directors
Jesús Valverde Bocanegra 
Francisco de Borja Carabante Muntada 
Jesús Mora de la Cruz  
Miguel Ángel García Martín 
Mª Consolación Pérez Esteban
Antonio Luis Carrasco Rejía
Rosario Rey García
Antonio Sánchez Vicente 

Secretary (non-Director)   
Ana Blasco Marzal

On 23 November 2016, the Board of Directors granted broad-ranging executive powers to the CEO, Francisco de 
Borja Carabante Muntada. 

Different areas of the company are also vested with contracting powers, in accordance with the terms and 
conditions contained in the specific instructions of each contracting entity’s profile.
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Organisational Structure
(at 31 December 2017)

Board of Directors

31 December 2017

Deputy Directorate of 
Institutional Relations
Javier Otamendi Pineda

Secretary General
Ana Blasco Marzal

Civil Protection and Safety
José Javier Muñoz Castresana

Rail Operations
Carlos Cuadrado Pavón

Branding and Media
Sonia Mª Aparicio Moreno

Corporate Areas Divisions

Contracting and Corporate 
Services 

Organisation and Quality
Cristina Sopeña de la Torre

Human Resources
Pilar García Carbonell

Economic - Finance
Pablo José Escudero Pérez

Operations
Fernando Javier Rodríguez 
Méndez

Engineering and Maintenance
Isaac Centellas García

Infrastructure
Fernando Ramos Vicent

Regulatory Compliance and Transparency
Pedro Pablo García de Ascanio

Internal Audit and Control
Miguel Muñoz Cutuli

Legal Affairs
Milagros Ayuso Ferreras

Contracting and Corporate Contracts
Nuria López Gimeno

Organisation
Juan Marcos Moyano Mateo

Quality and Processes
Julio Plaza García

Customer Service
Álvaro Ruiz Moreno

Media
Francisco Olaya Retamosa

Branding
Sonia Casado Martín

People Management and Structure
Félix Martínez Cachón

Occupational H&S
José Martín García

Procurement
Fernando Pavón Gámez

Finance
Álvaro Calatayud Gómez

Economic Studies
Francisco Javier Castela Lobato

Operations Management
Tomás Manzano Polo

Operations Planning and Control 
José Antonio López Núñez

Operational Rail Safety
Ángel Ferrer Serrano

Information Systems 
Javier Tagarro García

Engineering  
Dionisio Izquierdo Bravo

Facility Maintenance
Luis Bris Checa

Rolling Stock Maintenance
Pedro Pablo Pascual González

Works, Infrastructure and Accessibility
Jorge Francisco Blanquer Jaraiz

Safety
Domingo Gómez Alonso 

CEO
Francisco de Borja Carabante 
Muntada
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Map of the Network Operated 
by Metro de Madrid, S.A.
(at 31 December 2017)
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01 Introduction

In 2017, Metro de Madrid saw a 7.11% increase in 
passengers in homogenous terms, that is, without 
discounting the differences between the 2017 and 2016 
calendar years, serving a total of 626.4 million users 
during the year. Surpassing 600 million users for the 
first time since 2012, the sustained growth of demand 
over the next four years was confirmed in 2017.

At the same time, train service increased by 6.86% 
compared to the year before, producing a total of 192.37 
million cars per kilometre. 

Train frequency also increased by 5.26% with 340 trains 
operating during rush hour. Line 6 was the most heavily 
used underground line, with a total of 103,487,147 
travellers, which represents a 2.9% increase over the 
year before. 

As a result of this increase in activity and improved 
efficiency, which enabled the Company to reduce the 
cost per station from 866.5 to 858 thousand euros per 
year and the cost per car-km, which was down from 
2.63 to 2.56 euros per car-km, compared to 2016, for 
the first time since 2008 the Company actually reported 
4.3 million euros in profits. 

The following factors contributed to the Company’s 
performance in 2017: 

The hiring of 350 new area managers who will come 
on board in 2018 and 2019 to reinforce the service 
provided to users at stations and oversee the correct 
operation of stations and trouble-shooting. 

A century after ground was broken for the construction 
work by Compañía Metropolitano Alfonso XIII, Metro de 
Madrid continues to this day to be a reference in public 
transport.  The modernisation of the underground 
continued in 2017 and this will have a positive impact 
on service as users are guaranteed a safer, more 
comfortable and more efficiency experience.   

On line 8, improvements were made to the infrastructure 
of the track platform to eliminate filtrations and 
reinforce bindings. On line 5, new signalling technology 
was added in the tunnel. Also in 2017, the Company 
began to update the fleet of trains used on this line to 
adapt them to the new signalling system and the TETRA 
terrestrial trunked radio system.

The first actions were taken under the finalised 2017-
2021 Station Modernisation Plan at the Canillejas, 
Suanzes, Torre Arias and Aluche stations and as part of 
the 2016-2020 Accessibility Plan, work began on the 
installation of two lifts at the Príncipe Pío station.

As for how the quality of service is perceived by Metro 
users, in surveys conducted in 2017 on the overall 
perception of the service provided by Metro the company 
received a score of 7.65 points which represents a 2.13% 
increase.

Following the appointment of a new Director of 
Transport, Housing and Infrastructure, on 10 October 
2017 the Community of Madrid formalised the 
composition of the new Board of Directors of Metro de 
Madrid, S.A. with the appointment of its members.

 In 2017, 7.11% increase in passengers
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Metro de Madrid Strategy

Following several years of crisis characterised by 
declining demand, the first change in that trend was 
seen in 2014 and accelerated in 2017, with a much 
greater increase in the number of trips than had been 
recorded in previous years. In fact, 2017 saw the highest 
percentage increase in trips since the year 2000, with a 
total for the year of 626.4 million. 

Generalised growth was observed on all lines, except 
for lines 5 and 8 which were closed to traffic due to 
renovations during the year. Once again in 2017, line 
6 recorded the highest number of travellers with a 
total of 103,487,147, which represents a 2.9% increase 
over the year before. The next most popular line was 
line 1, with a total of 90,830,641 passengers with the 
greatest increase in passengers of all lines (38.4%), due 
in part to the fact that in 2016 the line was closed for 
renovation. The third most popular line was line 10, 
with 71,322,010 passengers, 7.8% more than the year 
before. 

It is notable that more than half of the 41.6 additional 
trips in 2017 compared to 2016 were passengers using 
Youth Transport Passes. 

In absolute values, weekdays accounted for the bulk of 
the additional trips in 2017, 30 million or 72% more 

than the year before, although in terms of percentage 
there was more of an increase on weekends, with an 
average annual increase of 10.84% on Saturdays and 
9.60% on Sundays. In 2017, the month of November saw 
historic highs in weekend demand compared to 2016, 
with a 12.82% increase on Saturdays and 11.05% on 
Sundays.

Metro de Madrid recorded an average of 1,424,000 users 
on Saturdays in the month of October, which represents 
the highest average demand in Metro’s entire history for 
that day of the week. 

Set against this backdrop of a clear recovery of demand, 
the Company’s mission, originally developed around the 
concepts of quality and efficiency, took on new meaning 
in 2017 and reaffirmed Metro de Madrid’s position as 
the preferred mobility option in our region:

“To be the preferred mobility option in the region of Madrid, 
providing a transportation service based on quality and 
efficiency”.

In 2017, this mission is organised around three different 
yet complementary strategic lines of action, each one of 
which is specially designed to achieve the anticipated 
results. 
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The strategic lines are as follows:

1. Public Service

Public service is core value of Metro de Madrid as a 
public transport company responsible for the region’s 
mobility that revolves around service quality and 
continuously improving on the services rendered to our 
customers. In 2017, the company’s strategic objectives 
in this regard were as follows: 

 > To improve the services rendered
 > To consolidate the recovery of demand 

2. Efficiency

Efficiency is related to the public company’s commitment 
to offer quality service at a reasonable cost and at 
the same time to ensure the company’s economic, 
environmental and social sustainability. The company’s 
strategic objectives in 2017 as far as efficiency is 
concerned were as follows:

 > Achieving economic and financial equilibrium
 > Boosting the efficiency of key processes

3. Customer Experience 

In addition to guaranteeing the user’s mobility, Metro 
de Madrid also strives to ensure the best possible user 
experience by projecting a positive image to society as 
a whole. In 2017, the strategic objectives in this regard 
included: 

 > Improving the perception of the service 
 > Improving accessibility 
 > Strengthening brand image

2017 Action Plans

To achieve these strategic objectives, various initiatives 
were undertaken in 2017 designed to improve the 
public service and enhance the user’s experience 
through greater efficiency. 

Renovations

Work on Line 5

Line 5 underwent a complete overhaul. By renovating 
and modernising the entire line, service capacity was 
increased by 44% and the line was made safer, more 
comfortable and more efficient for users. One of the 
most notable changes was the replacement of the 
rail signalling system which was technologically 
transformed into a more modern system similar to the 
kind that already exist on other lines.

In addition, the overhead power cables were replaced 
with more modern rigid cables which are more reliable 
and require less maintenance. 

Tunnel lighting was also completely renovated. 

A TETRA radio telephone system was also installed. 
These systems are commonly used for emergency and 
critical services such as communications services in 
tunnels, stations and trains. 

Technological upgrades were also performed on the 
traction centres at the Rubén Darío and Quintana 
stations, which are part of the rail power network that 
powers line 5. 

With the conclusion of the overhaul of line 5 in 2018, 
users will reap the benefits in the form of more efficient 
service. 
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Modernisation of Canillejas, Torre Arias, 
Suanzes and Aluche stations.

The first upgrades under the 2017-2021 Modernisation 
Plan, which encompasses 32 stations on 8 lines, were 
the Canillejas, Torre Arias, Suanzes and Aluche stations.

These stations were completely overhauled, replacing 
more than 7,700 square metres of flooring with a much 
more resistant and skid-proof version than the existing 
one, which includes podotactile floor signalling. 

The walls were clad with more than 3,400 square 
metres of vitrified panels, a much more aesthetic and 
vandal-resistant material. Other steps were taken to 
improve accessibility to the stations including the 
installation of tactile-visual flooring and signalling and 
more than 5,800 square metres of a new, more resistant 
and waterproof ceiling. 

In terms of lighting, 2,088 linear metres of lighting 
equipped with energy-efficient LED technology were 
installed, much more efficient and with lower energy 
consumption. All this has contributed to a significant 
improvement in the aesthetic and functional appearance 
of the stations. 

Work on Line 8

This work consisted of renovating the tracks between 
the Nuevos Ministerios and Barajas stations. 

Metro’s track renovation plan involved the replacement 
of the current track infrastructure with another state-
of-the-art one which provides better safety, availability, 
comfort, reduced vibration and increased efficiency in 
maintenance tasks, in addition to recovering the trains’ 
commercial speed. 

Line 8 spans 16.5-kilometres running through eight 
stations starting in downtown Madrid and ending at 

Terminal 4 at the Adolfo Suárez Madrid-Barajas Airport.  
This is the fastest line in the entire Metro network, where 
trains can reach speeds of 105 kilometres per hour. In 
2001 it became Metro’s first 1,500-volt electrified line

Accessibility Plan

Metro de Madrid has been a pioneer in public transport 
in the Community of Madrid and at the national level, 
taking steps to eliminate architectural barriers so as 
to enable everyone, including those with physical 
disabilities, to use this mode of transport.  Since 1994, 
when the company first began to install lifts at its 
stations, Metro de Madrid has been committed to the 
accessibility of its infrastructure and rolling stock so 
that the service can be used by all citizens under equal 
condition. It is currently a priority line for action by 
Metro. 

The main objective of the 2016-2020 Accessibility and 
Inclusion Plan implemented in 2016 was to reinforce 
the role of Metro de Madrid as a promoter of public 
transport services, assuming a singularly prominent 
role and responsibility in the advancement of society, 
collaborating actively in fostering the inclusion and 
equality of all citizens in the ability to exercise their 
rights and ensuring the autonomy of people with 
disabilities while at once attracting and earning the 
loyalty of new users. 

It is an all-inclusive concept that encompasses all 
phases of the life cycle of the trip. Included in this plan, in 
addition to the network’s existing accessibility measures 
(lifts, escalators, moving walkways, mechanical ramps, 
tactile-visual flooring and ischiatic supports, among 
others) are things like specially adapted signalling and 
employee training to serve people with disabilities 
better. Following the addition of the new lifts as part 
of the accessibility action plan, 73% of Metro’s network 
will be equipped with lifts. 
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Energy Efficiency

Over the last three years, Metro de Madrid has saved the Community of Madrid enough energy to power more than 
110,000 households for a year.  This is thanks to the Energy Saving Plan introduced by the company which includes 
a total of twelve actions on Metro’s operating network, including rolling stock, installations and equipment. 

Although the steps taken by Metro do not affect the service, the results contribute to a reduction of the company’s 
environmental impact since energy accounts for nearly 70% of its emissions. Since it was implemented in 2012, 
Metro has managed to use 16% less electricity to operate its daily services, saving more than 10 million euros on 
its annual electricity bill. 
 
In this regard, ever since the year 2012 when the network was stabilised and growth resumed, energy usage has 
been steadily declining in terms of both annual usage per station and per car-km, both expressed in kWh. The trend 
is illustrated below.
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LEDs

Metro de Madrid is also completing the installation of 
new lighting at stations and in train cars that uses LED 
technology. The goals pursued by this change are as 
follows:

 > To install lighting that is extremely energy 
efficient. 
 > To generate savings through lower usage. 
 > To make the lighting system more reliable. 
 > To optimise lighting levels and comply with 

the law. 
 > To extend the useful life of the lighting 

system. 
 > To protect the environment by reducing the 

amount of waste generated.
 > To improve the comfort level inside trains and 

savings associated with lower thermal loads. 

Intelligent Ventilation

In addition to the measures described above, as part 
of the Energy Saving Plan a new operating programme 
for the ventilation system was introduced in order to 
optimise ventilation in tunnels, which accounts for 
the second highest level of power usage behind train 
traction. The newly developed intelligent ventilation 
management (IVM) system is more energy-efficient and 
offers greater thermal comfort. 

Better ventilation means better air quality, which in 
turn has an effect on passengers  and saves almost 2 
million euros per year. 

All of these measures are designed to reduce the 
amount of energy used to provide the service, which in 
turn reduces the environmental impact of the company’s 
operations and responds to one of the commitments 
assumed by Metro de Madrid in its Corporate 

Responsibility policy. In that policy, Metro de Madrid 
makes a commitment to manage its environmental 
impact by promoting sustainable public transport, 
energy efficiency, the rational use of resources and the 
protection and conservation of the environment.

Multi Card

The use of the Multi card was rolled out gradually, 
culminating on 31 December with the elimination of 
all paper tickets paper tickets previously used by the 
Regional Transport Consortium.

All transport tickets are now supported by this modern 
technology, which is easier and more convenient to 
use and facilitates the control of public transport 
operations. Since it is not a personal card, it can be 
used by different users; even users who are travelling 
together can use the same card. 

The implementation of the Multi card system also 
contributes to environmental sustainability by gradually 
eliminating up to 27 tons of paper per year in the form 
of paper tickets. 
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Extension of the Direct Customer 
Service Model by Commercial 
Supervisors  

On 1 April, Metro de Madrid concluded a plan to improve 
customer service by converting the last ticket windows 
still existing at 92 stations to a Commercial Supervisors 
model. The Commercial Supervisors Model has now 
been implemented by Metro system-wide.
 
Commercial Supervisors can help users buy tickets 
from the ticket machines, advise them about routes and 
provide them with other information. 

They also supervise the conditions of the installations 
at their stations, expediting repairs by rapidly reporting 
issues to maintenance managers.

New APP Features

To keep users well-informed, Metro de Madrid’s 
official app has a new feature allows ‘push’ (automatic) 
notifications to be sent to mobile devices showing the 
status of the network in real time. With these messages, 
which also include updates on service on the different 
lines, Metro has reinforced its commitment to improve 
the service offered to travellers.

Another feature that was added is the possibility of 
users consulting the balances on their public transport 
passes so they will know in advance when they need 
to be replenished. Users can also opt to receive the 
latest news regarding the service provided by Metro de 
Madrid. 

Mobile Charging Devices 

Metro de Madrid has invested 368,000 euros to install 
USB ports euros for charging mobile phones and other 
electronic devices in practically all stations across 

the network. The installation will be complete in the 
first quarter of 2018, with stations having four ports 
per platform. This is part of the way in which Metro is 
upholding its commitment to improve service quality 
and customer experience. 

The new USB ports in the Madrid underground are 
compatible with any type of telephone or table cable 
and they come with the latest fast charging technology 
(up to four times faster than standard chargers). 
This technology is compatible with all types of USB 
connectors, including USB type-C and ensures that the 
charging adapted to the needs of the particular device 
in each case. 
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The system includes various interchangeable, easy 
maintenance modules so that if one module fails, the 
system will not unavailable for more than one hour from 
the time maintenance personnel get to the chargers. 

The mobile chargers inside the trains are free of charge, 
since they use the power produced by the braking of 
the train itself of any other braking train in the vicinity. 
This means that users are charging their mobiles with 
green energy. These devices will gradually be installed 
in Metro de Madrid’s entire fleet of trains.

Bilingualism: Line 8
  
On line 8, the line that goes to the airport, the signs 
are in English as are the messages that come over the 
public-address system and the ones inside the trains 
announcing the next stop. The reason for this is to 
facilitate things for the tourists visiting Madrid who use 
the Metro to get around. The same bilingual signs and 
messages will be introduced in the rest of the network 
in 2018.  

New Customer Service Centre and Lost 
and Found 

With the new customer service centre and lost & found 
department located at the Plaza de Castilla station, 
users are able to collect there items and report missing 
objects in a centralised location. It is hoped that this 
will lead to more lost and found items being returned 
to their rightful owners. 

There is also a number that users can call to see if 
their property has been found and, if so, where they can 
go to collect it (station, lost and found office or other 
location).

At this centre, customers can also receive information 
in different languages about rates, schedules, 
recommended routes, entertainment and cultural 
activities and sales of Metro products.

Job Offer – 350 Station Positions; 200 
Assistants; 40 Skilled Technicians  

The Community of Madrid sponsored a selection 
process for 590 newly-created jobs at Metro de Madrid, 
specifically 350 area managers, 200 assistants and 40 
skilled technician jobs. 

With these new positions, the largest number of jobs 
added by Metro in recent years, a total of  950 people will 
join the public transport company’s payroll   (including 
the train drivers hired in 2016). 
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With these jobs, Metro will be able to reinforce the 
direct customer service model at stations and  increase 
the number of staff dedicated to caring for rolling 
stock and facilities, thereby improving the quality of 
network maintenance. They will also make it possible 
to undertake the technological improvements that 
support the provision of the public transport service. 

The newly created positions are permanent, full time 
jobs and they are intended to partially offset the 
retirements that will take place during the term of the 
agreement. 

These new jobs are in addition to the 360 new train 
drivers hired in 2016. Thanks to these additions, it was 
possible to increase train frequency by an average of 15 
percent and to return to pre-crisis service quality level. 
In the case of the area managers who are responsible 
for direct customer service at Metro stations and the 
assistants who will focus on maintenance of trains and 
facilities, the candidates were pre-screened through the 
Public Employment Service of the Community of Madrid. 

New Corporate Projects

Beyond the strategic action plan for 2017, Metro de 
Madrid has also launched a series of Corporate Projects 
in line with the overall strategic pillars of the Company, 
which will ensure the continuity of the strategy as well 
as the medium and long-term results.

This involves cross-sectional and multidisciplinary 
initiatives that include various organisational areas 
of the company, proposing intermediate milestones 
throughout various periods, as well as medium and 
long-term final results. 

The development of these Corporate Projects is 
based on collaborative environments that encourage 
cross-sectional work and improve the efficiency of 
multidisciplinary teams. In turn, the Board of Directors 

is highly involved in the periodic monitoring of the 
progress of each one of the projects. 

Some of the strategic projects launched in 2017 are 
mentioned below:

Extension of Line 11

This project involves an action that will enable the 
extension of line 11 from Plaza Elíptica to Conde de 
Casal. The approval of €3.1 million for the drafting of 
the project initiates the process for expanding line 
11 of Metro de Madrid, which will make it possible to 
extend the Madrid Underground from Plaza Elíptica to 
Conde de Casal. 

This project involves a high level of complexity and 
technical expertise due to the size of the works 
and considering that it will be carried out by a 
multidisciplinary team with broad experience in fields 
such as geology, geotechnical expertise, structural 
calculation, railway and metro layouts, topography, 
urban planning, heritage, archaeology, the environment, 
noise and vibration, and the prevention of material risks. 

Once the administrative mechanisms have been 
implemented for the project tendering process, it is 
estimated that by the end of 2019 the drafting will be 
completed and approval will be given for the expansion 
works, with the invitation to tender at the beginning of 
2020. 

As a result of this action, it will be possible to extend 
line 11 from the station of Plaza Elíptica to Conde de 
Casal, thus providing an answer to a historical claim 
brought forward by residents, especially those of 
Carabanchel, but including also the residents of Fortuna 
de Leganés. This involves a network with an extension 
of 6.5 kilometres and will allow line 11 to link with 
other lines and stations.
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Renovation and Development of the 
Key Systems

Renovation of key systems in the provision of the service, 
in order to design and implement their development 
based on new technology, achieving this by an ambitious 
renovation programme and technological upgrading of 
the main systems and communications that support the 
key processes for the provision of the service (operation, 
maintenance and security). 

In the medium and long term, this large corporate project 
will design and implement technological solutions 
and services for the operation that will characterise 
the metro of the future, in which digitisation and 
communications will gain increasing prominence with 
regard to the group of key systems: stations (Estación 
4.0), rolling stock (Digital Train) and integration of 
operational control and technological support of the 
different areas of operation.

Metro Online

Given Metro’s commitment to its customers and to 
digital transformation and in order to improve the 

customer’s experience, the company has launched a 
project that involves the identification, redesigning 
and implementation of internal processes to improve 
the response to incidents in the network, supported by 
technological resources. By incorporating customers 
in the detection of such incidents, offering them 
the possibility of generating notices through the 
official app, they will be able to quickly and easily 
notify regarding any possible incidents occurring on 
the underground. The project’s main objective is the 
improvement of the customer’s perception on aspects 
related to the condition of our facilities, allowing them 
also to participate in the improvement of the service by 
reporting incidences and providing information for the 
solution of the same. The first scope of the project will 
be the cleaning at the stations.

Development of the Commercial 
Supervisor Model
 
Metro de Madrid is committed to continuous 
improvement, redesigning the development of the 
customer service model encompassing the entire 
network and based on new technologies for adapting 
the same to the current situation, focusing on the 
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customers’ new needs and expectations. The project 
stresses the importance of improving customer 
experience in aspects related to customer service, the 
availability of facilities and the conservation of the 
station, as well as the alignment of the organisational 
and technological development of the station systems 
and the new service needs (real time, intermodal 
integration, multi-language, etc.)

In turn, there will be more and better technological 
resources available, thus making it possible to capture 
data to improve customer service and decision-making, 
involving also employees in the improvement through 
the use of tablets, with the aim of reducing paper 
use to nil at the stations. Finally, it will optimise the 
management, conservation and cleaning of the stations.

Corporate Risk Management System

In line with fulfilling the objectives set out in our strategy, 
Metro de Madrid has a corporate risk management 
model that makes it possible to limit the degree of 
uncertainty associated with the achievement of results, 
thus complementing the perspective of fulfilment of 
objectives with the management of the risks associated 
with non-compliance of the same.

Throughout 2017, the Risk Management System of Metro 
de Madrid has devoted its efforts to the monitoring 
and follow-up of the risks of greater criticality for 
the achievement of the objectives of the Company. In 
this sense, the various groups of risk managers have 
developed their management activity by monitoring 
the overall level of risk and implementing mitigating 
actions and controls needed to manage the same, 
reporting regularly to the Risk Committee, which acts 
as a consultative and executive body of the Executive 
Committee and with the participation of representatives 
from each of the General Directorates. 
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Benchmarking and Presence in Specialised Forums

Benchmarking

The strategic proposal of Metro de Madrid considers 
at all times the relative positioning of our company 
with respect to other operations which act as valid 
benchmarks at international level. In this way, the 
planning and strategic management of Metro de Madrid 
is also grounded on maintaining high levels of service 
quality and efficiency in line with the best examples of 
the sector.

This benchmarking function is structured primarily 
through our participation in the CoMET Group 
(Community of Metros), which includes the entire group 
of the most relevant metros in the world, working 
together to establish common international standards 
in order to share best practices in the sector and 
to investigate any line of work that will improve the 
management of the operators, thus improving also the 
provision of public transport service in different cities 
and countries.

The CoMET Group also has the methodological support 
of the RTSC (Railway and Transport Strategy Centre), an 
agency of the prestigious university Imperial College 
of London, which along with all of the community of 
metros, is constantly working to develop research and 
improvement projects, as well as to maintain an updated 
comprehensive common database that includes a 
complete set of key business indicators. 

As members of this community, Metro de Madrid has the 
possibility to have access to this international forum of 
experts and find out how, in other worldwide metros, 
the problems that arise daily in the performance of our 
activities are resolved. 

During 2017, Metro de Madrid has actively participated 
in the meetings of the CoMET Group held throughout 
the year. Finally, the consensus of all the members of 
the group has been achieved to hold in Madrid the 

management meeting of the CoMET Group for the year 
2019, which coincides with the 100th anniversary of our 
company.

Presence in Specialised Forums

In order to participate in new products offered on the 
market, as well as to provide forums where experiences 
can be shared with leading companies from different 
sectors, Metro de Madrid considers it essential to 
maintain an active presence in the main associations 
related to its main lines of business.

Throughout the year 2017, it has continued to participate 
as a member of various transportation agencies, at 
national and international level, such as:

 > UITP (International Public Transport 
Association). This is an international organisation 
consisting of public transport authorities, operators, 
scientific institutes and public transport-related service 
industries, whose vision is the creation of a common 
space for public transport at international level.

Metro de Madrid, a member since 1950, sits on various 
committees and has been a member of numerous 
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committees and subcommittees of the Assembly of 
Metros. The CEO of Metro de Madrid was appointed as 
member of the Board of Directors of the UITP (Policy 
Board) in the Meeting held in 2017 in Montreal.

 > ALAMYS (The Latin American Association 
of Undergrounds and Subways).  Metro de Madrid, in 
the person of its CEO, has been appointed to the 1st 
Vice Chairmanship of the Steering Committee at the 
Barcelona General Meeting, where, in addition, it 
ended up winning the ALAMYS 2017 Annual Award, 
with the project “Energy Savings Plan (PAE) of Metro 
de Madrid” as the best Iberic-American railway 
project of the year. It has also participated actively by 
attending the various meetings that have been held 
throughout the year. 

 > ATUC (Collective Urban Transport Association).  
Metro de Madrid is a member and holds the Vice-
Chairmanship of the Metros Section in its Executive 
Committee. It has been present at various meetings 
of this Committee, as well as at its Committees, 
Conferences and General Meeting.

 > GRANCEESS (Association of Large Service-
Sector Electrical Power Consumers). Metro de Madrid 
is a member of this association which is comprised of 
the main consumers of Spanish electrical energy in the 
transport and services sectors.

The basic objective of the association is the joint 
development of actions necessary for defending 
the interests of its members before the various 
administrative bodies and power companies with 
regard to supply and electricity rates, as well as the 
representation in the Consultative Council of the 
National Electricity System Commission.

 > Spanish Rail Foundation. It also maintains a 
seat on the Board of Trustees of the Foundation and 
attends numerous meetings throughout the year.

In turn, based on the corporate approach, the Company 
is also a member of other specialised associations, 
covering different areas, such as:

 > Management Excellence Club (CEG). Its 
mission is to promote global competitiveness 
among organisations by identifying new paths, 
developing skills, sharing knowledge and introducing 
management models. Metro de Madrid attends 
different meetings throughout the year and 
participates in working committees.

 > Spanish Association of Purchasing, Contracting 
and Procurement Professionals (AERCE). Its mission 
is to make organisations more efficient through 
the procurement function, providing the tools for 
purchasing professionals to perform their jobs and 
contribute to the sustainable development of the 
company.    
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During the year 2017, Metro de Madrid has continued working on the consolidation of a Corporate Responsibility 
policy integrated into the company’s strategy and structured around the 17 sustainable development goals (SDG), 
for the purpose of converting Metro de Madrid into an inclusive and sustainable driving force within the Community 
of Madrid.

Corporate Responsibility Policy and Stakeholders

During this year, the Company has worked on developing three lines of action of this policy: responsible business, 
inclusive culture and environmental management, developing programmes and actions aimed at implementing 
sustainable and inclusive policies in the provision of public transport service.

Support Line for Reinforced Autonomy (L.A.R.A.)

It was created in response to an individual request and is a cross-sectional project that affects all areas of the 
company (especially Operations, Human Resources and Training). It is an example of dialog with stakeholders that 
promotes social inclusion of persons with disabilities through the creation of a more inclusive transport model.

It was originally developed through the volunteer programme and has become a line of work fully integrated into 
the company’s strategy. 

The L.A.R.A. line of action has three objectives and provides for various types of actions that are divided into 
two large groups: awareness-raising and training and the improvement of information inside and outside of the 
network to facilitate its use.

The main actions undertaken during 2017 have been:

 > Promoting and monitoring the implementation of additional accessibility measures listed in the 
Accessibility and Inclusion Plan of Metro de Madrid 2016-2020.

 > Promoting the standardisation of the image of the group of persons with disabilities inside and outside 
of the Metro network.

 > Facilitating social inclusion.

These objectives are summarised in one: 

The Corporate Responsability Strategy

to facilitate complete autonomy in our facilities
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The Social Action Strategy

The social action plan of Metro de Madrid, called Metro 
de Madrid’s social line, responds to strategic planning 
that makes it possible to actively collaborate with 
different social and collective entities with the aim 
of improving the quality of life of society in general, 
putting at its disposal the company’s key resources 
(economic, human, technological resources or the 
facilities themselves).

The objective of the Metro’s social line is to contribute 
to the improvement of mobility through an inclusive 
transport model and to promote economic and social 
development.

For the purpose of reducing inequality, it addresses the 
most disadvantaged groups (people with low economic 
resources and people particularly vulnerable or at risk 
of social exclusion).

The Metro de Madrid’s social action strategy (social 
line) is structured around the following strategic lines:

 > Inclusive transport model: Promotion of 
universal (accessible and inclusive) and sustainable 
mobility through a transport service with an 
integrating nature.  In this line, special attention will 
be given to accessibility and ease in movement, in 
particular for persons with disabilities and at risk 
of social exclusion, either due to economic reasons, 
age, health, (language and immigration), sex, religion, 
politics, culture, etc.

 > Contribution to development: Promotion 
of economic growth and social well-being, while 
respecting the environment. Included in this line 
are initiatives for supporting economic and social 
development projects aimed at promoting inclusion 
and full social integration, generating equal 
opportunities in training and employment, including 
responsible procurement and hiring and aimed at 
promoting citizen participation with the ultimate 
objective of improving the social environment.

Throughout 2017, 83 actions were carried out within the 
social line, compared to 78 the previous year (which is 
almost 12% more). These actions benefited 85 entities 
with social purposes (NGOs, foundations and other 
types of associations or enterprises).

During 2017, 52 employees carried out volunteer work 
in 11 actions. Among the volunteer actions, special 
mention can be made of the actions resulting from the 
collaboration of Metro employees who donate part of 
their time to people with disabilities, who, in addition to 
becoming familiar with the network, get to know first-
hand the day-to-day tasks of the company’s workers and 
learn to cope with ease in their movements. 
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Among all the actions included in the Social Line, the 
following are noteworthy:

 > Launch of the computer equipment donation 
programme: During the year 2017, more than 30 
computers were delivered that were formatted 
and prepared by Metro’s employees on a 
voluntary basis

 > Downtown, Adventure on the Metro: 
Downtown is a 3D adventure videogame 
designed specifically for young people with 
mental and intellectual disabilities, recording 
everyday situations which they face on a daily 
basis when using the Metro de Madrid network. 
The game was developed by the CEIEC -research 
institute of the University Francisco de Vitoria- 
in collaboration with Down Madrid and aims 
to improve the training process that enables 
them to travel alone on the Madrid underground 
network.

 > Support for the LGTB community through 
training and awareness-raising actions: During 
the month of May, Security, Civil Protection 
and Operation personnel attended training 
and diversity awareness-raising workshops to 
contribute, from the underground network, to 
the fight against discrimination and homophobic 
attacks. Also, in the month of July and coinciding 
with the World Pride 2017, an awareness-raising 
campaign was carried out in the entire Metro 
network.

Both actions were developed under the framework 
agreement for collaboration, concluded in the year 
2016 between Metro and the Madrid Observatory 
against LGTB phobia, and made extensive to this year. 

 > “En línea con quien más lo necesita” 
(“Solidarity with those in need”) 2017: In the 
fourth edition of the solidarity campaign called 
“Solidarity with those in need”, Metro as a 
channel of communication, takes the opportunity 
to give high visibility to the causes represented 
by twelve entities proposed by the company’s 
employees. 

Using short theatrical plays on the trains, this 
campaign supports the full inclusion of people 
with disabilities. These plays were brought to the 
stage by members of the Esfera Foundation which 
gives support to people with functional diversity.

 > Collaboration with the Sandra Ibarra 
Foundation. : During the months of November 
and December, Metro de Madrid has collaborated 
in the promotion of the “Diario de vida” (“Life 
story”), of the Sandra Ibarra Foundation, a project 

 > Second Edition of “Árbol de los deseos” 
(“Giving Tree”): This campaign, which was in its 
second edition, provided Christmas gifts for two 
hundred underprivileged children from different 
wards of the Community of Madrid and NGOs. 
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that began with the publication of a book of 
testimonies from people who have overcome 
cancer and want to be a stimulus for other 
patients.

Contribution to the  “Empresa saludable” programme  

(“Healthy enterprise”)

Included within the line of “responsible business” is the 
commitment to promote quality employment for all our 
workers, thus promoting improvement in the health 
and welfare of the employees. The following actions 
have been carried out within the framework of this 
programme:

 > Workshop on cardiopulmonary resuscitation.  
Metro de Madrid, in collaboration with B+Safe, 
offered 15 employees the opportunity to attend 
a 2-hour workshop to acquire knowledge and 
skills for the performance of cardiopulmonary 
resuscitation and the use of defibrillators.

 > Collaboration with the GEICAM Foundation  
conducting workshops on “Healthy habits against 
cancer” and “Breast cancer” for the Madrid Metro 
employees. 

Awards received

Madrid 2017 Inclusion Award

Metro de Madrid received the  “ Madrid 2017 Inclusion 
award” for its contribution to the social inclusion of 
people with intellectual or developmental disabilities 
through L.A.R.A., the Line of Support for Strengthening 
the Autonomy.

Diversa 2017 Award

Metro de Madrid received the 2017 Diversa Institutional 
Award 2017 from the Diversa Global Association as 

recognition for its firm commitment to the defence and 
normalisation of the reality of the LGBTI community. 
The prize recognises Metro’s role in implementing a 
series of measures in the last few months focused on 
the normalisation of the LGBTI community in the daily 
life of the underground.

2017 Trébol Solidarity Award 

Down España granted the “Trebol Solidarity Award” 
to Metro de Madrid for its active participation in the 
dissemination of the social awareness campaign 
“Xtumirada”, which focuses on breaking down prejudices 
concerning this disability and promotes the social 
inclusion of people with Down syndrome.

Participation in meetings and specialised forums 
 
Metro de Madrid has participated in various meetings 
and specialised forums, among which the following can 
be mentioned:

 > II RSC Workshops: “The communication 
of value”. Presentation of the lecture called, 
“L.A.R.A.: the path to full inclusion” 

 > Meeting of the NETWORK CHALLENGES 
in Madrid. Conference on Metro de Madrid’s 
Corporate Responsibility Policy and its integration 
into the strategy of the organisation. 
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Line Length (km) ** No. Stations No. Lobbies
1 Pinar de Chamartín - Valdecarros   23.320  33 60

2 Las Rosas - Cuatro Caminos   14.105 20 25

3 Villaverde Alto – Moncloa   14.798 18 27

4 Pinar de Chamartín – Argüelles 14.626 23 26

5 Alameda de Osuna - Casa de Campo   23.207  32 39

6 Circular  23.472 28 33

7 Estadio Olímpico – Pitis   19.676  23 24

Metro Este Hospital del Henares - Estadio Olímpico    9.341 8 7

8 Nuevos Ministerios - Aeropuerto T4  16.459 8      6*

9 Paco de Lucía -  Puerta de Arganda   20.761  24 28

TFM Puerta de Arganda - Arganda del Rey   19.037  6      5*

10 Tres Olivos - Puerta del Sur  24.216 21   19*

MetroNorte Hospital Infanta Sofía - Tres Olivos  15.568 11 12

11 Plaza Elíptica -La Fortuna 8.237 7      6*

12 Circular Municipios del Sur (MetroSur)   40.596  28    27*

Ramal Ópera - Príncipe Pío    1.092 2      0*

ML1 Pinar de Chamartín - Las Tablas 5.401 9    8*

TOTAL 293.914 301 352

Network in Operation

At 31 December 2017, Metro de Madrid operated a 
network that was 293.914 kilometres long with 301 
stations, distributed by lines as shown on the following  
table:

Network Operated by Metro de Madrid, S.A. in 2017

(*) For lines where the number of lobbies is lower than the number of stations, it is due to the
fact that the lobbies are assigned to other lines that share the same station.
(**) The length includes the dead end of the line.
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Since its origins, the Metro de Madrid network has 
been enlarged several times, to the point where it now 
reaches most of the capital’s districts and several of the 
most important municipalities in the Greater Madrid 
metropolitan area. 

This growth was accomplished by incorporating new 
categories of infrastructure management into urban 
transport networks such as “Infrastructure Managers”,  
concession systems and public-private partnerships. 

The model has evolved over time from one where  
the company itself was responsible for building and  
operating the lines to the current one where the  
government builds the infrastructure then assigns its  
operation to Metro de Madrid. This model was formally  
adopted in article 13 bis of Law 8/85 of 16 May with the  
creation of the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 
following the amendment introduced by Law 6/2011 of 
28 December.

In addition to the segments operated by Metro de Madrid 
on behalf of the regional authorities, the Company also 
operates a number of private concessions  including:

 > Line 9 between the Puerta de Arganda and 
Arganda  del Rey stations

Metro de Madrid has been operating this line 
under a contract with the concession company, 
Transportes Ferroviarios de Madrid, S.A. (T.F.M) 
since 1999.  Under this contract Metro de Madrid 
is responsible for the operation and maintenance 
of the entire line.

 > Line 8 from Airport T1, T2, T3 to Airport T4   

This 2.6 km long segment became operational in 
2007, as part of the Concession awarded to the 
Globalvia Consortium formed by Caja de Madrid 
and Fomento de Construcciones y Contratas (FCC). 
The concession is currently operated by Globalvia 
through a company called Operalia.

Metro de Madrid runs the operation, with Line 8 
trains reaching Terminal 4 at Barajas Airport, and 
does some maintenance of the installations.

 > Line 1 of the Light Rail from Pinar de 
Chamartín station to Sanchinarro and Las Tablas.

2007 saw the start-up of the light rail servicing the 
new communities of Sanchinarro and Las Tablas in 
northern Madrid. The line is 5.4 km long with 9 
stations.   Under a contract with  the concession 
holder, Metros Ligeros de Madrid, S.A. (M.L.M.), 
Metro de Madrid is responsible for the operation 
and maintenance of the entire line.  
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Demand

In 2017, passengers took 624.40 million trips using Metro 
de Madrid, which represents a 7.11% increase over the year 
before.  The following chart shows its evolution of demand 
in recent years:
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(Thousands of trips per year)
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The chart below shows a comparison by line over the 
last two years:

The lines with the highest ridership rates were line 6, line 1 and line 10, in that order .

It should be noted that the decline in the number of trips on line 8 compared to last year was due to the renovation 
work in the first quarter of the year. 

Breakdown of trips by line
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In 2017, the total number of Metro trips was broken down into 919.15 million legs.  Metro de Madrid’s average 
monthly demand was 52.20 million trips, with October and November standing out as the months of greatest 
demand and August as the month when demand was at its lowest:

The day of highest demand was 24 
November with 2,496,664 trips, while 25 
December was the day of lowest demand 
with a total of 519,058 trips. 

Number of Travellers by Month
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The busiest station of all last year was Sol, where four Metro lines converge and passengers can connect with 
commuter and long-distance bus service.  The following table shows the usage (total entries, exits and transfers 
between lines) of the network’s 21 busiest stations:

Goya

Station Name Entries Uses

Sol 21,936,772 61,598,481

Avenida América 12,665,592 60,203,436

Nuevos Ministerios 15,656,389 45,221,947

Moncloa 19,344,895 40,909,622

Plaza de Castilla 12,570,086 36,577,999

Príncipe Pío 15,727,577 35,555,172

Alonso Martínez 5,292,049 25,337,690

Cuatro Caminos 6,921,895 24,894,140

Legazpi 6,685,418 24,263,217

Gregorio Marañón 4,345,104 23,210,492

Argüelles 8,315,587 22,986,799

Plaza España 8,124,672 21,782,441

Pacífico 4,604,390 20,749,011

Ópera 5,609,714 19,786,690

GranVía 6,473,920 19,743,835

Callao 6,977,585 19,442,217

Diego de León 5,755,484 19,367,040

Plaza Elíptica 6,120,400 18,665,682

Oporto 6,095,001 17,134,433

6,401,035 16,478,016

Atocha-Renfe 8,498,093 16,453,309
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Supply
In 2017, Metro continued to implement the programming proposed by the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 
relative to supply, composition, frequency and quality of the train service on each line and during the different 
seasons.

Supply was up by 6.86% compared to the year before, with a total of 192.37 million cars per kilometre. The details 
by line are shown on the following graph, which includes the lines operated by Metro de Madrid for the concession 
holders, TFM and MLM:

Average commercial speed stood at 29.23 kilometres 
per hour overall on the lines making up the Network.  
This was an decrease of 3.83% compared with the 
previous year’s figure of 30.39 km per hour.

If we analyse speed by lines, the highest speed was once 
again the segment of line 9 between Puerta de Arganda 
and Arganda del Rey (TFM section), with an operating 
speed of 54.53 km per hour at peak times on workdays.  

Production per line
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The following table sets out the most important parameters of supply, by line, during that period:

Supply by line during workday rush hour  (7:30 - 9:30)

Operating speed and travel times from November 2016 except line 7b (Dec 16)
Number of trains refers to the maximum transport capacity at rush hour on a weekday

Line Trains Cars/
train

Operating
Speed

Travel
time
(h:mm:ss)

Interval
(mm:ss)

Capacity 
(Pax./h)

1 37 6 21.72 2:00:58 0:03:16 14,865

2 20 4 23.30 1:08:00 0:03:24 9,282

3 28 6 23.45 1:09:17 0:02:28 19,591

4 29 4 21.12 1:21:45 0:02:49 11,196

5 33 6 22.36 2:01:23 0:03:41 14,192

6.1 23 6 24.11 0:58:35 0:02:33 29,913

6.2 15 6 24.56 0:57:26 0:03:50 19,902

7A 21 6 26.58 1:25:09 0:04:03 18,822

7B 6 3 35.54 0:32:21 0:05:24 6,877

8 13 4 41.02 0:46:15 0:03:33 13,963

9A 24 6 25.58 1:35:59 0:04:00 19,174

9B 7 2,6 54.53 0:41:51 0:05:59 4,978

10A 34 6 28.15 1:44:37 0:03:05 24,804

10B 13 3 37.45 0:49:10 0:03:47 9,806

11 5 4 29.16 0:28:08 0:05:38 8,826

12.1 12 3 35.22 1:09:27 0:05:47 6,293

12.2 11 3 35.05 1:10:12 0:06:23 5,707

R 2 4 11.65 0:10:05 0:05:03 6,256

ML1 7 5 18.31 0:34:37 0:04:57 3,397
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The following graph shows the evolution of supply in recent years:

Evolution of Supply 2005 - 2017
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Fares
2017 fares are summarised on the following table, which shows the tickets issued by 
the Madrid  Regional Transport Consortium valid for travel on the metro network.  The 
zone covered by Metro de Madrid is the municipality of Madrid (fare zone A). 

From 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017

Price TICKET TYPE VALID FOR  
On sale anywhere in the METRO network 

Price

MULTI 
Card 2.50

Single

Combined Single

Combined 10 trips

10-Journey ticket

AIRPORT

Metro Network stations belonging to fare zone A (including ML1)  

TFM Network stations on Line 9, section:  
Puerta de Arganda - Arganda del Rey (Zone B1, B2 and B3)

Line 10 stations, section: La Granja - Hospital Infanta Sofía (Zone B1)

Line 7 stations, section: Barrio del Puerto - Hospital del Henares (Zone B1)  

Line 12 stations and Joaquín Vilumbrales and Puerta del Sur on Line 10 (Zone B1 and B2) 

Stations in the Metro Network and MetroLigero: ML1, ML2 and ML3  

Metro Network stations belonging to fare zone A (including ML1) and EMT

TFM Network stations on Line 9, section:  
Puerta de Arganda - Arganda del Rey (Zone B1, B2 and B3)

Line 10 stations, section: La Granja - Hospital Infanta Sofía (Zone B1)

Line 7 stations, section: Barrio del Puerto - Hospital del Henares (Zone B1)

Line 12 stations and Joaquín Vilumbrales and Puerta del Sur on Line 10 (Zones B1 and B2)

Stations in the Metro Network and MetroLigero: ML1, ML2 and ML3 

Single Metro Zone A + 
AIRPORT extra charge

Combo Single + 
AIRPORT extra charge

AIRPORT extra charge

Stations in the Metro Network belonging to fare zone A (including ML1) and entry and exit
at Aeropuerto T1-T2-T3 and Aeropuerto T4 stations 

Stations in the Metro Network and MetroLigero: ML1, ML2 and ML3 and for entry and exit at  
Aeropuerto T1-T2-T3 and Aeropuerto T4 stations 

For entry and exit at Aeropuerto T1-T2-T3 and Aeropuerto T4 stations together with a  
Combined (Single or 10-journey) or METROBÚS Ticket

(*) Minimum price of €1.50 up to 5 stations; €0.10 per each additional station, up to a maximum of €2.00 for journeys of more than 9 stations. 
(**) A supplement of €3 will be added to the price of the Metro Zone A Ticket applicable to the journey made.  
CHILDREN UNDER 4 YEARS OF AGE DO NOT REQUIRE A TICKET.

TRANSPORT SEASON TICKET (€)  

STANDARD

YOUNG PERSONS
SENIORS

BLUE CARD
CHILDREN`S CARD Free

SPECIAL 
DISCOUNTS (*) 

20%         Large Families general category and persons with a degree of disability equal to or greater than 65%

50%         Large Families special category

40%         Large Families general category + persons with a degree of disability equal to or greater than 65% 

70%         Large Families special category + persons with a degree of disability equal to or greater than 65%

(*) Special discounts do not apply to Tourist Tickets.

TOURIST TICKET (€)
On sale at all stations in the METRO Network, at certain tobacconists, newspaper kiosks and places of tourist interest

STANDARD

CHILDREN`S TICKET 50% discount for children under the age of 11 only 

Zone A Zone T
Days Days
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Ticket Type

SINGLE

METROBÚS 10 TRIPS

METROSUR 10 TRIPS 

METRONORTE 10 TRIPS

METROESTE 10 TRIPS 

TFM 10 TRIPS

MONTHLY TRANSIT PASS

ANNUAL TRANSIT PASS

TOURIST PASS

2017

5.49

18.97

0.51

0.10

0.04

0.01

70.82

3.56

0.50

2014 2015 2016

7.04 6.89 6.06

24.04 22.83 19.62

0.72 0.65 0.54

0.10 0.11 0.11

0.04 0.05 0.02

0.01 0.02 0.01

64.62 65.47 69.63

2.82 3.31 3.49

0.61 0.68 0.52

The usage trends for each ticket type over the last several years are shown below:
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Sales by Ticket Type

Metro sells transport passes for the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium for use on all modes of public transport 
operated by the Community of Madrid.  The terms are regulated in the Framework Agreement between Metro de 
Madrid and the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium.

There were three key events during the year which had an influence on ticket sales: 

 > The elimination of manual ticket sales at ticket offices on 31 March 2017.

 > The introduction of the “Multi” card for single, 10-trip and tourist tickets and with it the implementation 
of contactless technology in all tickets and passes sold by Metro de Madrid. 

 > The elimination of tickets with magnetic strips as of 31 October 2017.

The company sold 63.4 million tickets were sold at automatic ticketing machines and ticket windows operated by 
Metro de Madrid in 2017, for a total of 627.6 million euros, 53% of which were paid by debit or credit card.  This 
was an improvement over 2016, when Metro de Madrid sole 60.9 million tickets for a total of 612.6 million euros.  

By type, the Company sold more single tickets than any other type, accounting for 56% of total transactions 
but only 11% of receipts. By contrast, sales of standard contactless passes, which accounted for nearly 8% of 
transactions, represented 43% of receipts. 

3.39% - Multi Card

23.49% - 10 journeys

1.96% - Seniors

6.42% - Young persons

7.59% - Standard

56.67% - Single

0.48% - Tourist 

0.81% - Multi Card

28.87% - 10 journeys

2.43% - Seniors

12.56% - Young persons

43.79% - Standard

10.84% - Single

0.71% - Tourist 

Breakdown of tickets sold by 
type in 2017

Breakdown of sales by ticket 
group 2017 
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Series
Availability Availability

2017

2000 97. 25%

3000 97.58%

5000 96.79%

6000 95.58%

7000 96.92%

8000 95.58%

9000 97.34%

TOTAL

2016

98.21%

96.31%

98.14%

95.70%

96.67%

96.12%

96.83%

97.41% 96.98%

Series
Average age 

2017
Average Age 

ALL

2000 26.3

17.04

3000 10.05

5000 31.96

6000 16.42

7000 14.63

8000 9.41

9000 10.47

Series
No. of Cars         

(at 31 Dec 2016)
No. of Cars                    

(at 31 Dec 2017)

2000 724 724

3000 500 500

5000 202 202

6000 46 46

7000 222 222

8000 389 389

9000 258 258

TOTAL 2,341 2,341

Rolling Stock

At 31 December 2017, there were 2,341 train cars in 
service. 

The light rail units running on the network operated by 
Metro de Madrid consisted of 8 Citadis units.

Fleet in service at 31/12/2017

The average age of the fleet in service is 17.04 years, 
with the following details by rolling stock type: 

The 6000 series units include 21 cars owned by TFM

There were 285.5 complete overhauls and 6,251 
preventive maintenance checks in 2017. This preventive 
maintenance is designed to locate and correct incidents 
in the shortest possible time, reducing the negative 
repercussions on the services provided to our customers.  

The following table shows rolling stock availability 
levels according to wagon type in 2016 and 2017:

Average age of fleet in service

Rolling Stock Availability
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Elements No. of Cars % of total

Air conditiong 2,341 100.00%

Video surveillance 1,556 66.46%

Walkable space between cars 1,362 58.18%

Station announcements 2,148 91.75%

Fire detection and extinguishing 1,334 56.98%

The evolution of rolling stock availability in recent years is as follows:

Rolling stock availability on weekdays at 7:30 am.

The following equipment was installed on board the rolling stock at the 2017 year end: 
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Equipment
The most significant equipment and how it has evolved over the years, along with technical reliability and 
availability used to calculate this information are shown on the following table: 

99.86% 4,209.69 h

333 99.87% 5,904.90 h

640 99.82% 6,528.01 h

570 99.81% 2,306.50 h

1.264 98.22% 228.59 h

409

2,693 98.42% 479.98 h

828 99.72% 10,690.48 h

720 99.81% 5,281.69 h

1,698 98.61% 589.41 h

522 97.95% 552.79 h

122 97.60% 1,356,99 h

367 99.93% 12,239,19 h

461 99.93% 25,158.53 h

354 99.85% 15,425.08 h

1,526 99.98% 33,001.84 h

2,634 99.99% 72,159.81 h

166 99.75% 5,929.61 h

2,729 100.00% 158,194.4 h

(no. interphones)
5,279 99.83% 21,203.12 h

(no. eq. zones)
1,949 99.97% 18,908.97 h

(no. TV screens)
2,321 99.95% 24,241.28 h

3,254 99.93% 10,488.67 h

503 99.99% 18,406.64 h

(various types)
854 (*) 99.72% 3,642.62 h

2016 2017
INVENTORY

Dec 2016
AVAILABILITY

(%)
RELIABILITY

(H)
INVENTORY

Dec 2017
AVAILABILITY

(%)
RELIABILITY

(H)

LOW VOLTAGE

Pumps 

Ventilation

Gates 

SALES AND FARE SYSTEMS

METTAs

MBT (*)

Turnstiles

HVAC

Cooling 

Heating 

ACCESSIBILITY

Escalators

Lifts 

POWER 

Substations

Transformation centres

SIGNALLING 

Needles 

Diagonals 

Signals 

COMMUNICATIONS

Interphones 

Loudspeakers 

TV screens 

Access control 

Anti-intrusion 

Remote control  

99.88% 5,544.24 h

334 99.87% 5,820.89 h

641 99.81% 6,699.56 h

576 99.77% 2,498.08 h

1,264 98.09% 186.27 h

409

2,692 98.51% 519.48 h

810 99.24% 7,164.73 h

737 99.25% 5,407.56 h

1,699 98.80% 647.72 h

523 98.07% 569.54 h

121 98.95% 1,192.30 h

367 99.92% 12,640.73 h

461 99.93% 27,146.55 h

351 99.84% 15,295.61 h

1,232 99.98% 31,364.49 h

2,988 99.99% 68,127.88 h

170 99.88% 6,657.21 h

2,668 100.00% 146,868.46 h

(no. interphones)
5,282 99.79% 18,447.07 h

(no. eq. zones)
1,950 99.97% 19,087.33 h

(no. TV screens)
2,321 99.96% 22,308.58 h

3,172 99.95% 12,115.37 h

503 99.98% 22,136.20 h

(various types)
868 (*) 99.50% 3,148.84 h

Track circuits (With joints)

Track circuits (Without joints)

Electronic interlockings

OVERHEAD LINES

(*) The system has been configured with new types of equipment: TCE pcs, TCTI pcs and TCE interconnection units

in track electrification (km) 297.1 (2016), 297.1 (2017)
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Some of the most notable activities in the Facilities 
Maintenance Area in 2017 were those related to 
accessibility. A total of 322 staircases and 302 lifts 
were renovated and remodelled to improve availability, 
reliability and service quality.

As part of the company’s process of continuous 
improvement, there are preventative maintenance 
plans being developed for all of the network’s existing 
installations.

The Maintenance and Monitoring Operations Centre 
for Facilities  and Communications, better known as 
COMMIT, handled  just over 214,000 incidents involving 
installations, infrastructure and communications. 

Despite the fact that the number of equipment 
components continues to grow rapidly, now standing 
at over 123,000, the maintenance indicators continue 
to evolve in a very positive fashion, as evidenced, 
for example, by the number of incidents per piece of 
equipment, a very significant parameter that continues 
to improve year after year. Ever since the changes 
were made to the facilities maintenance model, whose 
most visible image is COMMIT, this indicator has been 
reduced by more than 32%.

As the Facilities Monitoring Vehicle (VAI) has continued 
to evolve, new algorithms and monitoring parameters 
have been developed (it currently measures more than 
125 parameters), to enable more efficient and effective 
maintenance of tunnel facilities (overhead line, track, 
signals and communications).

The VAI checks the entire network on a quarterly basis. 
The auscultation data have allowed the use of predictive 
maintenance techniques which make it possible to 
anticipate the appearance of defects.

In addition to its routine activities, the VAI has been 
used to conduct 24 inspections to verify the train-
ground communications infrastructure on secondary 
tracks and for major renovation work and betterments 
to the facilities (line 5, line 8, line 12, etc.).





04 Investments in Fiscal Year 2017
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INVESTMENTS AMOUNTS %

Rolling stock 7,126,643 5.99%

Track and tunnel renovations 16,557,718 13.92%

Stations 16,851,887 14.17%

Facilities 4,141,748 3.48%

Power and substations 17,710,797 14.89%

Signalling and communications 37,018,895 31.12%

Ventilation on lines 1,419,085 1.19%

Escalators 7,298,769 6.14%

Security 814,484 0.68%

Shops and machinery 1,666,484 1.40%

Other investments 8,350,523 7.02%

TOTAL 118,957,033 100.00%

Investments in Fiscal Year 2017

Metro Madrid’s total investments in 2017 amounted to EUR 118.96 million. The following table shows the 
distribution, in large items, of investment actions undertaken during the year:

Major actions carried out in each category are stated 
below:

Rolling Stock 

The work included efforts focused on optimizing 
maintenance, reliability and availability and others 
specific to upgrading and improvement of rolling stock. 
In this sense, we have continued with the acquisition of 
spare parts for the Rolling Stock with a total investment 
of 3.21 million euros, with the aim of avoiding 
unnecessary shutdowns in the maintenance processes, 
given its long term of supply.

Work on adaptation of cars in the different series of the 
Company’s rolling stock is detailed below:

5000 Series
In 2017, new ATO type 2000 equipment was 
implemented in 5000 cars destined for line 9, improving 
the reliability of the on-board signalling equipment, 
reconditioning and redesigning the mechanisms of the 
passenger and cabin doors of the 2nd 5000 and 4th 
5000 series cars, improving the operation of opening 
doors and installation of LED lighting in the passenger 
and cabin area. 
 

Investments 2017



672017 Annual Report

2000 Series
Reconditioning of the passenger access door 
mechanisms, improving their opening operations to 
improve reliability and replacement of the lighting 
system in the 2000 A rolling stock with LED lighting. 
 

7000 Series
In 2017, various work was done in this series, such as 
the renovating the amplifier boards, reconditioning 
of communication bus connectors and cabling and 
improving signalling equipment on board trains to 
increase reliability. 

Renovation and conservation of track 
and tunnels

This investment includes the essential work of track 
renovation and tunnel conservation, to provide more 
consistency to the tunnel, the track and the platform 
that supports it. 

This work increases the safety of the service and 
availability of the track and tunnel while also improving 
travel comfort and quality, reducing noise, the 
attenuation of vibrations with the passing of trains and 
reducing leaks and dislodgement.

The main work in 2017 included the following:

Work on satellite platform and facilities 
on Line 8 between Nuevos Ministerios and Barajas 
stations. These actions improved track quality and 
safety by replacing the existing track infrastructure with 
another of the latest technology and improving safety, 
availability and comfort, as well as the attenuation of 
vibrations and greater maintenance efficiency. 

Renovation of track and rail  
infrastructure at specific sites along the Network 
to improve the geometry of the track infrastructure and 
to eliminate defects and wear detected either by visual 

inspection, by ultrasound, by rail auscultation equipment 
(VAI) or by dynamic measurements of Rolling Stock.

Renovation and acquisition of diagonal 
tracks, changes and intersections, in order 
to reduce the risk of derailment through renovations 
of those elements subject to greatest wear and or 
presenting abnormal defects, which are detected 
through specific inspections, with an investment of 3.05 
million euros.

Renewal of track supports with struts 
on line 9, between the of Plaza Castilla and Ventilla 
stations and concrete platform on line 7, between the 
Pueblo Nuevo and Barrio de la Concepción and Parque 
Avenidas and Cartagena stations, with an investment of 
2.39 million euros.
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Stations: 

Various works in stations
Much needed work totalling 7.50 million euro was done 
in those stations in which the level of deterioration 
required it: repairs of platform vaults, connecting 
corridors, renovation of bathrooms and changing rooms, 
replacement of banisters and handrails. The work also 
included waterproofing and correction of leaks, screen 
doors, ventilation and access grilles, etc. This included, 
among others, the following work:

 > Under the 2016-2020 Plan, Canillejas, 
Suanzes and Torre Arias stations on line 5 
were remodelled, with an investment of 4.71 
million euros. The work included improving and 
expanding the drainage and sanitation network 
in stations, renovating the electrical conduit 
and remodelling facilities to accommodate 
their correct maintenance and allow for their 
future enlargements as well as to improve their 
appearance and functionality. 

 > To improve passenger safety and accessibility 
and upgrade the stations’ appearance and 
functionality, in 2017 flooring was replaced in  
Aluche station; the platforms and lobby of San 
Blas station were remodelled, and the lobby of 
Alonso Martínez station was upgraded through 
the expansion of the existing space in the main 
lobby, all with an investment of 1.03 million 
euros.

 > In García Noblejas station, climate control and 
accessibility were improved for the main lobby 
with installation of automatic doors to access the 
station. The lobby of Mar de Cristal station was 
improved with installation of windbreaks screens 
and open-air shelters. 

 > Renovation and improvement of the boxes 
on the automatic gates of Cuatro Caminos, 

Alvarado, Estrecho, Tetuán, Valdeacederas and 
Ríos Rosas stations of line 1 and installation of 
electromechanical, communications and control 
systems in the new access to the El Casar station. 

 > Other work included renovation of the steps 
of the fixed stairway of Manuel Becerra station, 
upgrading of office space for management of 
the Public Transport Card (TTP) in Getafe Central 
and Príncipe Pío stations and renovation of the 
ventilation shaft grilles. 

Unique work in stations
The Estación 4.0 project addresses the development 
of a “future station” that includes improvement of 
the operating, control and safety systems, through 
design, prototype and detailed plans. Control Systems, 
electromechanical installations, sale, toll and 
telecommunications will be standard and interoperable.  

Work to improve accessibility
Investments made within stations include improving 
accessibility in general for customers and specifically 
for people with disabilities, in the amount of 3.95 
million euros. The accessibility of lobbies and platforms 
has continued to be a priority for the company, through 
updating spaces and facilities for people with physical 
disabilities. Accessibility has mainly been improved by 
replacing the tactile-visual pavement on the platform 
edge in stations, the installation of intercoms in 
hallways accessible to persons with reduced mobility 
(PRM) and implementation and improvement of the lifts 
with Braille signage and an automatic rescue device.

In addition, the Community of Madrid’s Accessibility and 
Inclusion Plan in the 2016-2020 Metro Plan includes 
the installation of lifts in those stations that serve 
at least two Metro lines, to improve accessibility and 
remove architectural barriers. In 2017 work began on 
the installation of lifts in Plaza Elíptica, Príncipe de 
Vergara, Pavones, San Bernardo stations, etc., through 
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geotechnical studies, structural calculations and 
technical assistance.

 > The investment effort in escalators, as an 
element of the Accessibility Plan, includes 
the replacement of stairs and step chains 
and in safety devices and measures. The 
work done is reflected in the budget in the 
chapter on “escalators and travellators”, with 
details appearing later in this document under 
“Escalators”.

The following table summarises the evolution of the 
overall investment in accessibility: 

Investment in Accessibility since 2004
 (€ million)
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Ticket machines and toll equipment

Investment in 2017 in the amount of 2.76 million 
euros continued work on implementation the new 
functionalities required by the CRTM with respect to 
the Intelligent Transportation Ticketing (BIT) and the 
Public Transport Card (TPS) plans, including mainly the 
following projects:

 > Comprehensive replacement due 
to technological obsolescence of 142 
electromechanical Telvent step machines for 
access control, including their integration in 
communication systems, remote control and 
alarm monitoring, with an investment of 1.16 
million euros.

 > Completion of the reordering and adaptation 
of automatic vending machines, to ensure that 
all the processes of selling tickets are carried out 
automatically through the sales terminals. 

 > Installation and integration of Public 
Transport Card dispensers in Indra and Telvent 
sales equipment, for their adaptation to the BIT 
project. 

 
 > Continuation of the modifications to the 

software on the sale and validation equipment to 
implement new features necessary for the proper 
treatment of the Public Transport Card (PTC). 

Actions at facilities

For construction of the Integral Transport Centre 
(ITC), work included demolition, asbestos removal and 
management of waste generated by the demolition of 
existing buildings in the complex in which to locate the 
above-mentioned ITC, located on Avenida de Asturias 
(old Plaza de Castilla depot). Work also continues with 
the drafting of the projects and the direction of the 
construction works of the Integral Transport Centre, 

seeking to unify its operating, technological, and 
security centres and offices. 

In addition, engineering support was done for the 
detailed design of the Global Data Processes Centre 
(CPD) and for the conceptual design of the Network 
Operation Centre (NOC).

Moreover, essential work continued for the renovation 
and expansion of the workshops and facilities for 
corrective and preventive maintenance of rolling stock 
and materials storage, in order to improve production 
processes.

These include improvements in air conditioning in 
facilities and offices: the installation of heating in the 
Fuencarral and Canillejas depots, renovation of the 
heating in the Canillejas storage areas; installation 
of heating in the rolling stock maintenance sheds 
of the Aluche depot, and the replacement of heating 
and running water boiler burners and air conditioning 
equipment in various premises. 

Energy and substations

This chapter highlights the following actions:

Renovation of electrical and energy 
installations in Line 5, as part of the 
comprehensive renovation of signalling. Includes the 
renovation of the Rubén Darío and Quintana traction 
centres, for the increased of capacity of the line, the 
installation of rigid catenary to enhance security and 
reliability and the renovation of the tunnel lighting and 
power, by a joint amount of 10.95 million euros.

Renovating the current lighting system, 
using tubes and/or luminaires with 
efficient LED lighting technology  in 
lighting installations of the Metro de Madrid network. 
The goal is to improve the capabilities and the 
sustainability of lighting facilities, using more efficient 
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technologies that optimize the use of resources and 
generate energy savings and avoid the emission of 
environmental pollutants, with an investment of 3.57 
million euros.

Replacing the direct current protections 
in 14 traction centres (CTR) due to technological 
obsolescence, completing the work. Also, the 
replacement of control and remote-control units in 5 
CTR for the latest generation. 

Refurbishment of facilities and low 
voltage boards, work that has continued in 18 
stations, to ensure the smooth operation of distribution 
systems; reconditioning of the LV board switching 
systems in 12 stations and their adaptation to the 
current regulations and improving the power transfer 
system of the automatic controller of the GLVB (general 
low voltage board) in 27 stations and on line 3, as well 
as renovation of 60 automatic gate controllers. 

Work in the traction centres (CTR): 
Replacement of the control system due to technological 
obsolescence in Vicálvaro, Valdebernardo, Sierra de 
Guadalupe, Moncloa 6 and Mar de Cristal traction 
centres; replacement of connection cables between 
Quintana and La Elipa and Quevedo and Escuelas 
Aguirre traction centres, and ancillary equipment in La 
Peseta traction centre. 

Total renovation of the low voltage 
electrical installation and lighting of the 
Aluche station, due to technological obsolescence and 
to conform to current regulations.

Signalling and communications 

This section highlights the work of comprehensive 
renovation of the Line 5 signalling on 
the stretch of Alameda de Osuna and 
Casa de Campo. To provide the Metro de Madrid 
network with greater quality, maintainability and safe 

operation, continuing in this line with technological 
renovation, replacing the signalling systems based 
on electromechanical relays with latest generation 
electronic interlocks, contributing operational, 
technical and maintainability improvements. This was 
an investment of 30.87 million euros.

Other actions included:

 > Completion of the extension of the Tetra 
communications system to line 1 and installation 
on line 5, under the RailNET Strategic Project. 
The main radio system of Metro, used by trains, 
stations, security and maintenance, was extended 
to these lines. This included the installation and 
commissioning of the Radiotelephone System 
base stations, the updating and extensions of the 
Tetra consoles system and work on the antenna 
system, with an investment of 2.84 million euros.

 > Renovation of the radiotelephone system 
distributed in 98 units of series 2000B that 
circulate on line 5.

 > Other actions relate to the temporary 
signalling adjustments (LTV), renovation of the 
signalling equipment on line 1 due to the closure 
of Plaza de Castilla Depot and improvement of 
the recording system of the depot Command Post.

Line ventilation

The most relevant actions in achieving the objective 
of improving ventilation conditions by adequately 
renewing the indoor environment is the development 
of the Intelligent Ventilation Manager. The goal is 
to maximize economic savings, minimize energy 
consumption and optimize the thermal comfort 
perceived by customers and, in emergency situations, 
perform the extraction of smoke, gases or toxic vapours.
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Escalators

These investments are part of the Plan for improving 
the availability of Metro de Madrid escalators, in order 
to improve its reliability, prolong its useful life and 
avoid prolonged shutdowns. 

During 2017, work continued the reconditioning of 
escalators located in stations with high traffic and/or 
with appreciable wear of their main electromechanical 
components (chains, rollers, etc.), including the supply 
and replacement of step chains, with an investment of 
6.46 million euros.

Also, escalators 1 and 2 of Diego de León station and 
Chueca station were renovated.

Security installations and civil 
protection

The main activities corresponding to the security 
installations and fire protection systems are the 
following:

Updating of the closed-circuit television 
(CCTV) system.

Improved security and video surveillance 
of venues and stations, continuing with 
security facilities in Hortaleza, Arganzuela-Planetario 
and Central Command facilities.

Implementation of a new architecture 
at the Fire Protection level in the 
commercial stand installed in Metro de Madrid, 
under the Regulation of Authorized Associated Uses in 
the Infrastructure of the Exploited Railway Network.

Improvement of the “Station Evacuation” 
functionality in all stations of the Metro de Madrid 
network.

Shops and miscellaneous machinery

Acquisition of new production 
equipment, to optimise the work and improve the 
safety conditions that are carried out in the different 
tasks of maintenance of facilities and rolling stock. These 
elements will replace elements that technologically 
obsolete or whose useful life has ended.

Work continued on the introduction of 
a pit winch for the Laguna Depot, to 
increase the availability of rolling stock by improving 
maintenance of the trains wheels.  

Others investments

Investments in computer systems, with an investment 
of 2.92 million euros, including: updating of software, 
hardware and tools for the Windows platform; updating 
of the platform for UNIX servers of the Information 
Technology Centre (CTI), expansion of duplication 
environments and expansion of backup storage 
servers of computers systems, the integrated corporate 
management system, etc. 

Other relevant investments are the acquisition of spare 
parts for plant, property or equipment for track, such as 
the supply of rail and mounted plates for the actions 
on track platform, amounting to 3.78 million euros and 
spare parts for fixed installations, low voltage, sales and 
toll equipment, signs, escalators, communications, etc., 
amounting to 1.27 million euros.  

Finally, the technical assistance as need on the projects 
and works connected with facilities, communications 
and control, quality control and health and safety across 
the Metro de Madrid network. 
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Actions on the Network
Throughout 2017, the Company carried out several 
actions in its facilities, including work on lines 5 and 
8 mentioned above. Other types of actions were also 
carried out, as detailed below:

Actions related to the TTP MULTI Public 
Transport Card 

The elimination of cards with magnetic strip technology 
required the installation of 800 ticket vending machines 
that support contactless ticket technology.

Installation of charging stations for 
electronic devices in train cars

In 2017, charging stations were installed in 8000 series 
trains, 1 and 2 (lines 8, 11 and 12), 5000 series (lines 6 
and 9) and 7000 series.

Inclusion of new station names
 
Name changes on line 7 (Estadio Metropolitano) and 
line 8 (Feria de Madrid) were added to the onboard 
station name panels on a total of 182 trains. 

Bilingual station announcements on 
Line 8

Intelligent Ventilation Management 
(IVM)

This system analyses different variables for maximum 
comfort at a reduced cost thanks to the ventilation 
programme. A total of 914 can also be controlled 
individually. 

Gauge studies and commercial speed 
validation studies.

Strategic Projects 

Estación 4.0

Strategic projects in 2017 focused on security, traveller 
information, station control and industrial networks as 
well as sales and turnstiles. 

DPC (Data Processing Centre)

The new Data Processing Centre will make it easier to 
solve regulatory and security issues, space shortages 
and availability and problems of scalability, security and 
technological obsolescence at the current data centres, 
which are compromising service quality. 

NOCC (Network Operation Control 
Centre)

Work got underway in 2017 on the conceptual design 
for the creation and integration of the Operation and 
Maintenance control centres, which will also house 
the train control posts. There will be more than 100 
operator workstations at this centre, which will enhance 
the quality of operations services by reducing response 
times to incidents.
 

RailNet

A project focused on increasing the capacity and security 
of data networks (remote control, operations and 
corporate systems) and the continued development of 
train-to-ground broadband services to support current 
and future services on board Metro de Madrid trains 
(digital train). 
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Digital Train

An initiative that seeks to extract the information 
contained in the train’s onboard equipment to for 
predictive maintenance purposes and to improve the 
support services rendered to traffic control to reduce 
incidents that inconvenience traveller and enhance 
service quality.

RAMS (Actions to enhance the reliability, 
availability, safety and maintenance of 
rolling stock)

Throughout 2017, more than 20 measures were 
introduced to enhance the reliability, availability and 
security of rolling stock. 

Miscellaneous actions

There were other notable actions in 2017, some of 
which focused on accessibility, such as the renovation 
of staircases, the installation of automatic rescue 
mechanisms in 411 lifts and the installation of intercoms 
in accessible to people with reduced mobility, updates 
and renovations in stations and line 8 and optimisation 
of electrical sectionalizers on rigid catenary.

The actions undertaken on tracks are part of the 
policy of continuous infrastructure improvement. In 
particular, the strategy in recent years has been focused 
on improving the levels of safety, quality, comfort and 
availability of track infrastructure which has led to the 
creation of a renovation plan consisting of replacing 
the current infrastructure with the latest technology in 
track infrastructure. 

Some of the most notable aspects of this plan include:

 > Renovation of the track between Manuel 
Becerra and Goya stations (L2) and between Goya 
and Lista stations (L4), where the entire track 

platform in the tunnel connection L2 and L4 was 
replaced. 

 > Renovation of the diagonal track between 
Retiro and Sevilla stations (L2)

 > Renovation of supports between Parque de las 
Avenidas and Cartagena stations (L7)

 > Renovation of supports between Pueblo 
Nuevo and Barrio de la Concepción stations (L7)

 > Actions on the track platform between Nuevos 
Ministerios and Barajas stations (L8)

Replacement of rubber track buffer pads with 
direct fastening plates along the entire length to 
improve drainage, contact injections, renovation 
of evacuation galleries and services and 
consolidation of pile shafts over the tunnel 

 > Renovation of supports between Plaza Castilla 
and Ventilla stations (L9).

 > Apparatus qualification service on L9 and L10.

 > Post-processing of data in 3D with laser 
scanner on Line 5.

 > Creation of fixed topographic bases on lines 5, 
1 and 6 of the network.

 > Elimination of geometrical track defects.

 > Detection of breaks in tracks.

The new systems that are being implemented in the 
network have also made it possible to reduce the 
negative effects of noise and vibrations that can 
affect the surrounding environment. It is also a way 
of avoiding constant inspections and repairs, with the 
resultant savings of time and money.
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The most significant actions carried out in 2017 by 
the works service focused on different locations on 
the network, including stations, where the following 
work was done: updating of rooms and accesses; 
improvements to climate control in lobbies; renovations 
of escalators; filtration channelling on platforms;  pipe 
replacements; refurbishment of grilles and installation 
of bicycle parking spaces.  The work in tunnels included 
the rendering of the tunnel on line 5.

Repairs were also done at the Aluche and Canillejas 
depots; tools and equipment were procured for the 
conservation area of the Cuatro Caminos location.

Finally, in terms of accessibility, podotactile tiles 
(ceramic floor tiles) were installed along platform 
edges and other actions related to accessibility were 
performed at Sol, Pacífico, Nuevos Ministerios and El 
Casar stations.





05 Human Resources
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Staff
At 31 December 2017, Metro de Madrid had a total of 
6,800 employees. The total equivalent staff (number of 
full-time agents on the payroll at 31 December) stood 
at 6,395.49 agents, with an equivalent average payroll 
of 6,412.39 agents.

Breakdown of Staff by Age (at 31 December 2017)

The following chart shows the breakdown of staff by 
functional area:

Breakdown of Staff by Company Area 

The average age of Metro de Madrid’s staff is 46.19, 
with average seniority in the company of 19.07 years. 
74.37% of the employees are men and 26.07% are 
women.

30 and under 31 - 40 41 - 50 51 - 60 61 - 70

258

2,158

1,581

2,482

321

74.37% 25.63%

Operations 60%

Maintenance 19.53%

Other 20.47%
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With regard to Job Creation in 2017 the company 
commenced an external selection process to hire 
200 Assistants to replace employees who took partial 
retirement, 350 Area Managers who will be hired in 
2018 and 2019 and 40 Skilled Technicians, 18 of whom 

Labour Relations
have already been hired, also under contracts to relieve 
retiring staff, and the remaining 22 of whom will be 
hired in 2018. 

Also in 2017, 218 employees took partial retirement.
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The vast majority of Metro de Madrid’s employees are 
from Spain with only 0.15% of employees being non-
Spanish citizens. Metro de Madrid meets the legal 
requirement under the Disability Act that 2% of its staff 
be disabled persons. 

Women account for just over one-quarter of Metro de 
Madrid’s staff (25.63%). An Equality Committee was set 
up in early 2009 composed of members representing 
company management and labour. Its mission was 
to draft an Equality Plan with actions designed to 
achieve the highest possible level of gender equality 

and integration within the company and to foster equal 
treatment and opportunities for the male and female 
employees of Metro de Madrid.

In December 2009, the Committee introduced the Metro 
de Madrid Equality Plan. Along with the Equality Plan, 
the company introduced a protocol for the prevention 
of sexual or gender-based harassment in the workplace 
which had been drafted by management with the active 
participation of the labour representatives on the 
Equality Committee.

Breakdown of corporate areas by gender

The current collective bargaining agreement establishes a base salary for each professional category, irrespective 
of gender, thereby eliminating any salary discrimination between women and men.

There are, however, differences in total salary. Women’s salaries are lower due to the different salary components, 
such as seniority, among others. However, the gap is gradually closing each year. In 2017, men’s salaries were 
0.98% higher (compared to 2.08% in 2016) as a consequence of men’s seniority compared to women’s.

Diversity and Equal Opportunities
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Work-Life Balance
The following improvements were introduced as part of 
the regulatory framework of the 2016-2019 collective 
bargaining agreement:

 > On an exceptional basis, employees may 
request more than one reduction of their working 
hours in a single calendar year. Previously it was 
only possible to make one such request in the 
same calendar year. The approval of the request 
is subject to the prior assessment of a social 
worker. Employees are allowed 11 paid personal 

days per year, although this number will be 
increased by 1 day in 2019. 

 > Bereavement leave for the death of parents, 
children and spouses is extended by one calendar 
day and maternity leaves of absence to care for 
minor children are extended from four to five 
years. Leave time for nursing mothers, previously 
until the child was nine months old, has been 
extended to one year
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Occupational Health and Safety
An internal audit of the Company’s Occupational Risk 
Prevention Management System was conducted in 2017 
by the company Full Audit. The scope of the audit was 
designed to verify that the system was compliant with 
the occupational risk prevention laws in force and the 
requirements of the OHSAS 18001:2007 certification 
standards.

In addition, a certification audit was conducted by 
AENOR in 2017 according to the OHSAS 18001:2007 
“Occupational health and safety management systems 
– Requirements” standard.

The chart below shows the results of the audits 
conducted between 2013 and 2017.  
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Throughout 2017, the Occupational Health and Safety 
area carried out a total of 194 safety inspections to 
check the health and safety conditions of different 
departments, facilities or activities that affect employees 
in different areas. The breakdown of the inspections by 
the affected areas is shown below.

Breakdown of Safety Inspections in 2017 - By Area (194)

Breakdown of Safety Inspections
No.

Internal services, Logistics and Assets 13

Operations Management 41

Facilities Maintenance 39

Rolling Stock Maintenance 53

Civil Works, Stations and Accessibility 21

Other 6

Safety visits to external companies 21

TOTAL 194

 2017 - Breakdown by area

21.1% - Operations Management

27.3% - Rolling Stock Maintenance

20.1% Facilities Maintenance

10.8% - Civil Works, Stations and Accessibility 

6.7% - Internal services, Logistics and Assets

3.1% - Other 

10.8% - Safety visits to external companies
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H&S Evaluations and Risk Assessments

158 H&S evaluations and risk assessments were 
conducted in 2017, measuring a total of 1451 different 
parameters, both physical and chemical (temperature, 
noise, air quality, etc.).

H&S Evaluations and Risk Assessments in 2017                
Breakdown by Area 

Operations Management 116 462

Facility Maintenance 9 27

Rolling Stock Maintenance 17 68

Infrastructure and Availability 10 24

Information Systems 3 681

Security (1) 1 121

1 64

H&S Evaluations and Risk Assessments
in 2017 - Breakdown by Area

Nº Nº Measurements

Engineering and Maintenance (1)

TOTAL 158 1,451

Safety and Civil Protection (1) 

1 4

5.7% - Facility Maintenance

1.9% - Information Systems

6.3% Infrastructure and Availability

1.9% - Other (1) 

10.8% - Rolling Stock Maintenance

73.4% - Operations Management
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Health and Safety Committee

The Metro de Madrid Health and Safety Committee 
(hereinafter HSC) is the joint and collaborative 
participative body aimed at regular and periodic 
consultation of actions regarding surrounding the 
prevention of occupational risks in the company. It 
is vested with certain powers and faculties and is 
currently composed of eight Prevention Delegates 
representing the workers and an equal number of 
members representing management, plus a Secretary 
designated by the company.

This Committee has its own rules for its operations, 
composition and assignment of responsibilities, 
approved at the plenary Health and Safety Committee 
meeting held on 21 January 2003.

The Health and Safety Committee is one of the 
participative and consultative bodies that meets on a 
regular basis to address the occupational risk prevention 
issues affecting Metro de Madrid. It is a joint committee 
with members representing labour and management 
which is defined in the process titled PRL-P0.08.03 
“Consultation, Participation and Communication. Health 
and Safety Committee”, part of Metro de Madrid’s 
Occupational Health and Safety System.  The legal 
questions that must be considered for the creation and 
operation of this type of consultative and participative 
body are regulated in chapter V of the Occupational 
Risk Prevention Act 31/95.

This Committee represents 100% of Metro de Madrid 
employees and met on 11 occasions in 2017 to address 
a total of 268 matters.

Mobility Plan 

As part of Metro de Madrid’s Mobility Plan and aware of 
the importance of keeping its employees safe while in 
transport, in 2017 the company took steps to emphasise 
road safety as one of the contributing factors of 
occupational wellbeing. 

The Mobility Plan is a tool for fostering a culture of 
road safety within the organisation.  As far as the status 
and result of the Plan, one of the documents produced 
in 2017 was the 2017 Annual Road Safety Report. In 
addition, the protocol for the use of company vehicles 
was updated and on-the-job the-job traffic accidents 
were investigated.

The Mobility Plan and the internal procedure, PRL-PO_02 
were distributed to the services involved, evaluating 
compliance with the applicable requirements, 
answering employees’ questions via Andén Central and 
providing different Metro de Madrid areas with advice 
on road safety issued.   
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Other information of interest in 2017
ON-THE-JOB ACCIDENTS

Accidents with leave time 300

Accidents "en route" 98

MEDICAL VISITS

Doctors and nurses 16,905

TRAINING

First aid for employees (no. of employees) 
37

OTHER PROCEDURES

X-rays  2,593

254
Back school 

Actions in 2017
Regular check-ups 6,405

Other types of check-ups 724

Evaluations, job fitness, job changes 1,650

Lab tests 321,142

Flu shots 267

Gynecological screening 388

Prostate screening 1,957

46

Special health surveillance protocols 1,475

Diabetes prevention

Drug testing 1,295

No.

Operations Planning and Control 40

Facility Maintenance 94

Rolling Stock Maintenance 81

Civil Works, Infrastructure and Availability 205

Other 55

TOTAL 475

Breakdown of timely implemented 
prevention  measures by area in 2017

Preventive Measures (1)

In terms of the prevention activities carried out 
during the year, in 2017 there were 613 preventive 
measures implemented to eliminate or minimise 
potential or detected risks. Of these, 475 measures 
were implemented in a timely manner. The chart below 
shows the distribution of these measures by the areas 
responsible for their implementation:

     (1) Includes preventive measures stemming from 
safety inspections, prevention observations, on-the-job 
accidents and risk evaluations.

Timely implemented prevention measures in 
2017 - by Area (475)

Occupational Medicine and Health 
Surveillance

Prevention and medical assistance services are 
rendered by the Occupational Health Services area as 
part of Metro de Madrid’s Occupational Risk Prevention 
Management System. Insofar as employee health 
surveillance is concerned, this area is responsible 
for physical examinations following the guidelines 
contained in Occupational Health & Safety laws and 
the Prevention Service’s internal operating rules. 

As a collaborating entity of the Social Security 
Administration, the Occupational Health Services 
Area also provides medical care, drug therapy and 
rehabilitation, including surgery, to employees affected 
by on-the-job accidents and/or occupational diseases. 
Activities carried out in 2017:

Other information of interest to the diferent actions:

8% - Operations Control 

20% - Facility Maintenance

17% - Rolling Stock Maintenance

43% - Civil Works, Infrastructure and Availability 

12% - Other
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NOTEWORTHY EVENTS 

Highlights:

 > BONUS for reduced accident rates: For the 
third year in a row (2013, 2014 and 2015), Metro 
de Madrid received a “bonus” from the Directorate 
General of the Social Security Administration 
in recognition of the investments made in 
facilities, processes and/or equipment in the 
area of occupational risk prevention leading to a 
significant reduction in accident rates.

 > Approval of the Prevention and External 
Aggression Protection Protocol, by the Health and 
Safety Committee.

Collaboration with other Organisations 

Metro de Madrid chairs the Safety Committee of 
the Spanish Maintenance Association (AEM). This 
Committee is composed of a group of renowned 
experts who bring their knowledge and experience to 
the table to study and find solutions to safety aspects 
as they relate to maintenance. With experience in the 
international arena, their mission is to integrate safety 
into maintenance operations and to serve as a reference 
for institutions, organisations and maintenance 
operations and technical personnel. 

Within the framework of the European Federation 
of National Maintenance Societies, Metro de 
Madrid is a member of the European Health, Safety 
and Environment Committee, an international 
benchmarking and representation forum that focuses 
on promoting policies that Foster occupational health 
and in European maintenance companies.
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 E-learning 

No. students 9,558

No. hours 25,094

Training
Because the company views training as one of the basic 
pillars of both personal and business development, 
the basic objective of the Company’s Training and 
Knowledge Management Service is to offer high quality 
educational solutions adapted to the company’s needs, 
making the best use of available resources and funding.  

These activities are focused not only on the technical 
components of the different positions but the transversal 
components as well as far as skills and attitudes.

In 2017, the activities in this area focused primarily on
Managing the internal and external training activities 
included in the 2017 Training and Development Plan 
and others which, although not previously scheduled, 
were deemed necessary by the Company. 

Providing training for new hires, promotions and skill 
building and designing programmes, documentation 
and support mechanisms for training activities, both 
traditional written materials and those based on new 
technologies.

Promoting the Digital School as the new training model 
to supplement in-person training and serve as the 
company’s new educational model.

Collaborating on numerous external projects to provide 
training to companies that work with Metro de Madrid 
and securing the maximum amount of public subsidies 
and financial assistance for training.

Listed separately on the table below is information on 
internal training offered by instructors from Metro’s 
own staff and external training offered by instructors 
who are not part of Metro’s staff.

Training offered in 2017(*)

Internal
Training 

External
Training TOTAL

No. Courses 1,978 221 2.199

No. Students 22,166 1,132 23,298

No. Hours 212,247 17,297 229,554

(*) Does not include contractor training.

Of which:

The table below shows the training rates for 2017.

2017 (*)

Students per course 10.59

Classroom hours per course 15.81

Hours per student 9.85

Total hours / equivalent average staff 27.54

Students / participant 3.42

Equivalent average staff 6,412.39

(*) Does not include contractor training.
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The addition of 200 new Assistant positions to the Metro 
de Madrid staff posed a significant training challenge. 
In all, it required 43,500 hours of training, all of which 
were offered by instructors from Metro de Madrid’s staff.

The most noteworthy internal promotion processes 
involving the Operations Management and Operations 
Planning and Control Areas accounted totalled 9,085 
hours of training for: 
 

 > Line Manager 
 > Command Post Inspector 

The Section Head’s training, which totalled 8,741 hours 
of training, concluded in 2017.

355 agents received a total of 14,647 hours of training 
as electrical traction machine operators of the different 
trains running on the network. 

There were other types of training activities in different 
areas of the company as well, most of which were 
focused on self-protection plans and occupational risk 
prevention.

Finally, 2017 was the year in which the Digital School 
became the company’s only internal online training 
channel. More than 50 courses totalling 18,000 hours 
of training were offered to 3,900 employees. 
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Internal Communications 
Internal communication is key for the Company to 
implement a strategy to achieve common goals, not only 
in the transmission of relevant information for business 
and daily work but also to enhance communication 
between the different areas and facilitate teamwork 
and the collaborative sharing of information.

To this end, Metro de Madrid uses diverse channels of 
communication, the most notable of which included:

Central Platform

Central Platform (Andén Central) continued to be the 
main channel for internal communication in 2017, 
reaching a total of 6,568 users with 3,768,885 page 
views for the year. With one new publication a day (252 
this year) content and sections are constantly updated 
and numerous online processes are managed through 
the “virtual office”.

The Company’s online suggestion box is managed 
through the intranet.  A total of 290 suggestions 
addressing issues or circumstances involving various 
areas of the company were processed during the year.

In addition to the intranet, other means of communication 
are often used: email, TV screens (20 screens have 
already been installed), internal publications, Metro’s 
internal WhatsApp (NETRO) and paper signage.

Open Operation 

Directed towards those personnel who directly serve 
the customers (station and train personnel). The 
“News online” publication is also distributed weekly, a 
personalized newsletter for each of the Metro lines.
Each week, all employees receive a newsletter with 
all the news of the week, which allows them to be 
connected to the daily reality of a Company the size of 
the Metro de Madrid. This publication is distributed by 
email and the “Netro” application for fast delivery to the 
mobile devices of all employees.  

The Daily Network 

The entire staff is kept up to date on the scope and 
results of the strategic objectives, indicators and 
associated projects in order to keep all areas and teams 
aligned with the corporate challenges, along with the 
publication in 2017 of the company’s Code of Ethics and 
associated publications. 

In addition to the news that is transmitted through the 
regular channels, there are other projects and efforts to 
promote corporate culture and new values that favour 
the organization’s development and drive the business 
strategy.

As part of the strategic plan for the construction 
of the new headquarters, work continued on the 
definition of the new work model and the design of the 
communication strategy that a project of this magnitude 
will require. 

In addition to this project, in 2017 other actions and 
events were held to acknowledge and honour Metro de 
Madrid employees.

For the second year in a row and coinciding with the 
celebration of the company’s patron saint, San Miguel, 
Metro organised a special event that presided over by 
the Minister of Transport, Housing and Infrastructures 
and the Company’s CEO to recognise the professional 
careers of employees who have worked with Metro de 
Madrid for more than forty-five years.

25th Anniversary of the Central Shop 

Another memorable and emotion event was the 
anniversary celebration of the Central Shop which 
was held at the shop itself. Current and former shop 
employees and managers who spent part of their 
professional careers at the shop were invited to attend 
the event, which was also attended by the CEO and 
Director of Rail Operations.
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Christmas Campaign 

The 2017 Christmas Campaign consisted once again 
of the preparation of a corporate calendar with the 
participation of employees from different areas to 
disseminate the Millennium Objectives (ODS) among 
all employees. The calendar was designed and prepared 
by Metro de Madrid with the participation of more than 
140 employees, who were photographed by the “Metro 
Photography Workshop”.

During this Christmas campaign, a drawing contest 
was held for the children of employees, with Christmas 
themes.  And the “Fourth Expedition to Canillejas” was 
held for the children and grandchildren of employees, 
with the participation of more than 150 children, 
accompanied by their parents. Several NGOs who 
wanted to enjoy an unforgettable Metro experience 
with the children also participated.

In line with our goal of fostering relationships with 
the Company and promoting teamwork throughout the 
year, Metro de Madrid sponsored employees in different 
sports competitions such as “Metro de Madrid Paddle 
Championship”, “Football 7 Championship”, “San Miguel 
Trophy”, “The Woman’s Race”, “The Company Race”, “The 
Chamberí Race” and “The Spartan Race”. 

During the fiscal year there were also activities intended 
to promote culture and generate joint initiatives 
between employees in different areas of the company. 
Over 100 employees took part in the discussions of 
art led by a co-worker and guided tours of different 
museums. There were activities for employees’ children 
that focused on the environment and sustainability at 
one of our depots, where more than 30 children took 
part in an environmental workshop and planted trees. 

We also worked closely with various corporate 
departments on their communication needs to design, 
produce and implement internal communication 
campaigns that promote or raise awareness about 

specific messages. These included campaigns to 
promote corporate volunteerism, collaboration with 
different foundations and NGOs, campaigns for the 
collection of school supplies in collaboration with 
the Red Cross, Three Kings campaign to collect gifts 
in collaboration with the Community of Madrid, “The 
Giving Tree”, etc.

To measure the quality of internal communications, an 
annual satisfaction survey was taken, where employees 
had the chance to assess both their perception of 
corporate communications and their satisfaction with 
the intranet, the campaigns and work carried out 
throughout the year. The results of this survey are used 
to draft an annual improvement plan.







06 Other Key Variables
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Quality and opinion surveys 
The Quality Cycle 

The goal of Metro de Madrid’s Service Quality 
Management System is the monitor and improve the 
quality of services offered to our customers. Based on the 
UNE-EN 13816 standard, which is specific to the public 
Passenger transport sector for which Metro de Madrid 
has been certified since the year 2003, it is possible to 
define and establish goals and to measure the quality 
of the service rendered against the expectations of our 
customers. This Management System encompasses the 
four perspectives of service quality

 > Expected Quality
 > Objective and Real Quality 
 > Perceived Quality

The model also takes into account customers’ complaints 
and claims which serve as a key source of information 
obtained through different channels of communication. 

Expected quality 

The level of customers’ confidence in our ability to 
improve different aspects of the service was higher 
on this survey than the last one.  The aspects where 
customers have the highest expectations are those 
related to wait times on platforms, temperatures and 
ventilation in trains and stations, safety and accessibility. 

Objective Quality and Real Quality 

The set of indicators by which real quality is measured 
and the objectives that are set as the Target Quality for 
the service makes up what is known as the Service of 
Reference, which allows us to measure the following 
aspects: 

 > Offered service.
 > Accessibility.
 > Customer information.
 > Times.
 > Customer service.
 > Comfort.
 > Safety.
 > Environment.



972017 Annual Report

The most relevant indicators are part of the Service 
Menu which reflects our commitments to customers 
and which had the following success rates in 2017:

2017  

99.82%

97.67%

Service Menu. Commitments

Train occupancy
We are committed to ensuring that at least 95% of our customers travelling at peak times do so with 
occupancy rates of 4 customers/m2 or less. 

Accessibility 
We are committed to ensuring that our facilities are accessible under the best conditions and that they 
are at least 95% available at all times. 

Network information
Information on the basic services offered will be available to our customers in stations: network maps, 
timetables, intervals, etc. The information will be constantly updated so that the quality standards 
obtain a rating of 8 or higher (on a scale of 0 to 10). This information will be available at 100% of  
stations.

9.72

Incident reporting
We are committed to ensuring that at least 95% of our customers receive up-to-date information on 
trains and in stations when there are incidents that could affect train operation, keeping the duly 
informed so that they can consider the use of alternative modes of transport. 

96.99%

Wait times
We are committed to ensuring that the wait time on platforms for at least 95% of our customers will 
be less than the longest published wait times.   

95.44%

Customer service 
We are committed to ensuring that customers who require assistance at  Customer Service Centres and 
the Interactive Customer Service Centre (I.C.S.C.) receive excellent treatment, so that quality standards 
are rated at a grade of 8.5 or higher (on a scale of 0 to 10).

9.02

Claims handling
We are committed to ensuring that at least 95% of our clients who file complaints obtain a personali-
sed response within 13 business day. 88.58%

Cleanliness of trains and stations
We are committed to ensuring that the cleanliness of our trains and stations is such that our customers 
will give them a grade of  7 or higher (on a scale of 0 to 10). 8.51

Operational safety
We are committed to ensuring that 100% of our trains are equipped with automatic safety systems 
while in operation. 

100%

Citizen safety
We are committed to ensuring that more than 99.99% of our customers are able to travel free from 
possible aggressions for maximum peace of mind and satisfaction. 

99.99%

Environmental impact 
We are committed to minimising the environmental impact of our operations by complying with the 
norms and standards established for this purpose, such as those described in the ISO 14001 standard, 
under which Metro de Madrid has been certified since 2005.

At present, Metro de 
Madrid's Environmen-

tal Management 
System is ISO 14001 

certified. 
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Perceived Quality 

Perceived quality in 2017 was measured by means of a 
survey which gives us valuable insights about customers’ 
perception of different aspects of the service. The key 
results of the survey were as follows:  

The global assessment returned a score of 7.65 points 
(out of 10) which represents an increase compared to 
2016 (7.49). As shown on the following chart, there has 
been a consistent upward trend since 2015:

The Perceived Quality Index (PQI) measures our 
customers’ perception of 26 different aspects of the 
service analysed in the perception survey. The score in 
2017 was 7.26 (out of 10), which was an improvement 
over 2016 (7.11). The evolution of this indicator in 
recent years are shown on the following chart. 

7.73

7.78

7.42

7.23

7.35
7.30

7.49

7.65

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Evolution of Overall Score 

Evolution of ICP
7.47

7.22 7.26

6.85

7.13

7.44

7.11

7.26

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Generally speaking, scores for all aspects rose in 2017 compared to the year before. Friendliness of security guards, 
lighting in trains and stations and signalling in stations were the aspects that saw the greatest increase in scores.
 
The percentage of customers who would recommend using Metro rose by 4.47 points compare to 2016, from 
93.35% to 97.83%.
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As in 2016, line 3 was the most highly rated of all the 
Metro lines.

Overall  Score Per Line
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Opinion Surveys

In its constant quest to improve the services it renders 
and meet our customers’ expectations; the Company 
conducted a series of opinion surveys once again in 
2017. These studies can be divided into two main types 
depending on whether they are intended for external 
customers (users, citizens in general) or the Company’s 
internal clients. They are designed to analyse the level 
of satisfaction with a variety of company processes/
procedures.

A variety of methods are used to conduct these studies 
including in-person surveys inside the network, 
telephone surveys, social media and customer panels. 
Notable among the results of the opinion surveys of 
external customers conducted in 2017 are the following: 

Safety Survey

The object is to learn what customers think about Metro 
safety. In this area the company received an overall 
score 7.22 out of 10.

General Information Survey

The object of the study is to learn what customers 
thinks about the information provided by Metro through 
different channels and in this area the company scored 
7.82 out of 10.
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Survey on the quality of services 
provided by the Interactive Customer 
Service Centre (ICSC)

Here, the idea is to ascertain the level of customer 
satisfaction with the service. Customers gave the 
services provided by ICSC a grade of 8.42 out of 10.

Image Survey

Customers and citizens at large are asked about their 
opinion of Metro’s image as a brand. From a brand 
image this perspective, Metro earned a score of 7.17 out 
of 10 this year.

2015-2017 Quality Plan

By tracking the services we render using quality 
indicators and specific studies, in 2017 certain areas 
for improvement were identified which will be added 
to the Quality Plan and given priority. The most notable 
among them are discussed below:

Times and Safety

 > Actions on the platform on L8: Improvements 
were made to incorporate the latest technology and 
enhance the features of the track structure to improve 
availability, comfort, efficiency and maintenance. 

 > Remodelling on L5: The signalling system 
was remodelled to improve capacity and safety, along 
with the renovation of other installations such as 
catenary and escalators. These improvements will 
be supplemented with others that are planned for 
2018, which will enable the defined objectives to be 
achieved.

 > Track renovation plan: Under this plan, part of 
the track was renovated to make it more reliable and 
reduce the number of incidents.

 > Renovation of overhead cables: Work was 
done on various lines to replace the rigid overhead 
cables in order to optimise the performance of the 
trains’ power equipment.

 > Enhanced reliability of rolling stock on L10: 
The 7000 series cars were inspected and optimised 
to reduce disturbances and incidents that affect the 
service.

 > Enhanced reliability of rolling stock on L5: 
Different systems were inspected and reconditioned to 
make the train more reliable.
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Accessibility

 > 2017-2021 Station Modernisation Plan: This 
plan calls for the modernisation and renovation of 
equipment at 32 stations to improve the customer’s 
experience in terms of functionality, performance 
and quality. In 2017, work was carried out at Aluche, 
Canillejas, Torre Arias and Suanzes stations on L5. In 
addition, work began on the modernisation of San Blas 
station.

 > 2016-2020 Accessibility Plan: This plan calls 
for the installation of lifts and other equipment at 
17 stations as a step towards improving maximum 
accessibility and equality of access to the public 
transport network. In 2017, a lift was installed in Sol 
and other work was completed at Sol, Pacífico, Nuevos 
Ministerios, Moncloa and San Blas stations. Platform 
edges were reinforced at a number of stations along 
with tactile-visual pavement.  Work also commenced 
on the installation of two lifts at Príncipe Pío station, 
the installation of additional measures at Casa de 
Campo and Plaza de Castilla and the installation of 
Braille and raised print on lifts.

 > 2017-1019 Lift Renovation Plan: This plan 
calls for work to be done on many of the network’s 
lifts for improved reliability and availability.  Work was 
done on 60 lifts in 2017.

 > 2016-2020 Escalator Renovation Plan: This 
plan consists of a series of actions to improve the 
escalators made by various manufacturers in order to 
reduce the number of incidents.

 > New Escalator Maintenance Contract: The 
new contract, which includes 592 escalators across 
the network, is intended to improve the reliability and 
availability rates of the escalators through measures 
such as remote maintenance and detailed tracking of 
the quality of repairs.

 > MULTI Cards: The new contactless cards for 
single, multi-trip and tourist tickets make it easier for 
travellers to access the multimodal transport network, 
reducing congestion and improving the reliability 
of sales and ticketing equipment. The plan involves 
modifying and optimising the ticketing machines and 
removing magnetic strip tickets from circulation.

 > Renovation of turnstiles: This plan consists of 
replacing some of the existing turnstiles for increased 
reliability.

Customer Service

 > New Customer Service Centre at Plaza Castilla: 
A new Customer Service Centre and Lost and Found 
area was inaugurated at the Plaza Castilla station in 
2017, serving a large number of customers and cutting 
down on expediting the service.

 > Bilingualism on L8: All signs in stations on L8 
are now in English as are the messages broadcast over 
the public address system in stations and trains (8000 
series) that go to the airport. The purpose of this is to 
improve the information provided to customers who 
do not speak Spanish.

Comfort

 > Implementation of the Intelligent Ventilation 
Manager (IVM) system: This is a new, intelligent system 
for controlling and optimising the performance of 
ventilation equipment in tunnels and stations and for 
controlling temperature, noise and air quality as well 
as minimising power usage

 > Train Reconditioning Plan: This includes the 
renovation and conservation of train cars (body, paint, 
carpentry, fibre, floors, windows, seats, bars, etc.) to 
make them more comfortable.
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 > Improvement of Temperature Control Systems 
in 2000B cars: Improvements to climate control 
systems in trains by replacing the air conditioning 
systems with equipment that is more efficient and less 
contaminating.

The Environment

 > Power usage: In 2017, positive energy 
efficiency results were achieved with significant 
reductions in consumption, reaching a specific 
consumption value of 2,983 kWh/car-km (minimum 
for the year) in the final quarter. Year-on-year, specific 
consumption fell by 4.7% compared to 2016. There 
was a decrease in usage for both traction and auxiliary 
services.

Among the Corporate Projects implemented in 2017, 
the following are notable due to their direct impact on 
the quality of the services rendered:

 > Corporate Project for the Evolution of the 
Commercial Supervisor Model: We are working 
on the technological and management aspects 
of the customer service model, focusing on users’ 
new needs and expectations and improving the 
way we serve customers by communicating with 
them via intercom or providing Commercial 
Supervisors with tablets.

 > Know Your Customer Project: Aims to improve 
the user profiles and mobility information in 
order to plan and deliver our services more 
effectively. 

Management System Auditing and 
Certification 

The three-year auditing and certification plan 
undertaken by Metro de Madrid in 2016 continued in 
2017. 

The need to adapt the current management systems 
to the requirements of the new 2015 versions of ISO 
9001 and ISO 14001 posed a challenge to the company.  
Working throughout the year on this challenge, the 
company underwent an audit in 2017 with new 
requirements in terms of the needs and expectations 
of customers and other stakeholders, the context of 
the business and the system for managing risks and 
opportunities. 

The annual audit conducted by AENOR (an independent 
certification entity) included the corporate management 
systems that adhere to the following standards: 

 > UNE-EN 13816 (Quality of Service of Public 
Passenger Transport) in which all lines on the 
network are certified. 

 > UNE-EN ISO 14001 (Environmental 
Management System).

 > OHSAS 18001 (Occupational Health and 
Safety Management Systems).

It also included the processes certified under the ISO 
9001 standard (Quality Management Systems):

 > Service provision.
 > Maintenance of rolling stock.
 > Maintenance of facilities.
 > Procurement.
 > Logistics and Warehouse.
 > Engineering and R+D+i Projects.
 > Application Development

The audit report concluded that the management 
criteria applied by Metro de Madrid are consistent 
with the international standards, adapted to the needs 
and expectations of customers and compliant with 
the applicable legal and regulatory requirements, 
thus demonstrating a high degree of maturity of the 
corporate management, as well as the commitment of  
senior management to continuous improvement.
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Madrid Excelente Audit and 
Certification 

In 2017, Metro de Madrid renewed its licence to use 
the Madrid Excelente brand, a quality seal based on 
the European Business Excellence Model (EFQM) that 
analyses the overall quality of company management, 
focusing on Excellence, Corporate Responsibility and 
Consumer Confidence. 

It is worth nothing that there are several areas where 
substantial improvements have been made, including 
customer orientation, the continuous learning process, 
innovation and improvement and corporate social 
responsibility. Following this exhaustive examination, 
the Quality Committee of the Madrid Foundation for 
Excellence issued a report documenting that highlight 
the quality of the work carried out by Metro de Madrid 
throughout the year as well as certain areas for 
improvement for Metro de Madrid to work on in the 
future.

IRIS Audit and Certification 

Another example of  how Metro de Madrid is committed 
continuously improving its processes is the recent 
certification of the Hortaleza depot,  a rolling stock 
maintenance facility for line 4, according to IRIS 
standard. The main objectives of this standard, which 
establishes specific requirements for the railway sector, 
are to improve the quality of the supply chain and to 
prevent and reduce defects through the implementation 
of a system of continuous assessment. Metro de Madrid 
is the first rail  operator in Spain to achieve this 
certification.

The results obtained at the Hortaleza depot made it 
possible to improve the traceability of the components 
of the 3000 series cars and to boost the indicators of 
total reliability (+12%) and reliability with disturbance 
(+4%) in 2017.

New Technological Platform for 
Document and Process Management

In the technological field, a project was launched in 
2017 to implement a new corporate digital platform 
to support and document all processes in order to 
expedite access to documentation and facilitate the 
management of improvement actions.

The new platform will provide collaboration, 
coordination and communication tools between users, 
as well as document management services. It will bring 
significant improvements to the management of internal 
and external audit findings. It will serve as a point of 
access to information for a large number of Metro de 
Madrid employees. Due to the level of deployment 
of the processes, it contains useful documentation 
for decision-making and technical instructions for 
carrying out different tasks related to Metro de Madrid’s 
operating processes.
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Customer Service 

At Metro de Madrid, we work hard to make sure that 
customers receive the most efficiency and highest 
quality service. 

In 2017, the Interactive Customer Service Centre (ICSC) 
received a total of 216,376 contacts by phone and 
email as well as social networks. Customers’ requests 
are handled personally and directly, providing them 
with information in real time. 

The opening hours were extended to coincide with 
Metro’s service hours, i.e., from 6:00 am to 1:30 am, with 
telephone service from 7:00 am to 11:00 pm. Customer 
service is also provided through other channels like 
Twitter and e-mail and up-to-date information is 
provided on the websites “Red al Día” and the Metro de 
Madrid app.

Extensive information was provided to customers 
on the closings of lines 8 and 5 due to renovations, 
in particular information on additional bus service 
and other alternative modes of transport available to 
minimise the inconvenience caused. Assistance was 
also provided in relation to the new Multi Card which 
was introduced in the month of July. 

The service has been operational since the year 2002 
and certified according to standard 13816 since 2003. 
Last year, the service received a rating of 8.42 out of 
10, which represents a slight increase over the year 
before. 90% of those surveyed stated that the service 
they received was good or very good, compared to 88% 
in 2016.  

In November 2017, Metro de Madrid inaugurated a new 
customer service centre and lost and found area at the 
Plaza de Castilla station. The goal is to enhance the 
customer’s experience by offering both customer service 
and an easier way to locate and recover items that have 

been lost and found inside the Metro network. The 
creation of this office is part of the new management 
model for lost and found objects. Service hours are from 
7:00 am to 10:00 pm from Monday to Friday and from 
10:00 am to 10:00 pm on weekends and holidays. 

33,895 queries were processed at the Sol Customer 
Service Centre in 2017, of which 15,912 (33.3%) were 
related to public transport passes, 11,319 (23.7%) to 
Metro routes, and finally questions about Metro service 
in general which accounted for 5,847 (12.2%). In the 
two months that the centre at Plaza de Castilla was 
opened, it processed a total of 9,430, queries, with a 
total of 57,231 visits to both centres.

The total number of complaints received in 2017 was 
15,077, an increase of 34.77% compared to the year 
before. Consi¬dering the number of complaints per 1 
million trips, last year the number increased by 25.69%, 
going from 19.15 complaints per million trips in 2016 
to 24.07 in 2017. The most important reason for this 

2013

42.26

2014 2015 2016 2017

30.86 29.72 19.15 24.07

No. of claims per million of trips
2013-2017
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change was the increase in the number of complaints 
received, although higher demand for Metro’s services 
compared to the year before attenuated the increase in 
the number of complaints per million trips.

The most common cause of the complaints received in 
2017 had to do with “External metro ticket purchases”, 
with 1,392 complaints or 8.6% of the total. This number 
includes the complaints involving public transport 
passes, for which Metro is not responsible, with 
particular emphasis this year on the new Multi Card 
which was rolled out in July.  

 “Service-related incidents”, with 1,142 complaints, was 
the second most common cause of complaints as far as 
numbers are concerned.

 “Operation of ticketing equipment”, with 1,064 
complaints, or 6.6% of the total, occupied third place 
and was up by 20.5% over the year before. These 
complaints are related to incidents with ticketing 
machines and primarily with errors that occur trying to 
top off transport passes (TPP or Multi). 

The analysis of complaints by line shows an increase 
in the number of complaints for practically all lines, 
especially lines 5 and 8, rooted in both of these cases 
in the  lines being closed down due to renovation work. 

In addition to complaints, the Customer Service 
Coordinator also receives other types of information 
from customers such as suggestions, expressions of 
gratitude or requests for information, all of which are 
acknowledged accordingly. In all, 16,670 messages 
were received in 2017.
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 > The management of complaints/claims 
involving noise and/or vibrations.

 > The process of replacing light fixtures with 
LED lighting.

Environmental control campaign 

Throughout 2017 the company continued to introduce 
initiatives designed to minimise the environmental 
impact, such as eliminating paper tickets, installing bike 
racks to promote the use of bicycles by employees and 
clients and advances associated with the company’s 
Energy Efficiency Plan.

Phase three of the Strategic Noise Maps (MER) on 
the above-ground sections of lines 5, 9B, 10 and 
ML1, drafted jointly by Madrid and the Highways and 
Infrastructure Area of the Department of Transport, 
Housing and Infrastructure was approved by the 
competent authorities for submission to the European 
Commission. 
 

Landscaping 

Metro de Madrid’s landscaping activities are essential 
to control vegetation in order to minimise the risk of fire 
and at the same time maintain a positive image. 

In an ongoing effort to optimise the use of resources, the 
irrigation programming system at the Canillejas depot 
was upgraded in recent months, replacing the existing 
system with a new one that can be programmed by 
remote control. Thanks to the installation of this new 
system, the company will save 3,745 m3 of water per 
year, which is roughly 6% of total usage at the Canillejas.

Landscaping work in 2017 included 91 clearings, 148 
cleanings and more than 400 quality control inspections, 
among others. In addition, 22 prunus, 9 holm oaks, 10 
ash trees, 1 cercis, 1 lime tree, 1 lilo, 1 Leland Cyprus 
and 7 pine trees were planted. 

Environmental Management
Metro is firmly committed to satisfying society’s mobility 
needs with high quality service that is compatible with 
the environment, contributing to the sustainability of 
the geographical area where it operates.

This commitment is coordinated through the 
Environmental Management System, whose primary 
goal is to minimise the company’s environmental 
impact, optimise the use of resources, make 
environmental awareness part of our daily routing, 
foster environmental values in relation to supply chains, 
encourage professional development, collaboration and 
commitment among employees and contribute, from an 
environmental standpoint to reinforcing the reputation 
an image of Metro as a responsible company. 

In October 2017, the Environmental Management 
System was audited according to the new ISO 
14.001:2015 requirements by an accredited external 
auditor. The audit was a success to the extent that the 
auditors found the system to be effectively implemented 
and with an appropriate level of maturity. 

The auditors noted the following strengths in their 
report:

 > Systematic analysis of the organisation and 
understanding of the needs and expectations of 
stakeholders, SWOT matrices, and analysis of risks 
and opportunities in relation to environmental 
aspects and legal requirements. Based on this 
analysis, the company has drafted an Action Plan 
with twelve actions for improvement. 

 > The fact that a high number of environmental 
aspects have been identified and evaluated 
demonstrates that they are under control. 

 > The level of compliance with Environmental 
Objectives, which demonstrates a commitment to 
continuous improvement. 
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Also in 2017, the company completed its inventory of 
trees at all facilities. 

Environmental assistance and advice 

In 2017 Metro was called upon on nearly fifty occasions 
to provide assistance and advice to internal parties 
(from other department) and external entities (mostly 
government) on questions related to the environment.
 
One of the noteworthy external queries came from the 
Deputy Directorate General of Administrative Actions 

regarding the bill of law on atmospheric emission 
surveillance. 

Notable among the internal requests were those 
relative to network self-protection plans, the review of 
documentation for the DOMO project and the review of 
basic and detailed plans for the headquarters, an area 
where the company is still actively participating, and 
legal assistance. 

Working closely and systematically with the Procurement 
Area, the company is analysing the characteristics and 
composition of the products we use with the aim of 
prioritising the use of those which have the least impact 
on the environment.  

Environmental control of contractors 

Throughout 2017, aside from verifying compliance with 
the applicable laws, special emphasis was placed on 
controlling the use of resources on works projects. 

An action plan was set in motion to foster the 
implementation of environmentally innovative projects. 
Along these lines, there is a pilot project underway to 
apply photocatalytic coatings at the TWS (temporary 
waste storage) site in Canillejas. 

Environmental training and 
awareness-raising 

Throughout 2017, the number of in-person 
environmental awareness-raising sessions offered to 
the different areas of the company and new hires was 
stepped up, along with the publication of internal and 
external environmental information. 

An environmental best practices guide was drafted 
for the retail locations inside stations in order to 
raise awareness and encourage the responsible use 
of resources and the appropriate management of the 
waste that is generated.
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The company continued to sponsor educational activities 
outside of the workplace, such as the Environmental 
Management workshop during Science Week and the 
awareness-raising campaign for employees’ children 
to mark the International Day of the Forest which 
culminating with the planting of new trees.

Waste management 

A new contract for integral waste management took 
effect in 2017, with more stringent requirements as far 
as optimising the transfer of waste so as to minimise 
times and atmospheric emissions and those relative 
to the treatment of waste in order to minimise the 
environmental impact associated with the generation 
of waste.

1,600 tons of waste were generated in 2017, which 
was 8% more than in 2016. The increase is due to the 
increase in the number of cars/km travelled and the 
renovation work on line 5 which generated a large 
volume of waste. 

Type of waste generated by Metro de Madrid 2017

Oil 

Sludge

Scrap metal

Debris

Similar to urban

Wood 

Paper and cardboard

Non-hazardous WEEE

Pruning waste

Lead batteries

Rubber

Other (aluminium, fluorescent 

bulbs, plastic, etc.)

Over 95% of the waste collected was processed in the 
Community of Madrid, thus reducing the atmospheric 
emissions caused be vehicle exhaust and over 95% 
was converted to energy. Nearly 60% of contaminate 
containers were recycled and reincorporated into the 
production cycle.
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Security
The main security-related projects carried out in 
2017 were related to the protection, expansion and 
improvement of security systems at various facilities, 
the Safety Master Plan and Estación 4.0.

Protecting, expanding and improving 
the security systems at various facilities

This involved a variety of actions such as the installation 
of new cameras equipped with the latest megapixel 
IP technology, thermal cameras, enhanced intrusion 
detection using a detection system based on video 
analytics and updating recorders with more advanced 
digital devices.

The locations where this new security equipment was 
installed included Arganzuela-Planetario, Plaza Elíptica 
and Villaverde.

Following its appointment as a Critical Operator, Metro 
de Madrid undertook the corporate project titled 
“Security: critical infrastructure”, identifying certain 
milestones associated with the appointment such as 
the development of the Operator Security Plans (OSP) 
and the Special Protection  Plans (SPP) for the critical 
infrastructure along with the CNPIC (National Centre for 
the Protection of Critical Infrastructure).

Other efforts in this area included continuing work on 
security for line 8, the new corporate headquarters, 
the new data centre at Canillejas and the corporate 
“Cybersecurity” project.  

Safety activity 

A total of 670 security events/operations were covered 
in 2017, with 2,240,644 hours of surveillance for 
prevention purposes. In addition, 991 reports were filed 
with Metro in relation to the 1,221 events involving 
damages or incidents involving people.

Working in close collaboration with law enforcement, 
Metro turned over 1378 CDs in connection with criminal 
investigations. 

The technical specifications for the tender for the new 
network security contract that will cover the years 
2018-2022 were drafted as well as those for the two 
Caneros service agreements  (phase 1 and phase 2).

Security Central Command responded to 59,911 requests 
and the incidents that required the involvement of 
external law enforcement are listed on the following 
table: 

According to an annual opinion survey, the perceived 
safety among customers in 2017 stood at 7.22.  Although 
slightly lower than in previous years, 89.39% of those 
surveyed that it is safer than other modes of transport.

TOTAL Monthly Avg
Law Enforcement

  National police 6,880 573

  Local police 1,248 104

  Civil Guard 40 3

  Security Guards 15,557 1,296

Emergency Responders 

  SAMUR 5,334 445

  TAS 112 1,369 114

  112+SUMMA+Red Cross 544 45

  Fire brigades 133 11

2017

Evolution of Metro de Madrid’s Overall 
Safety Score 

6.16

2004 2005 2006 2008 2010 2011 2012 20172013 2015 2016

6.15

6.31

6.29

7.23 7.63
7.07

7.00

7.33 7.67 7.22
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Civil Protection 
Throughout 2017, the Civil Protection Service continued 
to pursue its primary objectives in the area of corporate 
self-protection, this being understood as a management 
process that involves all employees and users of the 
network operated by Metro de Madrid, S.A.  This area 
is tasked with adapting, revising and formulating 
emergency and self-protection plans, making 
improvements to the maintenance of fire protections 
systems and analysing incidents when they do occur.

The main lines of work in the area of Corporate Self-
Protection included: 

 > Review of  the ability of fire brigades to access 
our facilities. 

 > First phase of the installation of defibrillators 
at stations and facilities.

 > Transfer of the responsibility for maintenance 
of fire protection systems to the  Facilities 
Maintenance, Works, Infrastructure and 
Accessibility Areas.   

A total of 4,766 employees received training in the 
network’s various self-protection plans. 

Preparation of Emergency and Self-
Protection Plan documentation 

Work was completed on the preparation of the specific 
documentation for the Self-Protection plans for Metro 
de Madrid lines 2, Ramal, 3, 5, 6 y 11, 7, 9 10 and 12.
17 emergency drills were conducted in connection with 
the implementation of the Self-Protection Plans for the 
company’s industrial locations and strategic facilities. 
In addition, as part of the current Emergency Plan, an 
emergency drill was held at the end of the year at the 
Estadio Metropolitano station with the presence of 
government officials and the participation of Madrid’s 
emergency services.  

Coordination of emergency action 
plans between Metro and event 
organisers 

As established in the Basic Self-Protection Standard 
(RD 393/2007),  Metro de Madrid coordinates its 
emergency action plans with those of the organisers of 
different events held on the company’s premises. In all, 
69 emergency coordination documents were prepared 
in connection with the different commercial and other 
types of events that took place. 

Maintenance of fire protection systems 

In 2017, the responsibility for the maintenance for 
fire protection systems at depots, sheds, 7 central 
control post, ICT centre, electrical substations and 
tunnels, including in-station extinguishers, remote 
control systems, and explosimetric probes on line 8 
was transferred to the Facility Maintenance, Works, 
Infrastructure and Accessibility Areas. 

However, up to the time of the transfer, Civil Protection 
was responsible for planning, managing and controlling 
the maintenance and inspection of Metro de Madrid’s 
fire protection systems in compliance with the 
requirements of R.D. 1942/1993 “Fire Protection System 
Regulations” and other regulations applicable to the 
sector. A total of 108,526 inspections and preventive 
maintenance checks were carried out on 42,478 pieces 
of fire protection equipment and emergency exits, as 
shown below.
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Breakdown of the inspections carried out on Metro de Madrid’s Fire Protection Systems in 2017

Improvements

The improvements carried out in compliance with the 
Order of 14 March 2016 (BOCAM 21/03/2016) included 
the installation of fire detection systems to cover retail 
space at 10 stations. 

In collaboration with the Works Department, a signalling 
prototype was designed for the emergency exit at the 
Pacífico station, which will ultimately be extended to 
include the rest of the network’s emergency exits. 

Simulations were carried out using computer 
applications at different stations on the network like 
Estadio Metropolitano and Avenida de América to 
estimate evacuation times.

Incident analysis and statistics

As part of process of continuously improving Metro de 
Madrid’s Self-Protection systems, information on 1126 
incidents related to the network’s emergency response 
plan was gathered and classified, with monthly reports 
on incident statistics. 

The most serious incidents were monitored, analysing 
the possible causes, the actions taken, the circumstances 
surrounding the event, possible scenarios, etc., in order 
to be better prepared for similar situations in the future. 
In all, 16 reports were prepared which were forwarded 
to the areas involved. 

Description Scope (Units) No. of Units Total  inspected 
in 2017

11,209 16,814

10,020 23,343

Interstation fire protection equipment (dry 
column  - extinguishers - evacuation routes)

Interstation 
dry columns: 1,645
extinguisher: 462
signs:  8,900
doors:  202

Fire protection systems at depots, sheds and 
other facilities 

9 depots and
7 sheds 

Detection system and alarms in stations Lines 1-12 and 
ML1 (242 stations) 4,075 16,300

Remote controls and UPS in stations, 
substations and depots 

Lines 1-12 and ML1 
(311 nodes  - 232 UPS') 3,024 4,536

119 substations 1,640 4,920

Manual equipment at stations (extinguishers) Lines 1-12 and ML1 
(301 stations) 4,946 14,838

Water mist extinguishing systems in stations 
Lot A: Lines 

1-2-5-7-8-9 and  ML1
(114 stations)

2,264 7,752

Water mist extinguishing systems in stations 
Lot B: Lines 3-4-6-10-11-12 

and depots 
(104 stations + 15 facilities)

1,947 6,774

Emergency exits 3,264 13,056204

Explosimetric probes 1 15 45

Pressurization emergency exits 25 74 148

Fire protection systems at substations

TOTAL 42,478 108,526
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In terms of external assistance, the company received a 
total of 98 reports from the fire department concerning 
incidents that required their interventions.  
 

New Additions 

20 automatic defibrillators were installed in the last 
quarter of the year, 15 of them at the network’s most 
heavily used stations. The installation of a new bike 
parking area at La Peseta station brings the total 
number of parkings for bikes across the network to five. 

Participation in other activities 

Work continued on the emergency management piece 
of the network transformation project, Estación 4.0 and 
the Peaje 4.0 project.

The company also participated in the visits to the Fire 
Classroom (Aula del Fuego) for external organisation 
and institutions as well as some of the activities 
organised as part of Science Week. It also took part in 
a workshop related to the UNE-ISO 22320 standard 
titled “Citizen Safety and Protection – Emergency 
Management” offered by AENOR and INERCO at Central 
Command.
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Rail Safety
Rail Safety is another of Metro de Madrid’s strategic 
pillars in its ongoing effort to provide efficient, high 
quality service.  To this end, the activities in this regard 
that were carried out in 2017 are as follows: 

 > Preparation of a report on rail safety for the 
Company’s Management Committee.

 > Development and execution of an Annual 
Inspection Plan in the field of rail safety in order to 
verify compliance with safety regulations.

 > Analysis of the most significant incidents in 
order to clarify the reasons and propose measures for 
improvement.

 > Updating and distribution of the Internal Rail 
Safety Regulations contained in the Internal Operating 
Regulations and the Internal Agent Safety Regulations 
in relation to Rail Operations.

 > Improving the rail safety culture through 
training and information. 

 > Implementation of the Strategic Plan on 
Human Factors in Train Operations at the Train 
Command Post.

 > Random drug testing of agents responsible for 
train operations.

 > Participation in national forums and working 
groups in the field of rail safety.
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IT Projects
Some of the most remarkable information technology 
projects undertaken by the Company in 2017 were as 
follows:

Renovation of Channel Directors 

This project involved the replacement of old equipment 
with new storage infrastructure equipment to house the 
data from all of the servers that run the services offered 
by Metro. 

Collaboration on Corporate Projects 

In collaboration with the Organization and Quality 
Division, a collaborative space for corporate projects 
based on SharePoint 201 was introduced (https://
espacios.metromadrid.es/pestrategicos). It can be 
accessed from the internal network and via the Internet 
from a mobile device or PC.

Adaptation of electronic payments to 
the new transaction distribution 
system (BINES) 

Metro de Madrid uses Netplus as an Electronic Funds 
Transfer System that processes the card payment 
transactions at ticket sales machines across the network. 
The process was overhauled by Redsys (operations 
processing centre) in 2017, making it necessary to 
adapt Netplus accordingly, while also improving the 
distribution of electronic transactions to optimise 
commission payments. 

Publication of Web access to email 

To allow users to access their email inboxes from any 
device and location, the necessary adjustments were 
made to enable access from a Web browser while 
maintaining existing security standards. 

Windows 10

In keeping with the processes of continuous 
improvement, the Company’s IT platform was adapted to 
work with the recently launched Windows 10 Operating 
System (OS) and Office 2016 component.  

Use of tablets by Commercial 
Supervisors. Pilot programme on Lines 
1 and 9

At the request of the Operations Management Area, 
work was done on the implementation, distribution, 
layout and definition of maintenance processes for 
electronic tablet devices – as part of a pilot project for 
lines 1 and 9 – used as tools to support the work of 
Commercial Supervisors.
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Implementation of Protection Platform 
against Persistent Advanced Threats 

A new platform was introduced to protect against 
advanced persistent threats. The platform combines 
static and dynamic analysis, providing an adaptable, 
global prevention system for enhanced security of the 
computer platform and its services. 

Migration of corporate applications in 
Power Builder to .net technology

The Power Builder platform for the development of 
corporate applications, with over 50 applications, is 
second only to SAP in terms of the corporate applications 
developed by Metro. 

The anticipated discontinuation of the Power Builder 
platform led Metro to choose .Net technology as the 
development platform for new corporate applications. 

In 2017, with the necessary infrastructure up and 
running, Metro began the gradual process of migrating 
its corporate application to the .Net platform.  
 

Implementation and adaptation of the 
new MULTI card features

The new MULTI card with it contactless technology 
became available to users on 1 January 2018, replacing 
the old magnetic strip technology (paper tickets). As a 
result, changes had to be made to Metro’s collections, 
accounting and logistics systems, among others, and 
new developments had to be added to automate the 
management processes associated with these new 
cards.

Corporate Control Panel 

The Control Panel is one of the applications derived 
from the METRODATA corporate projects which 
represents the company’s key management indicators 
and is the tool used by the members of the Management 
Committee.

In addition to the monthly general panel, there is also a 
panel for the use of public transport passes and another 
one for facilities (escalators and lifts) with near real 
time information. 

Messages over the PA system 
announced in English 

In stations and on board the trains, Metro’s public-
address system broadcasts a series of informational 
messages for passengers. 

An application has been developed that uses a database 
of English words to compose a series of messages in 
English. Using specialised software, these messages are 
broadcast over the network’s PA system.   
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Enhanced features of official mobile 
applications 

A new version of the Metro de Madrid App for IOs and 
Android was developed and is now available to the 
public, offering new utilities like push notifications to 
receive near real time news and incident reports and 
balance inquiries on public transport passes. Among 
other things, this allows users to plan their travel in 
advance.  

Implementation of the NETRO push 
notification system for intervention 
agents 

The Netro application developed with MQTT technology 
(Message Queue Telemetry Transport) uses the push 
notification service in mobile devices exclusively over 
the corporate wi-fi network, replacing the external push 
messaging operator with our own proprietary software. 
This allows messages to be sent to corporate devices 
without the need for Internet.   The first phase of 
the system was installed in the corporate devices 
of the personal in charge of passenger to facilitate 
communications between these employees and their 
supervisors using only wi-fi only. 
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Opening hours are from 7 am to 10 pm Monday to 
Friday and from 10 am to 10 pm on Saturdays, Sundays 
and public holidays.

Since it opened, a total of 7,710 lost items have been 
processed at the office. The final destination of the 
objects processed by the office during these months is 
as follows:

The Purchasing and Procurement Quality Management 
System (QMS) was updated in 2017 in accordance with 
the new version of the ISO 9001:2015 standard, which 
was certification in October of 2017. This version of the 
standard includes a number of important changes for 
the different management systems such as: 

 > Context of the organization and stakeholders, 
which requires determining the internal and external 
aspects and requirements that can affect the 
Management System. 

 > Risk and opportunity-based approach, 
identifying them and implementing the appropriate 
measures.

This new approach to the standard led to the redefinition 
of the company’s Process Map, converting one of the 
activities already being carried out into a new process 
called “Registered Spare Parts Approval Process” to 
focus on fulfilling the expectations of the identified 
stakeholders.

Lost and Found 

As mentioned above, Metro de Madrid’s new Customer 
Service and Lost and Found Office opened to the 
public on 6 November at Plaza de Castilla station. 
This inauguration marks a step forward in the quality 
of service offered to our customers by facilitating the 
recovery of lost and found items from Metro directly, 
without having wait until the items arrive at the City of 
Madrid’s Lost and Found service.  

With this new management model, Metro de Madrid 
users can claim lost items at any time: either at the 
station itself within the first 48 hours, at the Plaza 
de Castilla office, where they will be held and can be 
retrieved for three to four weeks and anytime after that 
at the Legazpi location operated by the City of Madrid. 

Procurement

The rest of the objects remained in the office for the 
stipulated two to three-week waiting period before 
being sent to the City of Madrid in the month of January.

More than 39,000 objects were found in the Metro de 
Madrid network in 2017, of which more than 20% were 
recovered by the owner at our facilities, 42% were sent 
to the offices of the Regional Transport Consortium and 
28% were sent to the Legazpi Municipal Warehouse.

The stations with the highest lost and found volumes 
are Avenida de América, Pinar de Chamartín and Sol, 
followed very closely by Cuatro Caminos, Nuevos 
Ministerios, Gran Vía and Tribunal.

Lost property managed
by the office

Collected by 
their owner

In Madrid 
Council warehouse

In Consortium Cancelled 
in the office

November December

20 18

977

1,159
1,248

2,085

190

504
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Purchasing
Purchasing and Procurement 
Regulations 

Metro de Madrid’s purchasing procedures are 
determined, primarily, by the provisions of Act 31/2007 
of October 30 on purchasing procedures for the water, 
energy, transportation and postal services sectors, 
and Royal Legislative Decree 3/2011 of November 14, 
which approved the revised text of the Ley de Contratos 
del Sector Público (TRLCSP) [Law on Public Sector 
Contracts], permanently adapting the processes and 
contractual documents to any other requirements as 
may be established in any other laws or provisions of a 
general nature that may apply. 

Consequently, and in order to comply with the provisions 
of article 191.2 TRLSCP, the Board of Directors, at the 
meeting held on 13 September 2012, approved the 
Internal Procurement Regulations for Metro de Madrid, 
which regulate the Company’s procurement procedures, 
founded on respect for the principles of publicity, 
competition, transparency, confidentiality, equality and 
non- discrimination, with the goal of awarding contracts 
to the most economically advantageous tender. 

Subsequently, in the interest of keeping the Internal 
Procurement Instructions up to data and in line with all 
applicable laws, two new, modified versions were created 
which were approved by the Executive Committee on 27 
April 2015 and by the Board of Directors on 9 October 
2015, respectively.

Law 9/2017 of 8 November 2017 on Public Sector 
Contracts was published in the Official State Gazette 
on 9 November 2017, transposing Directives 2014/23/
EU and 2014/24/EU of 26 February 2014 into Spanish 
law. This Law, which will take effect on 9 March 2018, 
establishes a new legal framework for the contracting 
of public sector entities, including Metro de Madrid, and 
aims to make procurement more efficient, facilitating 
access to SMEs, strengthening social and environmental 
considerations, promoting transparency and practically 
eradicating unadvertised public procurement.

 

Regulatory Compliance and 
Transparency 
In 2017, Metro de Madrid continue to work on the 
design and implementation of the different elements 
of the Regulatory Compliance System to ensure the 
appropriate management of the risks associated with 
the compliance function and the company’s ethical 
standards. 

Strategic lines and remarkable actions 

The definition of the Regulatory Compliance risk map 
was completed. The controls already established the 
year were supplemented with new ones designed to 
make the system remarkably robust.
In addition to the preparation of the map mentioned 
above, the main milestones, include the approval by 
the Board of Directors of the Corporate Code of Ethics 
(based on the principles of public service, integrity and 
professionalism) and the Conflict of Interest Policy.
Action plans are being implemented to ensure 
compliance with new legislation that will have a 
significant impact on Metro de Madrid’s activity in 2018, 
including those relating to Public Procurement and 
Personal Data Protection.
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Training 

Training and awareness-raising for Metro staff is 
another main focus of the Regulatory Compliance and 
Transparency Area. A programme has been introduced 
to familiarise new hires with the system, as well as 
more extensive training for key personnel to make them 
aware of the new obligations affecting Metro de Madrid 
in the area of Compliance and Transparency.

Transparency Portal 

Since November 2015 Metro has had its own 
Transparency Portal on the corporate website in 
compliance with the Transparency Act, with access to 
public information on good corporate governance. In 
2017 the Portal received a total of 49,996 visits from 
citizens wanting to know more about the Company. The 
highest number of visits occurred in January, with nearly 
10,000. 

The Transparency Portal offers up-to-date information 
in three main areas: institutional, legal and economic 
(including corporate budgets and statistics). Specific 
information requests can be submitted by email or using 
the web form available for this purpose. 107 requests 
were received in 2017, which were answered within 13 
days on average compared to the 30-day legal deadline. 
The topics of greatest interest in 2017 which were the 
subject of a large number of requests were passenger 
volumes per station, construction work on lines and 
hiring processes at Metro de Madrid, among others.    

Consultative Service of the Legal 
Affairs Area

Once again this year, the collaboration of the Legal 
Affairs area on regulatory compliance matters is 
reflected in the queries which its Consultative Services 
answered in 2017, providing legal advice to all areas 
of our company so as to ensure that each and every 
person is conducting him/herself in compliance with 
the applicable regulations.  

The Legal Affairs area is commonly asked for advice 
on contractual matters (i.e., contractual modifications, 
termination and suspensions leading to termination) 
and for assistance drafting different types of legal 
documents. 

In 2017, the Legal Affairs area was busy ensuring 
strict compliance by the Company with the applicable 
contract laws and regulations, working under the 
direct supervision of the Secretary-General of Metro de 
Madrid, who is responsible for overseeing compliance 
in an area that is so critical to the achievement of the 
company’s goals and objectives. 

In particular, attorneys from the Legal Affairs area sat on a 
variety of Procurement Committees in 2017, responding 
to queries related to tenders and the contract award 
process. In addition, different departments of Metro de 
Madrid submitted nearly 100 queries to the Legal Affairs 
area in 2016 regarding incidents with contracts that 
have subsequently had repercussions for the Company. 

An important aspect of Legal Department’s activities in 
2017 focused on claims filed against the Company in 
relation to fair competition laws, in which practically 
all the claims filed were rejected or denied by the TACP 
(Administrative Tribunal for Public Procurement). Only 
three of them -  two for exclusion from a bidding process 
and one seeking the reversal of a contract award – were 
upheld, with four pending a decision.

With respect to other claims filed against the Company 
in relation to non-compliance with environmental laws, 
health and safety, information services, discrimination, 
privacy and personal data breaches, supply and use of 
products and services, as well as the measures adopted, 
it should be noted that there were only five. Of those, 
three are pending a decision, another one concluded 
with a fine of €100 for the Company and a final one 
requiring the Company to provide written notice 
indicating whether it agrees or refuses to provide 
information and the reasons for its decision.  
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Finally, with respect to other applications for the 
protection of fundamental rights, four cases were 
initiated in 2017, two of which have been rejected by 
the labour courts, one of which was withdrawn by and 
one that is still pending a decision. 
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Since the year 2015, the Economic Studies Area has 
been responsible for the management and monitoring 
of funds from off-budget financing. The last-mentioned 
concept includes all kinds of grants and subsidies from 
European or national agencies, which are intended to 
fund projects that can be undertaken by Metro in any of 
its areas, including those pertaining to R+D+I.

Throughout the year 2017, it was possible to 
consolidate and even expand the aid obtained for 
financing certain actions with European Funds under 
the FEDER programme, within the FEDER Operating 
Programme 2014-2020 of the Community of Madrid. 
Metro de Madrid is participating in Focal Point 4 of this 
operating programme by making investments for the 
purpose of “encouraging the transportation to a low-
carbon economy in all sectors”.

In this sense, the actions selected to be covered by co-
financing up to 50% with these structural funds consist 
of the installation of lifts in 16 stations in the Metro 
Network and the installation of 15 Reversible Cells in 
Traction Transformation Centres, with a total assigned 
subsidy volume of 24 million euros, thus contributing 
to the achievement of sustainable urban mobility by 
decreasing the use of urban transport that is more apt 
to cause pollution. In financial year 2017, co-financing 
was approved for the first 4 Cells and the same was 
requested for the installation of lifts in the first 2 
stations (Príncipe Pío and Barrio de la Concepción) with 
the ultimate goal of achieving universal accessibility.

In turn, it is important to note the aid of € 4.7 million 
granted by the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 
for investments in the area of accessibility in different 
stations of the Metro de Madrid network. 

Finally, it is worth mentioning the participation of 
Metro de Madrid in several important R+D+I projects 
financed with external funds amounting to a total of 
800,000 euros.

Throughout the year 2017, Metro de Madrid has 
participated in the following  R+D+I projects:

MyRail Project

European project whose objective is to develop 
algorithms and specific energy measurement 
environments for the railway sector, thus facilitating 
the implementation of efficient technologies from 
the energy point of view in this sector. This project is 
carried out by a Consortium coordinated by the INRIN 
(Italian Metrology Research Institute) which consists of 
16 partners from 7 European countries. The Engineering 
Area participates actively in this project and mainly the 
Engineering Service for Signalling and Energy.

CONNECTA-SAFE4Rail Projects

Participation in the panel of experts (‘advisory group’) 
of the R&D project with European funding “CONNECTA-
SAFE4Rail”, within the Shift2Rail programme. 

Participation in the UITP spectrum 
group (SUG-UITP). 

Roll2Rail (R2R) Project: 
Communications 

Project with funding from the European Commission 
comprised within the Horizon2020 program, it focuses 

European and National Funding for 
Investments to Promote Accessibility, 
the Environment, and R+D+I Projects
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on aspects of radiocommunication and TCMS and 
has the aim to reduce the costs of maintenance and 
investment related to this system. This project ended 
on 31 October 2017. Its objective was to identify good 
practices in terms of investment and maintenance. 

Roll2Rail (R2R) Project: Rolling stock

Project with funding from the European Commission 
comprised within the Horizon2020 program. The 
objective thereof is the study of the life cycle cost 
(LCC) of the rolling stock and the development of a 
universal costs model (UCM) with two fundamental 
objectives: calculation of the LCC rolling stock based 
on construction and operating parameters of the same 
and on the estimate of the impact of the introduction of 
new technologies in the LCC rolling stock.

In September 2017, work began on the project, and 
in November 2017, Metro hosted one of the periodic 
meetings of the project, which was held on 15 
November at Cuatro Vientos depot. The objective of this 
project is to search for innovative solutions for rolling 
stock and sensor systems for new rolling stock that 
is more sustainable, intelligent and comfortable. For 
this reason, a Consortium was created coordinated by 
UNIFE (Union of European Railway Industries) which is 
comprised of 15 partners from 8 European countries. 
Metro de Madrid’s participation therein corresponds 
mainly to the area of Engineering and, in particular, to 
the Engineering Service for Rolling Stock.

Lyfe Cycle Costs
Interdependencies

Scope

Universal Cost Model

Vehicle
Operators

Vehicle
Manufacturers

Track Infra
Operators

Radial steering
Unsuspended

Axle load
Flange lubrication

Track quality
Substructure condition

Curve rodius

Wheel damage
Track damage

Energy
Noise

Unavailability
Potential Hazards

Run2Rail

Metro de Madrid became part of the Run2Rail 
Consortium, led by Polytechnic University of Milan, 
together with Vibratec, the University of Southampton 
and Lucchini (among others), to qualify for one of 
the calls for R&D of the Shift2Rail programme of 
the European Commission. In particular, the notice 
calling the meeting was presented in the programme 
called “S2R-OC-IP1-02-2017 Tools, methodologies and 
technological development of the next generation of 
running gear”. This proposal was evaluated with the 
highest score (15/15) and was approved for funding. 
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Development of a pantograph wear 
detection system for the optimisation 
of the maintenance process

This Project, framed within the 2016 COMPETITIVENESS 
CHALLENGES programme of the Ministry of Economy 
and Competitiveness, in which Metro is collaborating 
with a consortium of companies, is focused on the 
application of artificial vision technology in the 
development of a system capable of detecting the 
wear on the pantographs in order to optimise the 
maintenance processes therein. It has participated 
actively throughout the year 2017 in the definition of 
detailed specifications, according to objectives that can 
meet the real needs of operation and maintenance. This 
project will continue in the year 2018.

FAIRStation

is a project which seeks to design the Railway Station 
of the Future, one that is Secure and Accessible, a 
Consortium coordinated by STAM (Italian Engineering 
Company) which consists of 8 partners from 5 
European countries. It involves several Metro de Madrid 
departments, including the Services of Works, Studies, 
Marketing, Operational Management of Lines and the 
Areas of Security and Media.

E-LOBSTER

is a project that involves the balancing of electrical 
losses by integrating storage and power electronics for 
increased synergies between the railway distribution 
networks and energy distribution. For this reason, a 
consortium was created coordinated by the Italian 
consultancy firm called D’APPOLONIA SPA, which 
consists of 10 partners from 5 European countries, 
with the main participation of the areas of Engineering 
and Facilities Maintenance, especially the Engineering 
Services for Signalling and Energy and Maintenance of 
Electrification, Signals and Communications.





07 Brand, Media, Customer Services and 
Institutional Relations
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Brand
In the year 2017, various actions were carried out aimed 
at promoting the use of Metro as a reference means of 
transport in the Community of Madrid, achieving this by 
developing actions to promote our Company’s image 
and brand. 

Communication Campaigns

“Yo voy en Metro” (“I travel on the
Metro”)

The purpose of this Campaign is to position Metro 
de Madrid as a travel option where there is space for 
everyone, with Metro de Madrid acting as the reference 
mobility option.

The campaign was displayed in two waves during the 
months of October-November and the second in the 
month of December, where different graphic displays 
were exhibited during the Christmas season.

Access for dogs to the Metro network

On the occasion of the first anniversary of the 
amendment of the regulations in reference to the 
access of pets on Metro de Madrid, an information 
campaign was conducted aimed at pet owners as well 
as users in general, with the objective of reminding 
users concerning the regulations on pet access. 

Work on line 5 and line 8

The closure due to the works on line 5, which implied the 
partial closure of the 32 stations that make up the same 
and the modernisation of line 8 due to replacement of 
track infrastructure by another new technology, gave 
rise to the launching of communication campaigns to 
inform people of the reasons for the reforms, as well as 
concerning the alternative mobility services. Different 
channels of communication were used which included 
static advertising, Canal Metro and informational 
brochures. 
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New features of Metro de Madrid’s 
official APP

During 2017, several campaigns were launched related 
to Metro de Madrid’s App with the main objective to 
promote the download of the same and inform users 
regarding the new features incorporated therein.  

Civic behaviour in stations and trains

It is also important to note the campaign launched to 
remind users on responsible behaviour in the use of the 
escalators and for travelling by train. 

Security advice

This campaign is meant to prevent theft in the Metro 
de Madrid network, asking users to take all maximum 
precautions possible. 

Cultural Actions

Due to its importance and the Company’s involvement 
in supporting the culture in any of its expressions, 
Metro de Madrid signed a collaboration agreement 
with the Community of Madrid’s Office of Culture and 
Tourism in order to promote and develop different 
artistic expressions in the region.

During 2017, outstanding cultural activities have been 
developed in the Metro network, such as:

Sabinera Route

Music, as one of the main cultural activities, has also 
played an important role in Metro de Madrid. On 9 March, 
Joaquín Sabina introduced in our facilities 12 songs 
from his new album “Lo niego todo” (I deny everything). 
12 songs in 12 stations through the Sabinera Route.
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Books on the street

An activity carried out in collaboration with the 
Association of Publishers of Madrid that encourages 
reading through literary pieces placed inside subway 
trains.

Night of books

Night of books was held on 21 April. Metro de Madrid, 
in collaboration with the Community of Madrid, joined 
this celebration with the participation of “Versonautas” 
in an activity called “Abrapalabra”, which merged poetry 
with music. 

Cronoteatro

In collaboration with the Complutense University of 
Madrid, during the VII Complutense Literary Week held 

from April 24 to April 28, a contest was held to present 
2-6 minute plays inside the Metro trains and stations.  
The themes of the works were freely selected. 
 

Theatre night

Metro de Madrid joined the celebration of Theatre Night 
held on 25 March with mini-staging on Line 3 of works 
which presented scenic fragments of the work called 
“Chromatic Code” by the “Ale Hop” company.  All this 
was part of the programme prepared by the Community 
of Madrid to celebrate the 10th Edition of the Theatre 
Night.

Entradasymás

Promotion of cultural and leisure shows, especially 
films and plays, through Canal Metro and the Social 
Networks, to promote cultural dissemination.
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Sport Actions

Chamberí Summer Race

Metro de Madrid is also committed to the promotion 
of sports and healthy living. On the basis of this 
commitment, it participated in the development of two 
races in the Chamberí neighbourhood: Milla popular 
Chamberí (11 June) and Chamberí 10 km (9 July), both 
races within the action called Chamberí Summer Race. 

Metro de Madrid Shop

The marketing of Metro de Madrid’s “Official Products” is 
an ongoing activity. Its purpose is to reinforce our brand 
image through the marketing of exclusive items.

Various communication actions have been undertaken 
to make our products known, as well as special offers 
that have fostered the growth of sales, as is the case of 
the Internet Week or Black Friday.

Social Actions

As every year, Metro has worked with the Department 
of Corporate Responsibility in the development and 
production of different actions and campaigns with the 
aim of giving visibility to different groups.

Among these efforts undertaken are the Blood Donation 
Campaign and the campaign called “in line with those 
who need it most”. 

Special Christmas Events

This spectacular marketing drive was intended to 
capture the surprise of users and encourage the use of 
the Metro during the Christmas season, while wishing 
our customers happy holidays.

Among the actions that took place, it is worth noting 
the complete vinyl covering of a train of line 6, “The 
Christmas Train”, as well as several surprises, where 
users of this line found Christmas gifts on their seats.
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Media
Presence in the Media and Social 
Networks

The Company’s external communication is managed by 
implementing the Company’s communication policy in 
connection with the media and with Metro users, using 
for this purpose digital channels that the company has 
enabled for client communication: corporate App and 
web and Metro’s official profiles on the different social 
networks. 

With regard to relations with the media, Metro de Madrid 
has continued to focus on efforts to communicate with 
society through the press, radio, television and digital 
media, indicating the Company’s progress in various 
fields related to the carriage of passengers, launching of 
new services, changes in the way of managing customer 
service, as well as to provide timely and accurate 
information in real time on the travelling conditions 
and on the public service in general which it provides 
for citizens. 

Throughout the year, more than 4,000 media 
appearances have been proactively managed in all kinds 
of mass media, in which information was presented on 
various aspects of the Company, with special impact 
on the media regarding the improvement work carried 
out on line 5 during the summer period, the end of 
the process of change in the customer service model, 
of ticket window agents to sales supervisor, all actions 
related to the change in name of Estadio Olímpico to 
Estadio Metropolitano, the installation of more than 
2,200 USB chargers in network trains and stations, as 
well as the renovation works on line 8.

In the field of digital channels, in 2017 Metro exceeded 52 
million printings of all the contents published on social 
networks, due to initiatives such as “Inside the Metro” 
or “Metro says hello”, with the purpose of informing 
Metro followers on the networks, by way of audio-visual 
formats, regarding the daily operation of the service and 
how employees perform this work. It should be noted 

that on Twitter we have already exceeded 500,000 
followers, on Facebook almost 70,000 people follow us, 
and on Instagram, whose profile was created at the end 
of 2016, we already have exceeded 13,000 followers. In 
addition, this year the new profiles of the Metro have 
been launched on LinkedIn and Spotify, obtaining also 
good results in the first months of existence. 

Finally, with regard to the corporate app and web, new 
and important services have been launched that offer 
users better and higher quality information regarding 
the Metro service. Included among these services are 
push notifications, through which users of the app can 
receive notifications of the service directly on their cell-
phone (something that has already been done through 
Twitter and the daily Network section on the web), as 
well as the consolidation of the information service on 
the arrival of the next two trains at each of the 600 
platforms of the network, and real-time information on 
the status of the nearly 1,700 escalators and more than 
500 lifts operated by the Metro de Madrid network. 
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Customer-Centred Services
Throughout 2017, an important activity was developed 
with the dual objective of improving customer 
experience and obtaining revenue for the Company.

Commercial Activity:

Among the main activities carried out throughout the 
year, the following should be noted:

Vending and ATMs

 > More than 200 new vending machines for 
food, beverages and other services were installed 
in lobbies and on platforms, among which 10 
innovative vending machines for drugstore use 
can be pointed out, a new product for Metro de 
Madrid customers.

 > Awarding of new contracts for ATMs to be 
installed on the Metro de Madrid Network. In 
this way, the number of ATMs installed at Metro 
de Madrid stations will reach 122, a number that 
will be increased by around 60% with regard to 
the above figures. 

Official Metro network map and tourist 
map

Commercial exploitation on the official map, tourist 
map and the Metro de Madrid’s official App.

Filming  

Metro de Madrid continues to be the source of 
inspiration for filming and audio-visual productions, 
managing and enabling filming, spots in different 
sectors such as: ThyssenKrupp, Shopping Centre Plaza 
Río 2, Christmas Lottery spot; television programmes 
(La Zona Series); short films or films, and even video 
clips such as Mamma Mia and Aspettero lo Stesso.

Events 

Private events in Metro spaces constitute a dynamic 
line of business, which generates a number of requests. 
Events and presentations have been made in singular 
spaces such as the Engine Shed and Chamberí, as well 
as in some stations and venues, highlighting those 
implemented in the stations of Nuevos Ministerios 
and Chamartín and other venues. Firms such as Harley 
Davidson, Jeep, Huawei, MasterCard, Sony (release 
of the last album of Joaquín Sabina) and Bayer with 
an awareness campaign about the thrombosis, have 
successfully hosted their events in Metro de Madrid 
spaces.

External Proyects

Work on projects abroad continues to strengthen Metro 
de Madrid’s recognized know-how and converting the 
same into integrated mobility solutions which are 
marketed and managed through consulting, engineering 
and operating services in national and international 
urban environments. 

Among the main activities carried out throughout the 
year, the following should be noted:

Consulting Projects

 > Technical assistance for the design, 
construction, operation and maintenance of Line 
2 and the Ramal Av. Faucett – Av. Gambetta on 
the basic network of the Metro de Lima.

 > Technical assistance for training on the 
operation of the Metro de Sevilla.

 > Review, assistance and collaboration in the 
preparation of documents for a technical guide 
on the development of urban transport for the 
World Bank.
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Participation in International 
Conferences

 > Technical presentation before the World Bank, 
Washington (USA)

 > Project management working group Alamys, 
Lima (Peru) 

 > World Metrorail Congress, London (UK)

 > Participation together with Alamys in the 
workshops of the American Public Transportation 
Association (APTA), Baltimore (USA)

 > Fair Stations Group, Genova (Italy)

 > Smart Metro, Paris (France)

Andén 0

Andén Cero is a group of museum-like exhibits 
sponsored by Metro de Madrid founded in 2006 to 
bring history and heritage closer to inhabitants and 
visitors. Originally there were two locations: one at the 
Pacifico Engine Shed at calle de Valderribas, which has 
been declared a Site of Cultural Interest, and another 
one at the old Chamberí Station which is accessed from 
the Plaza de Chamberí.  The Caños del Peral Museum 
inside the Ópera Station was later added along with 
the 14 million year-old paleontological remains at the 
Carpetana Station. In 2017, the old lobby of the Pacífico 
Station on Line was added to the series.  

This is a project that allows the public to immerse itself 
in the history of the metropolitan railway in Madrid and 
in the history of the actual city of Madrid, to which it is 
closely linked. The period reflected goes from the early 
20th century when the Metro radically transformed the 
city by modifying the centre-periphery relationship to 
the present day. Andén Cero explains how the creation 
and consolidation of the Metro, a paradigm of urban 

modernity, brought about a major change, not just to 
the customs of the inhabitants of Madrid, but also to the 
actual social structure of the city. 

Aspects related to the general history of transport 
are also displayed, the relationship between the 
underground and the city, technology and its evolution, 
engineering, advertising aesthetics or design.

This initiative contributes to the restoration and 
enhancement of the technological and industrial 
heritage of the city, since the two sites of the Centre 
are located in areas designed by the famous architect 
Antonio Palacios, of unquestionable historic value.  
Both the Pacífico Engine Shed and Chamberí Station 
represent two of the most unique places in Madrid that 
receive a large number of visitors.

91,049 people visited the exhibits in 2017, which 
represents a 17.48% increase over the year before: 
2,503 visited the Pacífico lobby; 9,894 visited the 
Engine Shed;  21,538 visited Los Caños del Peral and 
57,114 Chamberí.

From the time it opened to the public in 2008 through 
31 December 2017, The Andén Cero museum spaces 
have received a total of 762,098 visitors.

While most of the visitors are Madrid residents, there 
are others who hail cities throughout Spain, other 
European countries and the rest of the world including 
visitors from Taiwan, Japan, Mauritius, Armenia, Lebanon, 
India, Brazil, Venezuela, Colombia, the US and Canada. 
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Institutional Affairs 
The Institutional Affairs Area is responsible for 
organising, coordinating and scheduling all institutional, 
technical or educational visit requests received by 
Metro de Madrid. It also launches other activities and 
collaborations in different areas and organizes various 
meetings with Company management.

Year after year, Metro de Madrid continues to arouse 
interest from railway operators, agencies and other 
transport entities, and that interest translates into 
requests for contact and visits. 45 national and 
international delegations were welcomed in 2017, 
bringing with them 850 visitors. The most noteworthy 
visitors included those from Melbourne Metropolitan 
Rail Authority, Asian Development Bank, Metro de 
Medellín, Metro Lima, Metro Chile, European Investment 
Bank (EIB), SMRT Corporation Singapore, Athens Metro, 
Delegation from the State of Mexico, Metro Tokyo, Metro 
Milán and Sbase Subterráneo de Buenos Aires.

Reactiva Project

Work continued this year on the Reactiva Project, a 
project designed to develop initiatives inherent to the 
creation of appropriate habits in a population group, 
free of prejudices or preconceptions about the use of 
public transport. It targets two segments of the public, 
those in Primary Education and those in Compulsory 
Secondary Education. A total of 34 workshops (visits 
to both segments) were carried out for a total of 837 
students.

School Visits and Special Education

Visits to primary schools in the Community of Madrid. 
In 2017, there were 114 visits to schools attended by 
2,877 students, bringing the total since the inception 
of this initiative to more than 300,000 students. Special 
Education Visits targeting schools and training facilities 
for people with disabilities. In 2017, there were 11 visits 
with a total of 208 student participants.

Coordination of accompaniments for 
extracurricular activities

Processing of requests from schools in the Community 
of Madrid for extracurricular activities involving Metro 
travel (field trips to museums, parks, exhibits, etc.) in 
collaboration with the Director of Operations. In 2017, 
a total of 5,385 students were accompanies on 84 
different outings.

Information requests

Management, processing and preparation of responses 
to passenger inquiries and requests for information 
(technical, historical, various data on Company 
management, etc.) received through the CIAC/Customer 
Service network, social network and email. 127 requests 
for information were processed in 2017. 
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Organisation of Conferences, Meetings 
and Institutional Events

Training Day with ADIF

Coordination of the meeting organised by Training 
Services with ADIF’s HR Department to discuss training-
related issues. This meeting was held at the Canillejas 
Training Centre.  

UITP Operations Subcommittee 

In 2017, the Deputy Directorate of Institutional Relations 
worked on the organisation, logistics and coordination 
of the annual meeting of the Operational Subcommittee 
of UITP (International Association of Public Transport) 
that was held in Madrid from 18 to 20 October. 
As the host, Metro de Madrid, S.A. was responsible for 
organising the meeting. 

The meeting was attended by 15 representatives 
from different metro systems as well Spanish and 
international transport entities, all Subcommittee 
members. 
 
Aside from the work meetings, the attendees also had 
the chance to visit some of the Company’s facilities.

CEO Informational Meeting 

Coordination of the informational meeting convened by 
the CEO with the company’s senior management staff. It 
was held at the Command Post auditorium. 

Forum with the daily newspaper El 
Independiente

The daily newspaper, El Independiente, organised a 
forum on “public transport as a vehicle for sustainability” 
to discuss the contribution of public transport to 
Smart Cities and the application of information and 
communication technologies. The Minister of Transport, 
Housing and Infrastructure of the Community of Madrid 
gave the opening remarks to the 80 attendees from a 
variety of entities and organisations gathered at the 
Engine Shed.  

San Miguel 2017 Celebration 

Participation in the festivities planned to commemorate 
the feast of San Miguel. The festivities took place on 26 
September and included cultural and sporting events 
such as the San Miguel Golf Tournament, among others.
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Recognition of “Meritorious Acts”

Coordination and organisation of an event dedicated to 
Metro employees, police officers, security personnel and 
users who demonstrated praiseworthy conduct over 
the last year in connection with incidents affecting the 
network. The CEO of Metro de Madrid presided over the 
event held at the Engine Shed. 

In 2017, there were 47 institutional events that took place 
with the participation of  Community of Madrid officials 
as well as institutions, businesses and the media. The 
most representative, because of their relevance and their 
positive reception by the media were: the presentation 
of the renovation work on line 8; the modernisation 
plans for 23 stations; the upgrade of trains on line 5 
to accommodate the TETRA communication system; 
the presentation of a campaign by Metro to publicise 
the access to the new Wanda Metropolitano stadium; 
presentation of the 20th edition of “Libros a la calle”; 
the 4th edition of the “Cronoteatro” theatre contest as 
part of the Complutense Literary Week and the 8th 
edition of the “You’re a metre away from saving lives”. 
 

Expositions

“Fourth Watercolour Biennial”

The “Fourth Watercolour Biennial” exhibition was 
held from 16 to 26 March at the Engine Shed at 
calle Cavanilles in collaboration with the Spanish 
Watercolour Group. There were 40 paintings on display 
(oil and watercolour) by 20 authors from the Group. 

Other activities and collaborations 

Metro de Madrid collaborates and actively participates 
in the celebration of Science Week, organized by the 
Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport of the Community 
of Madrid, which scheduled visits to various facilities 
for 15 days in November.  384 visitors were received 
in 2017. Staff members at several different levels of 
the Company collaborate on this activity: Operations, 
Workshops, Training, CTI and Environment.

In 2017, Institutional Affairs, in coordination with the 
Corporate Responsibility Service, worked with 15 
NGOs to process authorisations for the promotion and 
recruitment of partners for the network’s  installations. 

All work is intended to strengthen the presence and 
image of Metro de Madrid among its regular and 
potential customers, and to enhance its reputation.
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Annex
In 2017 Metro de Madrid was a member of the following associations 
and organisations:

AED 
(Spanish Association of Executives) 

AET 
(Spanish Transport Association)

AGERS 
(Spanish Risk and Insurance Association) 

AMRE 
(Association of Prominent Spanish Brands)

APD 
(Association for Management Progress) 

ASCOM 
(Association of Compliance Experts)

HR Management Association

AUSAPE 
(Spanish Association of Sap Users)

AUTELSI 
(Spanish Association of Telecommunications and 
Information Society Users)

Cel Logística

Spanish Energy Club 

Association of Civil Engineers 

CPONET
(CPO Networking)

CUMPLEN
(Association of Regulatory Compliance Professionals)

DEC
(Association for Customer Experience Development)

Communication Study
(Internal Communication Forum)

FORÉTICA
(Corporate Social Responsibility)

SERES Foundation
(Responible Foundation, Society and Business)

IE Club Benchmarking
(Instituto De Empresa)

ISMS
(Association for the Promotion of Information Security)

Madrid Subterra

Global Compact 

PRL Innovación 
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Management Data 
The Company posted Euro 4.28 million in profits for the 
year.

The year’s commercial revenues totalled Euro 49 million, largely maintenance work for third parties, advertising 
and external contracts, broken down as follows: 

2017
(in millions of euros)

- 109.39 - 109.10Amortisation 0.29 - 0.27

- 81.36

868.24 883.65

49.26 48.33

42.25 50.96

- 371.55 - 377.42

- 81.37

- 413.13 - 388.73

- 1.71 - 1.40

- 4.70 - 4.39

0.00 - 1.58

Deviations

Income 

Operating income 

Commercial income 

Other operating income

TOTAL INCOME

Human Resources

Utilities 

External services

Taxes

General Information

Other expenses

-0.01

15.41 1.77

- 0.93 - 1.89

8.71 20.62

- 5.87 1.58

0.01

24.40 - 5.91

0.31 -18.13

0.31 - 6.60

- 1.58    -

Budget Real Value %

Deviations

Expenses Budget Real Value %

- 14.50 - 14.68Financial - 0.18 1.24

TOTAL EXPENSES

959.75 982.94 23.19 2.42

RESULT

-996.35 - 978.66 17.69 1.78

- 36.60 4.28

15% - Advertisement

4% - Optical fibre 

2% -  Commercial space

2% - Consulting

67% - International work 

10% - Miscellaneous

Commercial Income
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Other management data 

The Company anticipates an uptick in business in 2018 
based on demand in 2017.

The Company centralises the management of financial 
risk in the Finance Division which has established 
mechanisms for controlling risks. 

The Company is exposed to different types of risk: 
credit risk (negligible), market risk (under the current 
Framework Agreement with the Madrid Regional 
Transport Consortium, the financial system is based 
on fares that are sufficient to cover the actual cost 
under normal production and operating conditions and 
therefore the Directors believe that the risk of price 
fluctuations would not have a significant impact on 
the company) and liquidity risk (the Company keeps its 
cash and cash equivalents in highly reputable financial 
institutions) which is controlled according to the 
conditions for investing excess liquidity defined in the 
General Budget Act of the Autonomous Community of 
Madrid and applicable to public companies. 

In 2017, the Company paid its suppliers within 44.3 days 
on average. 

The Company had no transactions with treasury stock 
in 2017.

Regarding relevant events after the year-end closing 
date, on 14 February 2018 the Tax and Social Security 
authorities charged the Company in two different 
documents with a series of violations purportedly 
committed by the Company in relation to the use of 
asbestos in the performance of maintenance work on 
rolling stock without taking the required safety measures. 
The amount of the fine was €191,000. The processing 
of the administrative case has been suspended and 
therefore the Company has not to date been able to 
present arguments before the case is forwarded to the 
Public Prosecutor’s office, which will determine whether 
actions will be taken against the parties responsible for 
the violations.  Because no legal action of any kind has 

been taken to date in relation to these cases and no 
claims have been filed in or out of court by possible 
victims, including claims for settlements for affected 
workers or any other type of claim regarding the use 
of asbestos, it is impossible for Company management 
to estimate the impact, if any, of the events and their 
potential impact on the 2017 annual accounts. 
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Technical variables 2007 2012 2017
Average network length (km) 267.44  292.41 293.91

Network length (km) at 31 December  283.34  292.41 293.91

Number of stations 292 300 301

Automatic ticketing vending machines 1,611 1,526 1,264

Turnstiles 2,430 2,700 2,692

Escalators 1,574 1,656 1,699

Travellators 26 38 38

Lifts 436 519 523

Monitors 486 801 832

Interphones 4,610 5,305 5,282

Operating fleet (no. of cars) 2,157 2,303 2,341

Light rail units 8 8 8

Average age of fleet (years 10.6 13.4 17.04

Total trips per year (in millions) 687.71  601.55 626.4

No. of legs in Metro (in millions) 1,027.78 892 919.15

Millions of trips per day max. demand 2.59 2.27 2.5

No. of rush hour trains 334 318 340

Available places offered per km (millions) 32,941  34,419 34,529

Production: million cars per km 185.71  193.78 192.36

Total energy consumption (GWh)  715.09  713.22 600.48

. Traction energy consumption (GWh) 501.21  466.75 399.88

. Auxiliary Service energy consumption (GWh) 213.88  246.47 200.6

Total equivalent staff 6,706 6,921 6,395

Average equivalent staff 6,343 6,936 6,412

Training hours 544,126  241,500 229,544

Training hours per agent 85.78  34.82 27.54

Financial information (thousands euro) 2007 2012 2017
Investments 163,625 28,545 118,957

Total income 1,103,640 935,738 982,941

   . Operations 952,046 808,993 883,650

   . Grants 576 1,400 710

   . Other income 151,018 125,345 98,582

Total expenses 1,076,556 1,017,425 978,661

  . Operational 927,123 880,036 854,880

    . Human Resources 301,929 359,303 377,421

    . Energy 67,769 75,898 64,990

   Metro de Madrid Evolution Ratios
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Balance Sheet

EUROS EUROS
Balances at 31/12/2017 Balances at 31/12/2016ASSETS

A) NON-CURRENT ASSETS

 I. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (NOTE 5) 6,031 7,555

3. Patents, licenses, trademarks and similar 48 54

5. Computer software 3,597 4,823

6. Other intangible assets 2,386 2,678

II. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (NOTE 6) 1,293,132 1,282,155

1. Land and buildings 723,745 718,628

2. Plant, machinery, equipment, furniture and other assets 533,891 518,527

3. Work in progress and advance payments 35,496 45,000

 IV. N/C INVESTMENTS IN GROUP COMPANIES AND ASSOCIATES (NOTE 8.2) 32,501 32,487

1. Equity instruments 28,184 28,184

2. Loans to companies 4,317 4,303

 V. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (NOTE 8.1) 28,533 27,903

2. Loans to third parties 3,144 2,196

5. Other financial assets 25,389 25,707

 VI. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (NOTE 14.5) 966 1,057

1. Anticipated corporate income tax 966 1,057

 VIII. NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUALS (NOTE 13) 67,275 73,328

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,428,438 1,424,485

B) CURRENT ASSETS

 II. INVENTORIES (NOTE 9) 12,240 15,077

2. Raw materials and other supplies 12,240 15,077

III. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (NOTE 8.1) 70,587 311,606

1. Trade receivables for sales and services rendered 14,795 250,885

2. Clients, group companies and associates 5,324 7,034

3. Sundry receivables 4,394 5,833

4. Human Resources 3,550 3,676

6. Other tax credits 42,524 44,178

 IV. CURRENT INVESTMENTS IN GROUP COMPANIES AND ASSOCIATES (NOTE 8.2) 9 9

2. Loans to associated enterprises 9 9

V. CURRENT FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (NOTE 8.1) 111 189

5. Other financial assets 111 189

VI. CURRENT PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUALS (NOTE 15) 6,096 3,641

VII. CASH AND EQUIVALENT LIQUID ASSETS (NOTE 8.1) 147,135 12,019

1. Cash 147,135 12,019

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 236,178 342,541

TOTAL ASSETS    1,664,616 1,767,026
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EUROS EUROS

Balances at 31/12/2017 Balances at 31/12/2016LIABILITIES

A) SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (NOTE 10)

A.-1) SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY -125,729 -131,884
 

I. REGISTERED CAPITAL 17,977 17,977

III. RESERVES 426,068 424,194

1. Legal and statutory reserves 2,817 2,817

2. Other reserves 423,251 421,377

V. FROM PRIOR YEARS -574,055 -505,582

1. Tax loss carryforwards from 2009 -17,192 -17,192

2. Tax loss carryforwards from 2010 -74,595 -74,595

3. Tax loss carryforwards from 2011 -10,930 -10,930

4. Tax loss carryforwards from 2012 -81,688 -81,688

5. Tax loss carryforwards from 2013 -218,817 -218,817

5. Tax loss carryforwards from 2014 -29,756 -29,756

5. Tax loss carryforwards from 2015 -72,604 -72,604

6. Tax loss carryforwards from 2016 -68,473 0

VII. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 4,281 -68,473

1. Current year 4,281 -68,473

A.-2) VALUE ADJUSTMENTS 0 -546

A.-3) GRANTS, DONATIONS AND BEQUESTS RECEIVED 485,129 521,283

1. Capital grants 482,642 518,774

2. Other capital grants 2,487 2,509

TOTAL EQUITY 359,400 388,853

B) NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

I. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS (NOTE 11.) 51,659 60,881

1. Long term obligations to personnel 35,629 43,185

4. Other provisions 16,030 17,696

II. NON-CURRENT PAYABLES 781,939 778,608

2. Bank borrowings (NOTE 12.1) 674,430 688,351

3. Payables under finance leases (NOTE 7.1) 42,396 48,398

4. Personnel (NOTE 12.1) 0 547

5. Other financial liabilities (NOTE 12.2) 5,238 5,843

6. Other non-current debt 59,875 35,469

IV.  DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Note 14.7) 1,216 1,306

V. NON-CURRENT PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUALS (NOTE 13.) 3,302 4,326

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 838,116 845,121

C) CURRENT LIABILITIES

II. CURRENT PROVISIONS (NOTE 11.2) 11,011 17,536

1. Current provisions 11,011 17,536

III. CURRENT PAYABLES 133,027 194,809

2. Bank borrowings (NOTE 12.1 and 8.1) 88,599 119,778

3. Payables under finance leases (NOTE 7.1) 7,578 7,796

5. Other financial liabilities (NOTE 12.2) 36,850 67,235

V. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Note 12.4.) 322,946 320,591

1. Suppliers 62,721 61,767

2. Suppliers, group and associated companies (NOTE 18) 342 248

3. Sundry payables (NOTE 12.4.) 232,905 230,552

4. Personnel (Pending compensation) 12,790 13,633

6. Other taxes payable (NOTE 14.1) 13641 13599

7. Advance payments from customers 547 792

VI . PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUALS (Note 15) 116 116

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 467,100 533,052

TOTAL LIABILITIES   1,664,616 1,767,026
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Income Statment
EUROS EUROS

Balance at 31/12/2017 Balance at 31/12/2016INCOME STATEMENT
A) CONTINUING OPERATIONS

1. Net turnover 883,649 861,779

a) Sales (NOTE 17.c.) 883,649 861,779

3.- Work performed by the company on its own assets 192 200

4.- Supplies (NOTE 9.) -14,460 -14,461

b) Consumption of raw materials and other consumable materials -14,561 -13,902

d) Impairment of goods for resale, raw materials and other suppliers 101 -559

5.- Other operating revenue 49,739 47,469

a) Ancillary and other income 49,029 46,967

b) Operating  grants released to income during 
the year (NOTE 10.c) 710 502

6.- Staff charges (NOTE 17.a.) -377,420 -359,851

a) Wages, salaries and similar -285,647 -269,791

b) Employee benefits -91,773 -90,060

7.- Other operating expenses -461,722 -443,477

a) External services (NOTE 17.b.) -459,919 -440,295

b) Taxes -1,344 -2,335

c) Losses, impairment and changes in 
trade provisions -459 -847

8.- Fixed asset depreciation (NOTES 5 and 6) -109,103 -107,873

9.- Allocation of grants for non-financial 
assets and others  (NOTE 10.h) 40,024 43,846

10.- Excess provisions 3,977 10,177

11.- Impairment and profit/(loss) on fixed asset disposals -260 56

b) Profit/loss on disposals and other -260 56

17.- Other profit (loss) (NOTE 17.d.) 3,951 -90,754

a) Other revenues 4,279 296

b) Other expenses -328 -91,050

A.1 ) OPERATING RESULTS 18,567 -52,889

12.- Financial Income 447 556

a) Shares in equity instruments 0 0

a.1.-) Group companies and associates 0 0

a.2.-) Third parties --

b) Negotiable securities and other financial instruments 447 556

b.1.-) Group companies and associates 17 17

b.2.-) Third parties 407 496

b.3-) Financial interest capitalised 23 43

13.- Financial Income -14,665 -16,064

a) Payable to group companies and associates

b) Payable to third parties -14,665 -16,064

15.- Exchange differences -13 8

A.2) FINANCIAL RESULTS -14,231 -15,500

A.3) PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 4,336 -68,389

17.-Corporate tax (NOTE 14.3) -55 -84

A.4) PROFIT/LOSS FOR YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 4,281 -68,473

A.5) PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE YEAR 4,281 -68,473
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Statement of Change in Equity for the Fiscal Years Ended 31 
December 2017 and 2016

Statement of recognised income and expenses for the fiscal years ended 31 
December 2017 and 2016.  

Notes to the 
financial statements

2017 2016

A) Profit/loss for the year 4,281 -68,473

Income and expense recognised directly in equity
I. From financial instruments

1. Financial assets available for sale
2. Other income/ expenses

II. From cash flow hedges 546 145
III. Grants, donations and bequests received

1. Additions for the year Nota 10 4,277 2,859
2. Removals for the year 

IV. Actuarial gains and losses and other adjustments
V. Tax effect Nota 10 -11 -7

B) Total income and expenses carried directly to 
equity (I + II + III + IV + V) 

4,812 2,997

Transfers to income statement
VI.  Measurement of financial instruments

1. Financial assets available for sale
2. Other income/ expenses

VII. From cash flow hedges
VIII. Grants, donations and bequests received

1. Grants carried to the income statement Nota 10 -40,024 -43,846
2. Adjustment to prior year grants Nota 10 -428 123
3. Others Nota 10 -69 -387

IX. Tax effect Nota 10 101 283

C) Total transfers to the income statement (VI+VII+VIII+IX) -40,420 -43,827

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE (A+B+C) -31,327 -109,303

Thousand euro
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Statement of total change in equity for the fiscal years 31 December 
2017 and 2016.  

Registered Uncalled

C. BALANCE AT 2015 YEAR END 14,084 - - 420,517 - -432,978 - -72,604 - - -690 572,760 501,089

I. Adjustments due to criteria changes 2015 -6,852 -6,852

D. 2016 ADJUSTED OPENING BALANCE 14,084 - - 413,665 - -432,978 - -72,604 - - -690 572,760 494,237

I. Total recognised income and expenses - - - - - - -68,473 144 -40,974 -109,303

II. Operations with shareholders or owners - - - - - - - - - - - -

1. Capital increases
2. (-) Capital reductions
3. Conversion of financial liabilities into equity 
(conversion of debentures, debt forgiveness)
4. (-) Dividends paid
5. Trading in treasury shares (net)
6. Increase (reduction) in equity resulting from a  
business combination
7. Other operations with shareholders or owners

3,893 - - - - - - - - - - - 3,893

III. Other variations in equity - - - 10,529 - -72,604 - 72,604 - - - -10,503 26

C. BALANCE AT 2016 YEAR END 17,977 - - 424,194 - -505,582 - -68,473 - - -546 521,283 388,853
I. Adjustments due to criteria changes 2016 0

II. Adjustments due to errors in 2015

D. 2017 ADJUSTED OPENING BALANCE 17,977 424,194 -505,582 -68,473 -546 521,283 388,853

I. Total recognised income and expenses - - - - - - 4,281 546 -36,154 -31,327

II. Operations with shareholders or owners - - - - - - - - - - - - -

1. Capital increases
2. (-) Capital reductions
3. Conversion of financial liabilities into equity 
(conversion of debentures, debt forgiveness)
4. (-) Dividends paid
5. Trading in treasury shares (net)
6. Increase (reduction) in equity resulting from a 
business combination
7. Other operations with shareholders or owners

- - - - - - - - - - - -

III. Other variations in equity - - - 1,874 - -68,473 68,473 - - 1,874

B. CLOSING BALANCE, DECEMBER 2017    17,977 - - 426,068 - -574,055 - 4,281 - - 0 485,129 359,400

TOTAL

Capital

Share
premium Reserves

Prior-year
results

Other
shareholder

contributions

Results for
the year

(Interim
dividend)(Treasury stock)

Other equity 
instruments

Grants, donations 
and bequests 

received

Value 
adjustments

Thousand euro
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Cash Flow Statement for the Fiscal Years Ended 31 December 
2017 And 2016

    CASH FLOW STATEMENT 2017 2016

A) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS

  1. Pre-tax results for the year 4,336 -68,389

  2. Adjustments to results 62,597 157,764

         - Fixed asset depreciation (+) 109,103 107,873

         - Value adjustments for impairment (+/-) -5,027

         - Change in provisions (+/-) -15,748 -7,792

         - Release of grants (-) -40,024 -43,846

         - Profit/ loss on write-off and disposal of fixed assets (+/-) 260 86,912

         - Profit/loss on write-off and disposal of financial instruments (+/-)

         - Financial income (-) -447 -556

         - Financial expenses (+) 14,665 16,063

         - Gains/losses on exchange (+/-) -13 -8

         - Change in fair value of financial instruments (+/-)

         - Other income and expenses (+/-) -172 -882

  3. Changes in working capital 276,927 -148,360

         - Stocks (+/-) 2,938 -985

         - Debtors and other receivables (+/-) 244,212 -79,646

         - Other current assets (+/-) 78 -122

         - Trade and other payables (+/-) 2,355 -31,921

         - Other current liabilities (+/-) -43 -83

         - Current accruals and deferred income (+/-) -2,454 -2,764

         - Other non-current assets and liabilities 29,841 -32,839

  4. Other cash flow from operations -14,410 -14,655

         - Interest paid (-) -14,816 -15,151

         - Dividends received (+)

         - Interest charged (+) 406 496

         - Income tax received (paid) (+/-)

         - Other payments (collections) (+/-)

  5. Cash flows from operations (+/-1+/-2+/-3+/-4) 329,450 -73,640

B) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTMENTS 2017 2016

  6. Paid on investments (-) -149,907 -84,105

         - Group companies and associates (-)

         - Intangible assets (-) -1,785 -3,627

         - PPE (-) -147,492 -76,529

         - Investment properties (-)

         - Other financial assets (+/-) -630 -3,949

         - Non-current assets held for sale (-)

         - Non-current deposits and guarantees

         - Other assets (-)

  7. Amounts collected from divestitures 0 3,413

         - Group companies and associates (+)

         - Intangible assets (+)

         - Property, plant and equipment (+) 0 0

         - Investment properties (+) 0

         - Other financial assets (+) (Non-current financial investments) 0 3,413

         - Non-current assets held for sale (+)

         - Other assets (+)

  8. Cash flows from investments (7-6) -149,907 -80,692

Thousand euro
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C) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2017 2016

 9. Expenses and payments for equity instruments 6,351 0

         - Equity instrument issues (+) (capital increases)

         - Amortisation of equity instruments (-)

         - Acquisition of treasury stock equity instruments (-)

         - Disposal of own equity instruments (+)

         - Grants, donations and bequests received (+) 6,351 0

10. Income and expense from liability instrument financing -50,791 147,516

   a) Issues 222,000 213,614

          Bonds and other negotiable securities (+)

          Bank borrowings (+) 222,000 213,614

          Payables to Group companies and associates (+)

          Other debts (+)

   b) Return and amortisation of -272,791 -66,098
          Debentures and other marketable securities (-)

          Bank borrowings (-) -272,791 -66,098
          Payables to Group companies and associates (-)

         Other payables (-)

11. Payments for dividends and remunerations for other equity instruments

         - Dividends (+)

         - Yields on other equity instruments (+)

12. Cash flows from financing activities (+ -9+/-10-11) -44,440 147,516

D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATIONS 13 8

E) NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS 135,116 -6,808

Cash or cash equivalents at beginning of the year 12,019 18,827

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 147,135 12,019
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
1. About the Company

Metro de Madrid, S.A. (hereinafter the Company) was 
incorporated on 24 January 1917 as a private limited 
company.  With the passage of Legislative Royal 
Decree 13/1978 of 7 June 1978 and Law 32/1979 of 
8 November 1979, the company was expropriated by 
the government, with 25% of its shares acquired by the 
provincial government and the remaining 75% by the 
City of Madrid. 

Subsequently, in 1986, the shares of Compañía 
Metropolitano  de Madrid, S.A., as it was then called, 
were  handed over to the Autonomous Region of Madrid 
and the Madrid City Council.

Under Article 2.1 of Royal Decree 869/1986 of 11 April 
1986, the state-owned assets assigned to the operation 
of the service were transferred to the Autonomous 
Community of Madrid. 

Subsequently, on 24 and 30 December 1986, the 
Autonomous Community of Madrid and the Madrid City 
Council transferred the rights over the shares in the 
company formerly known as Compañía Metropolitano 
de Madrid, S.A. to the Madrid Regional Transport 
Consortium (CRTM). 

Under the general collaboration protocol signed on 12 
December 2011 between the Autonomous Community 
of Madrid, the Madrid City Council and the Madrid 
Regional Transport Consortium concerning the collective  
passenger rail transport service rendered by Metro  de 
Madrid, S.A., the Autonomous Community of Madrid  
and Madrid City Council recovered all of the rights over 
the shares transferred to the Madrid Regional Transport 
Consortium.  The Madrid City Council then transferred 
title to all of the assets and rights it held inherent to 
the provision of the transport service on the network  
operated by Metro de Madrid, S.A. to the Autonomous  
Community of Madrid, in particular, the 75% interest  
held by Madrid City Council in the capital of Metro de  

Madrid, S.A.  This share transfer was effective as of 28  
December 2011, pursuant to the Fiscal Measures Act  
(Law 6/2011).  Pursuant to article 13.1 of the Revised  
Income Tax Law, the Company has been filed at the  
Commercial Registry as a sole proprietorship (“Sociedad  
Unipersonal”).  

According to article 2 of its articles of association, the 
Company’s corporate purpose consists of:

a) Management and operation of rail service in the 
Madrid  metropolitan area. 
 
b) Design, construction, management and operation of 
modes of transport for passengers and/or cargo.  
 
c) Design, construction, management and operation  
of means of cable or non-cable transport, signals or  
communications, either directly or in collaboration with  
third parties, after obtaining the pertinent licences, as 
needed. 

d) Management of its assets and generation of returns  
thereon by any means, directly or in collaboration with  
third parties, and any type of civil engineering works  
and construction, with the exception of activities for 
which the law stipulates special requisites that are not 
met by this Company.

Some or all of the activities enumerated above may be 
carried out by the company indirectly through interests 
in other companies with identical or similar business 
objectives.

The Company’s primary activity is the comprehensive 
operation of public rail transport in the Autonomous  
Community of Madrid, regulated for the 2016 and 
2017 fiscal years in a Programme Agreement signed 
with the Madrid Regional Transport  Consortium on 
1 March 2016.   On  29 December 2017, the Company 
and the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium signed 
a Programme  Agreement for the 2018 fiscal year, 
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whereunder they agreed that the term of the agreement 
signed on 1 March 2016 would continue to apply until 
the effective date of a new Programme Agreement or 
until 31 December 2018.  

In line with the financial system in place since 1 January  
2003, regulated in Law 6/2002 of 27 June 2002, partially 
amending Law 5/1985 which created the Madrid  
Regional Transport Consortium (CRTM), the Framework  
Agreement signed by Metro de Madrid and the CRTM  
provides for a financial regime for public transport 
services  governed by the principle of sufficient fares 
to cover all actual costs under normal conditions of 
productivity  and organisation, based on an average 
fare per trip.   As a result, on 1 January 2003 operating 
grants  were discontinued and replaced by a system of 
compensation directly linked to the service provided.
 
Metro de Madrid S.A. holds equity investments in 
associates. Under prevailing legislation, the Company 
does not prepare consolidated annual accounts because  
it only holds investments in subsidiaries that are not, as 
a whole, material for the purposes of giving a true  and 
fair view (see note 8.2).

In 2010 the Company created a branch office in Ecuador 
under the name of “Metro de Madrid S.A., Sucursal  en 
Ecuador” to service the consultancy projects underway 
in that country.    On 19 December 2017, the Company’s 
board of directors agreed to close the branch office, 
cancelling the operating permit and liquidating the 
company as called for under the law of Ecuador.

The registered offices of Metro de Madrid, S.A. are 
located  at Calle Cavanilles 58, in Madrid.
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2. Basis of presentation of the annual 
accounts 

a) True Image

The accompanying annual accounts were obtained 
from the Company’s accounting records and prepared  
in accordance with Royal Decree 1514/2007 which 
approved the Spanish General Chart of Accounts and 
modifications thereto, and the Ministry of Economy and 
Finance Order EHA/733/2010 on accounting aspects of 
public  companies operating in certain circumstances, 
to give  a true and fair view of the Company’s equity 
and financial  position at 31 December 2017, as well 
as the  results of its operations and cash flows for the 
year  then ended.  The annual accounts were prepared 
by  the Company’s directors for submission to the sole  
shareholder for approval and it is believed that they will 
be approved without modification.

b) Non-mandatory accounting 
principles

No non-mandatory accounting principles were applied. 
In addition, when formulating the annual accounts, the 
Directors considered all of the mandatory accounting 
standards and principles that would have a significant 
effect on the annual accounts. 

c) Critical measurement issues and 
estimates of uncertainty

In preparing the annual accounts, the directors must 
use relevant estimates, judgments and hypotheses 
in the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The aspects that involve the most significant 
judgments, complexities, hypotheses and estimates for 
the preparation of the consolidated annual accounts 
are summarised below.

 > The hypotheses used in the actuarial 
calculation of the pension commitments and 
liabilities (see Note 16). 

 > Classification de leases as operating or 
financial leases (See Note 7).

 > Analysis of possible impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets (see 
Note 4.d).

 > Analysis de impairment indicators and 
impairment tests of investments in associates 
(See Note 4.f).

 > Calculation of provisions and analysis of 
contingencies (see Note 11).

 > Recognition of deferred tax assets (see Note 
14.5).

Whilst these estimates are based on the best information 
available at the end of 2017, it is possible that they may 
have to be modified (upward or downward) in future 
fiscal years due to events that may take place in the 
future, which would be done in a prospective manner.

d) Comparison of the information

For each item on the balance sheet, income statement,  
statement of change in equity, statement of cash 
flows and the notes to the 2017 financial statements, 
comparative figures for 2016 as approved by the sole 
shareholder at the general meeting of shareholders 
held on 6 June 2017 are also presented.

e) Grouping of items

Certain items on the balance sheet, the income 
statement,  the statement of change in financial 
position and  the cash flow statement are grouped 
together to make  them easier to understand. However, 
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to the extent that  it is significant, the information has 
been included separately in the pertinent notes to the 
financial statements.

f) Correction of errors

When preparing the accompanying annual accounts, no  
significant prior year errors were detected that required  
the 2016 figures to be corrected in the annual accounts 
for 2017.

g) Functional and reporting currency:

The financial statements are expressed in thousands 
of euros, rounded to the nearest thousandth. The 
company’s operating and reporting currency is the euro. 

h) Going concern principle 

At 31 December 2017, the Company reported income 
of EUR 4,281,000, in contrast with the losses reported 
in prior fiscal years (losses of EUR 68,473,000 at 
31  December 2016) with negative working capital 
of EUR 230,922,000 at 31 December de 2017 (EUR 
-190,511,000 at 31 December 2016).

Working capital  reflected in “Other payables” under 
current liabilities  includes a balance payable to the 
Department of Infrastructure  of the Autonomous 
Community of Madrid (sole shareholder of Metro de 
Madrid), amounting to EUR 143,578,000 (see note 12.4).

The directors have prepared these accounts on a going  
concern basis in view of the following circumstances: 
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Costs

Chapter 1: Loans to employee 399,437

Chapter 2: Cost of goods and services 500,097

Chapter 3: Financial expense 13,223

Chapter 6: Real estate investments 126,197

Chapter 8: Financial assets 14

Chapter 9: Financial liabilities 85,000

1,123,968

Income

Chapter 5: Equity income 1,038,968

Chapter 9: Financial liabilities 85,000

1,123,968

 > The 2018 General  Budgets for the 
Autonomous Community of Madrid reflect a 
balance of EUR 1,123,968 receivable by Metro de 
Madrid, S.A., as detailed below (in thousands of 
euros):

 > The Company’s performances than to the 
recovery of demand for mass transport in the 
Autonomous Community of Madrid and the 
implementation of a series of efficiency and 
improvement plans. 

 > The Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 
has stated in relation to the balances in its favour 
included in the Company’s current liabilities 
at 31 December 2017 (see note 18) that it 
will  undertake the necessary transactions to 
guarantee the  Company’s financial equilibrium.

 > The Company also has EUR 91,500,000 in 
unused credit (see note 8.1.2.). 
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3. Distribution of profit (loss)

The losses incurred by the Company at 31 December 
2016 and approved by the sole shareholder on 6 June 
2017 were as follows (in euros): 

AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION Amount

2016 profit/(loss) -68,472,814.77

TOTAL  -68,472,814.77

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT (LOSS) Amount

To prior-year losses -68,472,814.77

TOTAL  -68,472,814.77

The proposal for the distribution of profit/loss to made 
by the board of directors to the sole shareholder for 
approval is as follows:

AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION Amount

2017 profit/(loss) 4,280,606.14

TOTAL  4,280,606.14

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT (LOSS) Amount

Compensation of tax loss carryforwards 4,280,606.14

TOTAL  4,280,606.14

In euros
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4. Recording and measurement 
standards

a) Financial costs capitalised

For intangible assets that require more than one year 
to be ready for use, operation or sale, the Company 
includes the financial expenses associated with the 
specific or generic financing directly ascribable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of such assets 
in the cost. 

To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for  
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the interest  
eligible for capitalisation is determined by the financing  
costs.
 
The Company begins capitalising borrowing costs as  
part of the cost of a qualifying asset when it incurs  
expenditures for the asset, interest is accrued, and 
it  undertakes activities that are necessary to prepare 
the  asset for its intended use, operation or sale; and 
ceases capitalising borrowing costs when the activities 
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended  
use, operation or sale are complete or substantially  
complete, even though the necessary administrative  
permits may not have been obtained. Interruptions do 
not count. 

Capitalised borrowing costs are recognised in the 
income  statement under “Capitalised borrowing costs”. 

Borrowing costs are no longer capitalised if the 
activities  that are necessary to prepare the asset for its 
intended use are interrupted.

b) Intangible fixed assets

The goods and rights included in this item are measured 
at cost of acquisition or production and carried at cost 
on the balance sheet, less any accumulated amortisation 

and impairment
Advances on account of fixed assets are initially 
recognised at cost. 

Costs subsequently incurred in connection with 
intangible assets are recognised as an expense, unless 
there is an increase in the profits that are expected to 
be earned on those assets in the future.

The annual amortisation charge is calculated using the 
straight-line method, based on the estimated useful life 
of the goods, as follows: 

 > Patents and trademarks   10 years
 > Computer Applications    3 years

The amortizable amount is understood as the 
acquisition costs less the residual value, if any. The 
Company considers the residual value of an asset to be 
zero unless:

a) There is a third-party commitment to buy the asset as 
the end of its useful life.
b) There is an active market for the intangible asset and:
      i. The residual value with reference to this market 
can be determined; and
       ii. That market is likely to exist at the end of the 
asset’s useful life.

The Company evaluates and determines the value 
corrections due to impairment and the reversal of 
losses due to the impairment of the value of intangible 
assets based on the principles described in part d) 
“Impairment of the value of non-financial assets subject 
to amortisation or depreciation.”

c) Property, plant and equipment 

The assets included under this heading are measured at 
cost of acquisition or production, and carried at cost on 
the balance sheet, less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment.
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Costs incurred to enlarge or improve these assets, 
and which extend their useful life, are capitalised 
as an increase in the cost of the asset.   Repairs and 
maintenance costs which do not extend the useful lives 
of the related assets are expensed when incurred.

Advances on account of fixed assets are initially 
recognised at cost. 

Production costs, which comprise warehouse materials, 
direct labour and indirect costs incurred in making the 
investment, are capitalised under line item A) 3. on the 
income statement as “Self-constructed assets”.

The Company’s balance sheet does not include the cost 
of infrastructure charged to the budgets of the various 
Public Administrations since 1956, of assets assigned 
to Metro de Madrid for operation, or the infrastructure 
assigned free of charge by the Department of 
Infrastructure under the Agreement signed on 2 July 
2012, whose special characteristics make it difficult to 
estimate their carrying amount.  The directors do not 
believe that this would have a significant effect on the 
annual accounts taken as a whole.

The annual depreciation charge is calculated using 
the straight-line method, allocating the depreciable 
amount of the assets on a systematic basis over their 
estimated useful life.  The estimated useful lives are as 
follows:

Infrastructure and superstructure  67 years
Tracks     10 years 
Industrial buildings and constructions 33 years 
Administrative buildings    50 years
Non-operations buildings   50 years 
Plant and machinery    17-10 years 
Other plant, machinery and furniture  10-3 years
Vehicles     25-7 years 
Other fixed assets    17-4 years 

Metro de Madid, S.A. reviews the residual value, useful 
life and depreciation method of tangible assets at 
the close of each fiscal year. Changes in previously 
established criteria are recognised as a change in 
estimates.

Subsequent to the initial recognition of an asset, the 
Group only capitalises the costs incurred to increase the 
capacity or productivity of the asset or to prolong its 
useful life. The cost of assets is derecognised as they 
are replaced. The cost of daily maintenance of property, 
plant and equipment is recorded as an expense on the 
income statement as it is incurred.

The Company evaluates and determines the value 
corrections due to impairment and the reversal of losses 
due to the impairment of the value of property, plant 
and equipment based on the principles described in 
part d) “Impairment of the value of non-financial assets 
subject to amortisation or depreciation.”
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d) Impairment of non-financial assets 
subject to amortisation or depreciation

Pursuant to Order EHA/733/2010 of 25 March 2010, the 
Company has considered that its property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets should be classified 
as non-cash-generating assets, as they are held for the 
purpose of rendering a service that benefits the public 
and, therefore, not for commercial gain.  In accordance 
with this classification, the Company only tests these 
assets for impairment when there are indications that 
they might be impaired.
 
In any case, the events or circumstances must be 
significant and have long-term effects. 

Where there are indications of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair 
value less cost to sell.  In 2017 and 2016, pursuant to 
Ministry of Economy and Finance Order EHA/733/2010, 
the value in use is the present value of the asset, 
maintaining its service potential, and is measured at the 
depreciated replacement cost. 
 
The impairment of assets that do not generate cash 
flows is measured individually, unless the service 
potential is not apparent, in which case the recoverable 
amount is calculated at the level of the operating unit 
or service to which the asset belongs.

The Company considers variations in passenger numbers 
and fixed asset obsolescence as indicators of possible 
impairment.  The number of passengers in 2016 and 
2017 was higher than in previous years, indicating a 
substantial recovery and thus a reduction in the impact 
of asset impairment. 

e) Leases

Leases in which, upon inception, the Company assumes 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership are classified as finance leases;  otherwise 
they are classified as operating leases.

Amendments to lease contract clauses, other 
than renewal, which would have led to a different 
classification had they been considered at the inception 
of the lease, are recognised as a new contract over the 
remaining term.   However, changes in estimates or 
circumstances do not entail a new classification.

e.1. Financial leases 

In finance leases in which the Company acts as the 
lessee, the cost of the leased assets is presented in 
the balance sheet, based on the nature of the leased 
asset, and, simultaneously, a liability is recognised for 
the same amount. This amount will be the lower of the 
fair value of the leased asset and the present value, at 
the inception of the lease, of the agreed minimum lease 
payments, including the price of the purchase option 
when there are no reasonable doubts that it will be 
exercised. The minimum lease payments do not include 
contingent rent, costs for services and taxes to be 
paid by and reimbursed to the lessor. The total finance 
charge is apportioned over the lease term and taken to 
the income statement in the period of accrual, using the 
effective interest method. Contingent rent is recognised 
as an expense for the period in which it is incurred.

The assets recognised for transactions of this nature 
are depreciated using criteria similar to those applied 
to items of property, plant and equipment taken as a 
whole.

e.2. Sale and leaseback transactions

Asset sale and leaseback transactions that meet the 
conditions for classification as a finance lease are 
considered as financing operations and, therefore, the 
nature of the asset is not changed and no profit or loss 
is recognised. 
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e.3. Operating leases 

Operating lease instalments are charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

f) Financial instruments. 

Financial instruments are classified on initial recognition 
as a financial asset, a financial liability or an own equity 
instrument in accordance with the economic substance 
of the contractual arrangement and the definitions 
of a financial asset, a financial liability and an equity 
instrument.

f.1. Recognition

The Company recognises financial instruments when it 
becomes party to the contract or legal transaction, in 
accordance with the terms set out therein. 

Debt instruments are recognised from the date on 
which the legal right to receive or the legal obligation 
to make a cash payment arises. Financial liabilities are 
recognised on the trade date.

Purchases and sales of financial assets arranged under 
conventional contracts, these being understood as 
contracts in which the mutual obligations of the parties 
must be discharged within a certain period of time 
established by law or by market conventions and which 
are not contracts for differences (CFDs) are recognised 
by the type of asset on the contract or settlement date. 
However, contracts for differences (CFDs) and those 
that are not consumed within the legally established 
time period are recognised as derivative financial 
instruments during the period of time between the 
contract date and the settlement date.
Operations with the foreign currency market are 
recognised on the settlement date, while financial 
assets traded on Spanish secondary stock markets, if 
they are equity instruments, are recognised on the trade 
date; if they are debt securities, they are recognised on 
the settlement date.

f.2. Financial assets 

f.2.1 Classification

The Company’s financial assets are classified as follows:

 > Loans and receivables: financial assets 
originating from the sale of goods or the 
rendering of services related to the Company’s 
commercial operations or those which, while 
non-commercial in origin, do not constitute 
equity instruments or derivatives, are receivable 
in a fixed or determinable amount and are not 
quoted in an active market.  

 > Equity investments in group and associated 
enterprises: Associates are entities over which 
the Company, either directly, or indirectly 
through subsidiaries, exercises significant 
influence. Significant influence is the power to 
impact decisions involving the financial and 
operating policies of a company without actually 
controlling or jointly controlling the company. 
The existence of potential voting rights that are 
exercisable or convertible at the end of each 
reporting period, including potential voting 
rights held by the Company or other entities, are 
considered when assessing whether an entity has 
significant influence.

 > Cash and cash equivalents: these include 
cash on hand and demand deposits in financial 
institutions.  They also include other short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. Investments maturing less than three 
months from the acquisition date are included in 
this category.

 > Hedging derivatives: these include derivative 
financial instruments associated with cash flow 
hedges. 
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f.2.2. Measurement 

Initial recognition 
Both loans and receivables and investments in equity 
instruments of associates are initially recognised at the 
fair value of the consideration given plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement 
Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. However, 
financial assets that have no established interest rate 
and are scheduled to mature or be settled in the near 
future are recognised at face value when the effect of 
updating them is negligible.

Investments in associates are measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment.   This impairment is calculated 
as the difference between the carrying amount and the 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use.  Value in use is 
calculated based on the Company’s share of the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from 
ordinary activities and from the disposal of the asset, or 
the estimated cash flows expected to be received from 
the distribution of dividends and the final disposal of 
the investment.

Impairment of an investment is limited to the amount 
of the investment, except when contractual, legal or 
constructive obligations have been assumed by the 
Company or payments have been made on behalf of 
the companies. In the latter case, provision is made 
according to the criteria described in section k) of this 
note.
The Company tests financial assets not carried at 
fair value for impairment at least at each year end. 
Impairment, when it occurs, is recorded in the income 
statement as the difference between the carrying value 
and the recoverable value of the financial asset.

In particular, corrections for impairment of trade and 
other receivables are recognised when estimated 

future cash flows are reduced or delayed due to debtor 
insolvency.   Metro de Madrid, S.A. calculates any such 
impairment on the basis of an individual analysis of 
each item.

Financial assets of parts of them are derecognised 
when they expire or when the rights to the cash flows 
from the financial assets have been transferred and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset have been transferred.

Hedging derivatives are initially recognised at fair value. 

The Company recognises the gain or loss on the 
fair value measurement of a hedging instrument in 
recognised income and expense. 

Hedge accounting is interrupted when the hedging 
instrument expires, is sold, concluded or exercised 
or when the conditions for hedge accounting are no 
longer met. At that time, any cumulative profit or loss 
on the hedging instrument that was recorded in equity 
remains in equity until the scheduled transaction takes 
place. When the hedged transaction is not expected 
to be carried out, the net profit or loss accumulated in 
equity is recognised in the income statement

f.3. Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities comprise debts and payables 
deriving from the purchase of goods and services 
relating to the Company’s commercial operations, or also 
those which, although non-commercial in origin, cannot 
be considered as derivative financial instruments. 
Debits and other payables are originally stated at the 
fair value of the consideration received, adjusted by the 
costs that are directly attributable to the transaction. 
The liabilities are subsequently stated at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the related 
obligation is extinguished, or the Company is legally 
released from responsibility for the liability either by 
process of law or by the creditor
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g) Inventories

Inventories stocked in a warehouse for use or as 
replacements are measured at weighted average cost, 
which under no circumstances exceeds market value. 

The Company makes provisions for impairment of 
inventories when their market value is lower than the 
cost of acquisition or production and this reduction is 
reversible.   If the reduction is irreversible, the Company 
derecognises the cost of acquisition or production of 
the inventories. Market value is understood to be the 
realisable value.

There are no restrictions on the availability of inventories 
due to guarantees, pledges, security deposits or similar 
commitments. 

h) Transactions and balances in foreign 
currency 

Foreign currency transactions are converted to 
euros using the spot exchange rate prevailing at the 
transaction date. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies have been translated into euros at the 
closing rate, while non-monetary assets and liabilities 
measured at historical cost have been translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date. 

The positive and negative differences that arise when 
the foreign currency transactions are settled and the 
conversion to euros of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
the income statement.

i) Corporate tax 

The corporate tax income or expense includes both 
the current and deferred portions of the corporate tax 
income and expense.

Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable by 
the Company on taxable profit for the year. Current tax is 
reduced by tax deductions and other income tax credits, 
excluding withholdings and payments on account, and 
the application of tax losses carried forward.

Deferred tax expense or income corresponds to the 
recognition and derecognition of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities. These include temporary differences, 
which are defined as the amounts which are expected 
to be paid or recovered in the future for differences 
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
and their tax value, as well as unused tax credits and 
deductions.  These amounts are recorded by applying 
to the temporary difference or tax credit the tax rate at 
which they are expected to be recovered or liquidated.

The Company recognises deferred tax liabilities in 
all cases, except where they arise from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable income.

Deferred tax assets derived from deductible temporary 
differences are recognised provided that it is probable 
that sufficient taxable income will be available against 
which they can be utilised.

The Company recognises the conversion of a deferred 
tax asset into a receivable from public entities when 
it becomes enforceable in accordance with prevailing 
tax legislation. For these purposes, the deferred tax 
asset is derecognised with a charge to the deferred 
income tax expense and a credit to current income tax 
is recognised for the account receivable.  Likewise, the 
Company recognises the exchange of a deferred tax 
asset for government debt securities when it acquires 
ownership thereof.

Nonetheless, assets arising from the initial recognition 
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of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable income, 
are not recognised.

In the absence of evidence to the contrary, it is not 
considered probable that the Company will have 
future taxable profit when the deferred tax assets are 
expected to be recovered in a period of more than ten 
years from the end of the reporting period, irrespective 
of the nature of the deferred tax asset; or, in the case 
of tax credits for deductions and other tax relief that 
are unused due to an insufficient amount of total tax, 
when there is reasonable doubt – after the activity or 
the income giving rise to entitlement to the deduction 
or tax credit has been rendered or received, respectively 
– as to whether the requirements for their offset will 
be met.

The Company only recognises deferred tax assets 
arising from tax loss carryforwards when it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be generated against 
which they may be offset within the period stipulated 
in applicable tax legislation, up to a maximum period of 
ten years, unless there is evidence that their recovery in 
a longer period of time is probable and tax legislation 
provides for their utilisation in a longer period or 
stipulates no time limit for their utilisation.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets that have 
not been recognised due to exceeding the ten-year 
recovery period to the extent that they can be offset 
without ten years of the closing date of the fiscal year 
or when there are sufficient temporary differences.

In order to determine future tax earnings, the Company 
takes tax planning opportunities into account to the 
extent that the Company has the intention or is likely to 
implement them.

j) Income and expenses 

Income and expenses are recorded based on the accrual 
principles, i.e., when the real movement of the goods 
and services they represent takes place, regardless of 
when the monetary or financial exchange associated 
with them occurs. 

k) Provisions and contingencies 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a 
present obligation (legal, contractual, constructive or 
tacit) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions 
are measured at the present value of the best possible 
estimate of the amount necessary to settle or transfer 
the obligation.

The financial effect of provisions is recognised as a 
finance cost in the income statement.

If it is not probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle an obligation, the provision is 
reversed. 

l) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognised as a liability 
when the Company has a detailed formal plan for the 
termination and there is a valid expectation among the 
affected employees that termination will arise either 
because the plan has already started to be implemented 
or because its main characteristics have been published. 

From 2014 to 2017, the Company settled the 
commitments undertaken for those years by paying 
the termination benefits associated with the workforce 
restructuring plan implemented at the end of 2013. 

The Company does not expect any further workforce 
restructuring plans or individual redundancies to be 
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carried out in 2018, other than potential disciplinary 
layoffs, and therefore does not consider it necessary to 
make additional provisions in this respect. In the event 
of a hypothetical termination, the benefit paid out 
would be considered a current year expense. 

m) Grants, donations and bequests 
received

Grants, donations and bequests associated with the 
acquisition of the Company’s fixed assets are recorded 
in recognised income and expense when, where 
applicable, they have been officially awarded, the 
conditions attached to them have been met or there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be received.

Grants received for activities linked to operations are 
credited to the income statement for each year 

Non-refundable capital grants, donations and bequests 
are measured at the fair value of the amount or 
asset received, depending on whether or not they are 
monetary grants, and are recognised as income over the 
same period and in proportion to the depreciation of 
the subsidised assets, or when the assets are disposed 
of or impaired. 

n) Related-party transactions

Related-party transactions are recognised at the fair 
value of the consideration extended or received. 

o) Pension commitments 

The Company has long-term commitments with 
employees, which have been considered as defined 
benefit commitments, based on their nature.

The Company recognises a provision equivalent to the 
difference between the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan assets 
out of which the obligations are to be settled (where 

the difference is significant), less any past service cost 
not yet recognised. 

Where this difference gives rise to an asset, the value 
of that asset may not exceed the present value of any 
benefits available to the Company in the form of direct 
reimbursements or reductions in future contributions, 
plus the part not yet recognised in profit and loss of any 
past service cost not yet recognised. Any adjustments 
the Company is required to make in respect of this asset 
ceiling are recognised directly in equity as reserves. 
Any adjustment that the Company may have to make 
in respect of this limit in the valuation of the asset is 
allocated directly to equity and recognised in reserves.

The present value of the obligation is determined 
through actuarial calculation methods and unbiased 
and mutually compatible financial and actuarial 
methods.

Any variations in the calculation of the present value 
of benefit obligations or the related plan assets at 
the reporting date due to actuarial gains and losses 
are recognised directly in equity, as reserves, in the 
reporting period in which they arise.  Actuarial gains 
and losses are due to changes in actuarial assumptions 
and to adjustments based on experience.

Past service costs are recognised in the income 
statement immediately – except for unvested rights, 
which are recognised in profit and loss on a straight-
line basis over the remaining period until such time 
as the rights are recognised in the income statement 
immediately – unless there is a reduction in the present 
value of the benefits available to the Company in the 
form of direct reimbursements or reductions in future 
contributions. In this case, the excess over that reduction 
is immediately accounted for in profit and loss.



166 2017 Annual Report



1672017 Annual Report

5. Intangible assets 

Details and movements in the cost of the items registered under this heading 
of the balances sheet in 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

FY 2017

FY 2016

Euro 7,000 were capitalised in 2017, reflecting borrowing costs on non-current loans considered as specific 
financing for projects with a duration of more than one year.  Borrowing costs of Euro 5,000 were capitalised in 
2016.

The changes in accumulated amortisation in 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 

FY 2016

ASSETS OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS INTERST CAPITALISED REMOVALS TRANSFERS CLOSING BALANCE

Patents and trademarks 102 - - - - 102

Computer software 87,424 1,548 - - 167 89,139

Intangible fixed assets 2,678 500 7 - -799 2,386

TOTAL 90,204 2,048 7 - -632 91,627

ASSETS OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS CAPITALISED INTEREST REMOVALS TRANSFERS CLOSING BALANCE

Patents and trademarks 102 - - - - 102

Computer software 84,428 2,088 - - 908 87,424

Intangible fixed assets 1,537 1,517 5 -61 -320 2,678

TOTAL 86,067 3,605 5 -61 588 90,204

YEARS OPENING FULLY 

OF USEFUL BALANCE AMORTISED

LIFE ASSETS 

Patents and trademarks 10 48 6 54 42

Computer software 3 82,601 2,941 85,542 83,042

TOTAL 82,649 2,947 85,596 83,084

ASSETS FUNDING CLOSING BALANCE

Patents and trademarks 10 42 6 48 42

Computer software 3 78,490 4,111 82,601 73,585

TOTAL 78,532 4,117 82,649 73,627

ASSETS

YEARS OPENING FULLY 

OF USEFUL BALANCE AMORTISED

LIFE ASSETS 

FUNDING CLOSING BALANCE

FY 2017

Thousand euro

Thousand euro

Thousand euro

Thousand euro



168 2017 Annual Report

6. Property, plant and equipment 

Details and movements in the cost of the items registered under this heading of the balances sheet in 2017 and 2016 are as follows:
Changes in the cost of property, plant and equipment in 2017 were as follows (thousand euro):

CAPITALISATION

OPENING BALANCE FINANCIAL EXPENSES

LAND AND BUILDINGS 1,044,942 26,576 0 3,711 0 1,075,229

1 INFRASTRUCTURE AND SUPERSTRUCTURE 735,708 8,139 0 1,421 0 745,268

2 TRACK 159,966 14,831 0 2,000 0 176,797

4 OC-GALLERIES 5,194 0 0 0 0 5,194
5 ADMINSITRATIVE BUILDINGS 11,414 35 0 15 0 11,464

6 INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 132,660 3,571 0 275 0 136,506

PLANT AND MACHINERY 1,081,263 55,408 -44 23,821 0 1,160,448

7 MACHINERY IN INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 29,162 45 0 42 0 29,249
8 MACHINERY AT ELECTRICAL SUBSTATIONS 82,183 470 0 1,166 0 83,819

9 TRANSFORMER ROOMS 5,196 0 0 0 0 5,196
10 ELECTRICAL ELECTROMECHANICAL INSTALLATIONS 181,210 10,437 -44 593 0 192,196

11 ELECTRONIC INSTALLATIONS AND AUTOMATONS 485,204 35,636 0 17,907 0 538,747

12 ESCALATORS AND LIFTS 227,483 8,057 0 2,302 0 237,842

13 OTHER TECHNICAL INSTALLATIONS 66,918 749 0 1,742 0 69,409

13B DEPOSITS FROM THIRD PARTIES 870 14 0 69 0 953
14 VEHICLES FOR INTERNAL USE 2,339 0 0 0 0 2,339

15 SANITATION INSTALLATIONS 698 0 0 0 0 698

OTHER PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND FURNITURE 32,700 736 -27 128 0 33,537

16 FURNITURE 16,533 281 0 70 0 16,884

17 COPY MACHINES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT 3,283 62 -27 0 0 3,318

18 TOOLS 12,884 393 0 58 0 13,335

VEHICLES 840,190 4,132 0 1,970 0 846,292

19 ROLLING STOCK 778,167 3,278 0 1,920 0 783,365

20 CARS 515 228 0 0 0 743

20C THIRD PARTY CARS 2,973 626 0 50 0 3,649

21 'GOODS ACQUIRED UNDER FINANCIAL LEASES 58,535 0 0 0 0 58.535

OTHER FIXED ASSETS 111,394 8,478 -2,060 2,186 0 119,998

22 DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT 47,347 1,488 0 838 0 49,673

23 SPARE PARTS FOR PPE PPE 40,298 1,732 -510 268 0 41,788

24 SPARE PARTS FOR PLANT 18,160 3,356 -1,550 724 0 20,690

24B THIRD PARTY SPARE PARTS 5,589 1,902 0 356 0 7,847

WORK IN PROGRESS 45,000 23,038 -1,374 -31,184 16 35,496

25 'ROLLING STOCK 4,488 1,028 0 315 0 5,831

26 PLANT 19,926 7,881 -188 -18,063 8 9,564

27 MACHINERY 77 321 -80 234 0 552

28 'DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT 305 555 -537 0 0 323

29 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 2,910 3,813 -402 -518 8 5,811

30 OTHER INVESTMENTS IN PROGRESS 17,294 9,440 -167 -13,152 0 13,415

TOTAL 3,155,489 118,368 -3,505 632 16 3,271,000

ADDITIONS TRANSFERS
CLOSING BALANCE

REMOVALS
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Changes in accumulated depreciation of property, plant  and equipment in 2017 are as follows (thousand euro):

FULLY

OPENING BALANCE PROVISION REMOVALS TRANSFERS CLOSING BALANCE DEPRECIATED

1. LAND AND BUILDINGS 326,314 25,170 0 0 351,484 86,838

INFRASTRUCTURE AND SUPERSTRUCTURE 152,042 11,291 0 0 163,333 2,225

TRACK 110,616 9,588 0 0 120,204 76,911

OC-GALLERIES 0 0 0 0 0

ADMINSITRATIVE BUILDINGS 4,207 505 0 0 4,712 0

THIRD PARTY  ADMIN BUILDINGS 0 0 0 0 0 0

INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 59,449 3,786 0 0 63,235 7,702

2. PLANT AND MACHINERY 693,085 59,997 0 -35 753,047 359,496

MACHINERY IN INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 26,182 820 0 -4 26,998 22,385

MACHINERY AT ELECTRICAL SUBSTATIONS 49,552 4,126 0 0 53,678 15,559

TRANSFORMER ROOMS 2,702 313 0 0 3,015 0

ELECTRICAL ELECTROMECHANICAL INSTALLATIONS 104,227 8,263 0 0 112,490 53,261

ELECTRONIC INSTALLATIONS AND AUTOMATONS 291,269 30,042 0 -31 321,280 145,077

ESCALATORS AND LIFTS 161,001 13,282 0 0 174,283 86,387

OTHER TECHNICAL INSTALLATIONS 54,927 3,037 0 0 57,964 34,039

DEPOSITS FROM THIRD PARTIES 290 78 0 0 368 0

VEHICLES FOR INTERNAL USE 2,246 33 0 0 2,279 2,118

SANITATION INSTALLATIONS 689 3 0 0 692 670

3. OTHER PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND FURNITURE 27,530 1,591 -27 0 29,094 21,948

FURNITURE 12,597 1,005 0 0 13,602 7,701

COPY MACHINES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT 3,066 64 -27 0 3,103 2,757

TOOLS 11,867 522 0 0 12,389 11,490

4. VEHICLES 743,666 13,657 0 -29 757,294 633,368

RAIL MATERIAL 683,672 12,936 0 380 696,988 574,380

CARS 474 17 0 0 491 453

THIRD PARTY CARS 985 704 0 -409 1,280 0

GOODS ACQUIRED UNDER FINANCIAL LEASES 58,535 0 0 0 58,535 58,535

5. OTHER FIXED ASSETS 82,739 5,741 -1,595 64 86,949 66,165

DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT 41,727 2,136 0 0 43,863 40.419

SPARE PARTS FOR PPE PPE 28,522 1,480 -430 29 29,601 21,815

SPARE PARTS FOR PLANT 11,049 1,443 -1,165 35 11,362 3,931

THIRD PARTY SPARE PART 1,441 682 0 0 2,123 0

TOTAL 1,873,334 106,156 -1,622 0 1,977,868 1,167,815
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Changes in the cost of property, plant and equipment in 2016 were as follows (thousand euro):

CAPITALISATION
OPENING BALANCE FINANCIAL EXPENSES

LAND AND BUILDINGS 1.011,332 25,247 -2 8,365 0 1,044,942

1 INFRASTRUCTURE AND SUPERSTRUCTURE 722,126 12,027 0 1,555 0 735,708

2 TRACK 148,357 8,599 -1 6,011 0 159,966

4 OC-GALLERIES 1,302 3,892 0 0 0 5,194

5 ADMINSITRATIVE BUILDINGS 11,271 143 0 0 0 11,414

5B THIRD PARTY ADMIN BUILDINGS 0 0 0 0 0 0

6 INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 131,276 586 -1 799 0 132,660

PLANT AND MACHINERY 936,526 25,863 -3,372 122,246 0 1,081,263

7 MACHINERY IN INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 28,288 38 -28 864 0 29,162

8 MACHINERY AT ELECTRICAL SUBSTATIONS 80,287 40 0 1,856 0 82,183

9 TRANSFORMER ROOMS 5.195 0 0 0 0 5,196

10 ELECTRICAL ELECTROMECHANICAL INSTALLATIONS 164,235 15,887 -14 1,102 0 181,210

11 ELECTRONIC INSTALLATIONS AND AUTOMATONS 369,572 3,433 -3,330 115,529 0 485,204

12 ESCALATORS AND LIFTS 219,273 6,252 0 1,958 0 227,483

13 OTHER TECHNICAL INSTALLATIONS 65,945 211 0 762 0 66,918

13B DEPOSITS FROM THIRD PARTIES 694 1 0 175 0 870

14 VEHICLES FOR INTERNAL USE 2,338 1 0 0 0 2,339

15 SANITATION INSTALLATIONS 698 0 0 0 698

OTHER PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND FURNITURE 31,505 730 -37 502 0 32,700

16 FURNITURE 16,041 271 -4 225 0 16,533

17 COPY MACHINES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT 3,293 23 -33 0 0 3,283

18 TOOLS 12,171 436 0 277 0 12,884

VEHICLES 832,212 735 -23 7,266 0 840,190

19 RAIL MATERIAL 770,540 628 0 6,999 0 778,167

20 CARS 508 0 -23 30 0 515

20C THIRD PARTY CARS 2,629 107 0 237 0 2,973

21 'GOODS ACQUIRED UNDER FINANCIAL LEASES 58,535 0 0 0 0 58,535

OTHER FIXED ASSETS 97,749 7,445 -359 6,559 0 111,394

22 DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT 42,909 3,273 -2 1,167 0 47,347

23 SPARE PARTS FOR PPE PPE 36,491 2,806 -81 1,082 0 40,298

24 SPARE PARTS FOR PLANT 13,974 311 -275 4,150 0 18,160

24B THIRD PARTY SPARE PARTS 4,375 1,055 -1 160 0      5,589

WORK IN PROGRESS 161,349 30,548 -1,409 -145,526 38 45,000

25 'RAIL MATERIAL 2,890 4,428 0 -2,847 17 4,488

26 PLANT 123,772 12,624 -243 -116,243 16 19,926

27 MACHINERY 442 73 -380 -62 4 77
28 'DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT 1,142 166 0 -1,003 0 305

29 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 6,668 2,587 -292 -6,054 1 2,910

30 OTHER INVESTMENTS IN PROGRESS 26,435 10,670 -494 -19,317 0 17,294

3,070,673 90,568 -5,202 -588 38 3,155,489

CLOSING BALANCE
ADDITIONS REMOVALS TRANSFERS

TOTAL
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Changes in accumulated depreciation of property, plant  and equipment in 2016 are as follows (thousand euro):

FULLY
OPENING BALANCE PROVISION REMOVALS TRANSFERS CLOSING BALANCE DEPRECIATED 

303,579 23,447 0 -712 326,314 81,086

INFRASTRUCTURE AND SUPERSTRUCTURE 140,972 11,070 0 0 152,042 2,225

TRACK 103,210 8,118 0 -712 110,616 72,153

OC-GALLERIES 0 0 0 0 0 0

ADMINSITRATIVE BUILDINGS 3,704 503 0 0 4,207 0

THIRD PARTY ADMIN BUILDINGS 0 0 0 0 0 0

INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 55,693 3,756 0 0 59,449 6,708

2. PLANT AND MACHINERY 638,220 59,848 -2,925 -2,058 693,085 311,488

MACHINERY IN INDUSTRIAL BUILDINGS 25,131 1,070 -19 0 26,182 20,629

MACHINERY AT ELECTRICAL SUBSTATIONS 45,561 3,991 0 0 49,552 14,390

TRANSFORMER ROOMS 2,389 313 0 0 2,702 0

ELECTRICAL ELECTROMECHANICAL INSTALLATIONS 96,818 7,409 0 0 104,227 48,632

ELECTRONIC INSTALLATIONS AND AUTOMATONS 266,235 29,998 -2,906 -2,058 291,269 124,834

ESCALATORS AND LIFTS 147,225 13,776 0 0 161,001 73,186

OTHER TECHNICAL INSTALLATIONS 51,735 3,192 0 0 54,927 27,158

DEPOSITS FROM THIRD PARTIES 229 61 0 0 290 0

VEHICLES FOR INTERNAL USE 2,212 34 0 0 2,246 1,997

SANITATION INSTALLATIONS 685 4 0 0 689 662

3. OTHER PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND FURNITURE 25,986 1,580 -36 0 27,530 20,262

FURNITURE 11,546 1,053 -2 0 12,597 6,391

COPY MACHINES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT 2,988 111 -33 0 3,066 2,719

TOOLS 11,452 416 -1 0 11,867 11,152

4. VEHICLES 728,681 15,001 -16 0 743,666 601,005

RAIL MATERIAL 666,838 14,377 0 2,457 683,672 542,017

CARS 482 8 -16 0 474 453

THIRD PARTY CARS 2,826 616 0 -2,457 985 0

GOODS ACQUIRED UNDER FINANCIAL LEASES 58,535 0 0 0 58,535 58,535

5. OTHER FIXED ASSETS 76,339 3,880 -250 2,770 82,739 62.937

DATA PROCESSING EQUIPMENT 40,553 1,174 0 0 41,727 39,736

SPARE PARTS FOR PPE PPE 26,648 1,204 -42 712 28,522 20,002

SPARE PARTS FOR PLANT 8,170 1,029 -208 2,058 11,049 3,199

THIRD PARTY SPARE PART 968 473 0 0 1,441 0

TOTAL 1,772,805 103,756 -3,227 0 1,873,334 1,076,778

1. LAND AND BUILDINGS



172 2017 Annual Report

The Company has not pledged any assets as collateral 
during the fiscal year.

As indicated in note 7, at the reporting date the Company 
has entered into finance lease agreements for certain 
vehicles.   
 
The most significant investments in fixed assets 
undertaken by the Company in 2016 are as follows:

Signalling: 31,992 thousand euro.
Track renovations: 16,086 thousand euro.
Station remodelling and upgrades: 7,497 thousand euro.
Overhead lines: 7,285 thousand euro
Rolling stock: 7,127 thousand euro.
Escalators: 7,299 thousand euro.
Electrical equipment: 6,440 thousand euro.
Spare parts for tracks and facilities: 5,052 thousand euro.
Improvements to accessibility: 3,950 thousand euro.
Comprehensive renovation of communications: 3,686 
thousand euro.
Computer systems: 2,931 thousand euro.
Ticketing machines and turnstiles:  2,756 thousand euro. 
Actions to increase capacity on lines: 2,523 thousand euro.
Work on shops and other facilities:  2,379 thousand euro.
Work on Integral Transport Centre: 1,763 thousand euro.
Power and substations: 1,462 thousand euro.
Ventilation on line 6: 1,419 thousand euro.
Lifts in stations: 1,367thousand euro.
Station 4.0:  1,026 thousand euro.

In 2014 the Company sold the Cavanilles-Granada and 
Cuatro Caminos facilities as part of the collaboration 
agreement between Metro and Madrid City Council for 
urban regeneration in different locations throughout 
the city affected by the metropolitan rail infrastructure. 

The agreement for the sale of the Granada-Cavanilles 
facility in Madrid, for Euro 28,800,000, was signed on 17 
December 2014. Part of the sale price was a payment in 
kind consisting of the construction, to be undertaken by 
the buyer, of the new headquarters on land owned by 

Metro de Madrid in Canillejas for a closed price of Euro 
20 million (see note 8.1.1.).  The Company derecognised 
the assets associated with this sale with a carrying 
amount of Euro 3,219,000, together with the associated 
grant, and recognised a gain of Euro 26,137,000 in the 
income statement for 2014.  Demolition of the existing 
buildings began in 2016 as did the drafting of the 
construction plans. 

Demolition of the existing buildings at the Plaza de 
Castilla location took place in 2016 and 2017, as did the 
drafting of the construction plans. 

The Company signed the agreement for the sale of 
the Cuatro Caminos facility for Euro 88,321,000, on 17 
December 2014. Part of the sale price was a payment in 
kind consisting of the construction, to be undertaken by 
the buyer, of an underground train depot in the Cuatro 
Caminos area under the ownership of Metro de Madrid 
for a closed price of Euro 30,709,997 (see note 8.1.1.).  
The Company derecognised the assets associated with 
this sale with a carrying amount of Euro 2,594,000, 
together with the associated grant, and recognised a 
gain of Euro 86,967,240 in the income statement for 
2014.

In 2016, in the process of applying for the permits to 
redevelop the Cuatro Caminos space, the City of Madrid 
notified the buyer of the land - and the party that was 
to build the new depot - that all of the plans submitted 
in some way violated numerous sections of the urban 
development plan for that space. 

The Company, along with the buyer of the land, made 
changes to the initial plans in order to bring it in line 
with the urban development plan while at the same 
time ensuring that the operating requirements were 
met. The Company considers that the revised plans 
meet the requirements. 
In 2017, the Madrid City Council approved the plans 
for the redevelopment of the Cuatro Caminos property. 
However, at the same time a number of neighbourhood 
associations filed complaints in both administrative 
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and legal channels trying to have the Cuatro Caminos 
property declared a Site of Cultural Interest.

Given the possibility that the plans may not be approved 
by the City of Madrid, which leaves the whole project 
up in the air, the Directors believe it is very likely that 
the purchase-sale agreement from 2014 will have to be 
cancelled. Consequently, in 2016 the Company reversed 
the sale recognised in 2014, recording an advance for 
the carrying value of the assets sold on the original 
transaction date (included as work in progress under 
the heading of property, plant and equipment), in the 
amount of Euro 1,354,000. A non-current liability was 
also recognised in the amount of Euro 35,469,000 
(see note 12.3) for the payments received and the 
outstanding balance receivable, which included an in-
kind payment of Euro 30,710,000 (construction) (see 
note 8.1.1.) and a cash payment of Euro 22,142,000 
(see note 8.1.2), was derecognised.  As a result of the 
reversal of the sale the Company recognised a loss of 
Euro 86,967,000 in the income statement in 2016 (see 
note 17.d). 

In 2017 the buyer of the land made the last cash 
payment as stipulated in the purchase agreement in the 
amount of EUR 24,406,000, which was recognise by the 
Company as a non-current liability (see note 12.3).

Spare parts were delivered to the company Sbase 
“Buenos Aires” in 2016 under the sales agreement for 
series 6000 cars signed in 2016 (see note 12.4). The 
Company recognised profits of Euro 18,000 from this 
transaction in 2016. 

The company capitalised EUR 16,000 in 2017, reflecting 
borrowing costs on non-current loans considered as 
specific financing for projects that required more than 
one year to be ready for use and/or operation.  Borrowing 
costs of Euro 38,000 were capitalised in 2016.
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets in 2017 and 2016 were financed 
through bank loans and grants from different 
organisations (see notes 10 and 12.1). 
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7. Leases and similar operations 

7.1. Financial leases 

The Company has recognised in “Vehicles” the finance 
lease rights (see note 6) over series 2000 and 5000 
units (96 coaches) subject to leaseback, for an initial 
amount of Euro 58,535,000, reflecting the fair value of 
the asset at the inception of the lease agreement. 

This leaseback transaction was arranged with Bank of 
America in December 1997. The contractual collection 
rights were assigned by the financial institution to the 
trading company MB Deal 97, S.L. and the transaction 
resulted in financing being secured, the total amount of 
which constitutes the value of the loan and the interest 
thereon.  The contract was for a maximum term of 25 
years, with a purchase option that could be exercised in 

2015 or the possibility of extending the lease to 2022.  
On 19 December 2014, the contract was extended for 
an additional 7 years up to 2022. 

This transaction does not entail any restrictions for 
Metro de Madrid as regards dividend payments, further 
indebtedness or the execution of new lease contracts.
20 years have elapsed since the date of this transaction. 
Instalments totalling Euro 71,695,000  have been paid 
during this time, and a balance of Euro 54,334,000 
remains outstanding.

2017 2016

Fees paid in 2016 63,899 Fees paid in 2016 55,893

Instalment payments 2017 7,796 Instalment payments 2017 8,006

Outstanding balance 54,334 Outstanding balance 62,130

TOTAL DEBT 126,029 126,029TOTAL DEBT

Details of the minimum payments and current value of the finance lease liabilities, broken down by maturity dates, 
are as follows: 

2017 2016 2017 2016

1 year 7,578 7,796 7,578 7,796

2 - 5 years 46,756 29,027 42,396 26,840

More than 5 years - 25,307 - 21,558

TOTAL 54,334 62,130 49,974 56,194

                     Instalments Current value    

No contingent rents have been recognised as an expense for the year nor is there any basis for doing so in the 
future.

Thousand euro

Thousand euro
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7.2. Operating leases 

The Company has assessed all of the transactions 
described in this section pursuant to accounting 
standards and has classified them as operating leases.  

Lease instalments are charged to the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
All maintenance under rolling stock operating leases is 
carried out by the lessor.

In these transactions, the lessor passes the cost of 
insurance for damage to its assets on to the lessee.   
These transactions do not entail any restrictions for 
Metro de Madrid as regards dividend payments, further 
indebtedness or the execution of new lease contracts.

Details of operating lease expenses in 2017 and 2016 
are as follows (see note 17 (b)):  

At the end of 2017 and 2016, the Company has leases 
that will remain in effect over the coming years. The 
payment obligations under these leases are as follows 
by maturity: 

As lessee, the Company’s most significant leases at the 
end of 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2017 2016
Operating leases
FY expense

Caixarenting  7000      5,916 5,916

Ferromóvil 3000, S.L.  44,797 44,312

Ferromóvil 9000, S.L.  28,585 28,279

Plan Azul S.L. 36,473 35,983

Plan Metro 43,204 42,342

Other leases 5,357 5,384

TOTAL  164,332 162,216

Amount Amount

1 YEAR 2017 2016

Caixarenting  7000      5,916 5,916

Ferromóvil 3000, S.L.  47,795 49,307

Ferromóvil 9000, S.L.  30,538 31,498

Plan Azul S.L. 36,814 36,473

Plan Metro, S.A. 44,457 43,523

Other leases 4,652 4,312

Total 170,172 171,029

2 - 5 YEARS 2017 2016

Caixarenting  7000      2,958 8,874

Ferromóvil 3000, S.L.  176,098 182,144

Ferromóvil 9000, S.L.  112,575 116,414

Plan Azul S.L. 147,255 145,891

Plan Metro, S.A. 188,692 184,833

Other leases 8,176 9,962

Total 635,754 648,118

MORE THAN 5 YEARS 2017 2016

Ferromóvil 3000, S.L.  60.788 102.538

Ferromóvil 9000, S.L.  41.031 67.731

Plan Azul S.L. - 36.473

Plan Metro, S.A. 335.061 383.690

Other leases 13.880 15.176

Total 450.760 605.608

Future instalments on operating leases 

Thousand euro

Thousand euro
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a) Leases for rolling stock to operate the existing 
network and new expansion.

 a.1) A lease agreement was signed in 2001 with 
CAIXARENTING, S.A. for the lease of six broad gauge 
MRSSRM-type, dual-voltage 600 V DC/1,500 V DC 
units of rolling stock, for commercial passenger 
traffic.  Lease instalments recognised as expenses 
in 2017 and 2016 amounted to Euro 5,916,000 
in both years, including maintenance costs and 
insurance totalling Euro 1,652,000 for each period.  
There are no contingent rents or renewal terms, 
nor purchase options available to Metro de Madrid 
on this rolling stock

Total future minimum lease instalments at 31 
December 2017 are as follows:

 CAIXARENTING 7000 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than

5 years

Instalments 5,916 2,958 -

Thousand euro

Total future minimum lease instalments at 31 
December 2016 were as follows:

 CAIXARENTING 7000 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than

5 years

Instalments 5,916 8,874 -

Thousand euro

 a.2) In 2006, agreements were signed with 
Ferromóvil 3000, S.L. and Ferromóvil 9000, S.L. for 
the lease of rolling stock to meet the requirements 
for the extended network in 2007.  Details of the 
leased rolling stock are as follows:

Series Subseries
Number
of units Composition Gauge Lessor 

3000 1 36 MRSSRM Narrow Ferromóvil 3000

3000 3 54 MRSM Narrow Ferromóvil 3000

9000 1 26 MRSSRM Width Ferromóvil 9000

9000 2 6 MRSSRM Width Ferromóvil 9000

9000 3 20 MRM Width Ferromóvil 9000

The term of the lease for both of these contracts 
is as follows:

 FERROMOVIL 3000 31/07/2024

 FERROMOVIL 9000 31/08/2024

Lease instalments paid under these agreements 
in 2017 and 2016 amounted to Euro 69,802,000 
and Euro 73,685,000 respectively.  No purchase 
options are available to Metro de Madrid in 
respect of this rolling stock. 

Lease instalments under these agreements are not 
calculated on a straight-line basis. The Company 
has recognised Euro 73,382,000 in expenses, 
which reflects the expense charged to the income 
statement on a straight-line basis in 2017 (Euro 
72,591,000 in 2016).    The difference between 
the expense recognised during the year and the 
lease instalments paid to the lessors has been 
recognised in “VIII.  Prepayments for non-current 
assets” and  “VI. Prepayments for current assets” in 
the balance sheet  (see notes 13 and 15). 

The total future minimum lease instalments at 31 
December 2017 are shown below: 

 Ferromóvil 3000, S.L. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than 

5 years

Instalments 47,795 176,098 60,788

 Ferromóvil 9000, S.L. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than 

5 years

Instalments 30,538 112,575 41,031

Thousand euro
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 The total future minimum lease instalments at 31 
December 2016 are shown below: 

 Ferromóvil 3000, S.L. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than 
5 years

Instalments 49,307 182,144 102,538

 Ferromóvil 9000, S.L. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than 
5 years

Instalments 31,498 116,414 67,731

Thousand euro

On 29 April 2016, the leases and maintenance 
agreements with these two companies were 
amended for operating purposes, with a provision 
to extend the lease of the rolling stock and 
ATP/ATO equipment until 31 July 2024 for the 
Ferromovil 3000 trains and 31 August 2024 for the 
Ferromovil 9000 and to adapt the maintenance 
terms to the current circumstances of the rolling 
stock and ATP/ATO equipment. 

a.3) In 2007 a rolling stock lease agreement was 
entered into with Plan Azul 07 S.L. This came into 
force in 2008 for a non-extendable term of 15 
years.  Details of the rolling stock leased under 
this agreement are as follows:

Series
Number 
of units Composition Gauge 

6000 22
Railcar 
movers Width

7000 31 6-car units Width

8000 53 3-car units Width

The expense recognised in 2017 was Euro 
36,473,000 which includes the contingent portion 
of Euro 3,334,000 arising from the 85% increase 
in the CPI in prior years. The  expense recognised 
in 2016 totals Euro 35,983,000 which includes the 
contingent portion of Euro 2,844,000.

 The agreement carries a purchase option, 
although it is unlikely this will be exercised as it is 
considered to exceed the value of the assets at the 
expiry date of the agreement.

 Total future minimum lease instalments at 31 
December 2017 are shown on the table below: 

 Total future minimum lease instalments at 31 
December 2016 are shown on the table below: 

Thousand euro

Thousand euro

 Plan Azul 07, S.L. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than

 5 years

Instalments 36,814 147,255 -

 Plan Azul 07, S.L. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than 

5 years

Instalments 36,473 145,891 36,473
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a.4) In 2008, a rolling stock operating lease was 
signed with Plan Metro S.A. for a term of 17 years, 
in order to upgrade and extend the transport 
service in the ensuing years.  

An addendum to the initial agreement was signed 
on 27 December 2011, amending the delivery 
deadlines for the rolling stock so as to meet the 
forecast need for this equipment. 

Under the addenda signed on 30 July 2013, the last 
27 units were received and the lease instalments 
were amended to bring them in line with the way 
in which the leased goods were actually to be used.   
An expense of Euro 43,204,000 was recognised in 
2017 (Euro 42,342,000 2016).

The agreement carries a purchase option, 
although it is unlikely this will be exercised as it is 
considered to exceed the value of the assets at the 
expiry date of the agreement.

Total future lease instalments at 31 December 
2017 are shown on the table below:   

Thousand euro

 Plan Metro, S.A. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than
5 years

Instalments 44,457 188,692 335,061

Total future lease instalments at 31 December 
2016 are shown on the table bleow:        

Thousand euro

 Plan Metro, S.A. 1 year 2 - 5 years
More than 
5 years

Instalments 43,523 184,833 383,690
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8. Financial assets 

8.1. Current and non-current financial 
assets (except investments in associates)

The company’s directors believe that the carrying value 
of the financial assets is consistent with the fair value.

The classification of financial assets in 2017 and 2016 
by category and class, excluding investments in Group 
companies and associates, is as follows:

NON-CURRENT

CURRENT

Cash and cash equivalents

2017 2016

Loans and receivables

Loans to third parties 3,144 2,196

Deposits and guarantees 111 101

Other financial assets 25,278 25,606

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 28,533 27,903

At amortised cost or cost

Carrying value

2017 2016

Other financial assets 111 189

Trade and other accounts receivable 28,063 267,428

   Clients for sales and services rendered 20,119 257,919

   Other accounts receivable 7,944 9,509

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 28,174 267,617

At amortised cost or cost
Carrying value

    Cash 147,135 12,019

TOTAL CASH AND OTHER LIQUID ASSETS 147,135 12,019

Thousand euro

Thousand euro
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8.1.1. Non-current financial assets 

Movements in each category of non-current loans and 
receivables in 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Other financial
assets Total

Balance at 31.12.2015 5,296 122 56,608 62,026

Deposits
 /(Reductions) 351 101 94 546

Withdrawals 
/(Funding) -3,451 -122 -31,096 -34,669

Balance at 31.12.2016 2,196 101 25,606 27,903

Deposits
/(Reductions) 1,325 10 62 1,397

Withdrawals 
 /(Funding) -377 - -390 -767

Balance at 31.12.2017 3,144 111 25,278 28,533

Loans to third 
parties

Deposits and   
guarantees

given

20
16

20
17

Non-current

Thousand euro

Details of the items making up “Loans to third parties” 
are as follows:

 >  Non-current loans for home purchase: These 
loans are repayable over a term of 10 years.  At 
the 2017 and 2016 reporting dates the non-
current balance amounts to Euro 225,000 and 
Euro 274,000, respectively.

 > Non-current loans to staff These loans fall due 
in 30 months.  At the 2017 and 2016 reporting 
dates the non-current balance amounts to Euro 
2,919,000 and Euro 1,922,000, respectively.
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Details of loans to third parties at 31 December 2017 
and 2016, by maturity, are as follows: (thousand euro):                  

2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-current loans  
for home
purchase

172 218 53 56

Loans to
employees

2,919 1,922 - -

TOTAL 3,091 2,140 53 56

Company

2 - 5 years More than 5 years

“Other financial assets” reflect the non-current portion 
of the penalty agreed for the delay in delivering the 
trains under the lease agreement with Ferromóvil 9000 
SL.  This amount is updated each year in line with the 
CPI (see note 7.2.a.2). The remuneration in kind from 
the sale of the Cuatro Caminos and Cavanilles-Granada 
properties, amounting to Euro 20,000,000  (see note 6), 
is also recognised in this line item.   

As indicated in note 6, in 2016 the Company 
derecognised the amount of the in-kind payment for 
the Cuatro Caminos property in the amount of Euro 
30,709,000.

There is no significant difference between the carrying 
amount and the fair value of the Company’s financial 
assets. 
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8.1.2. Current financial assets 

Details of “Trade and other receivables” are as follows 
(Euro):      

2017 2016

Customers for sales and services 14,795 250,885

Clients, group companies and associates 5,324 7,034

Sundry receivables 4,394 5,833

Total 28,063 267,428

Staff costs 3,550 3,676

The caption titled “Customers for sales and services 
rendered” includes a balance receivable of Euro 
5,505,000 from the Madrid Regional Transport 
Consortium at 31 December 2017  (Euro 245,878,000 
in 2016) (see note 18). The balance under this heading 
was reduced by Euro 22,142,000 in 2016, which is the 
amount of the outstanding balance receivable on the 
Cuatro Caminos sale (see note 6). 

The details of loans for home purchase and loans to 
personnel at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows  
(thousand euros):               

2017 2016

Loans for Home 
purchase 

76 81

Loans to
personnel

3,474 3,595

TOTAL 3,550 3,676

Entity

1 year
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In 2017, the Company recognised “Losses, impairment 
and changes in trade provisions” in the amount of Euro 
514,000, of which Euro 24,000 are bad debt losses. 

In 2016, the Company recognised “Losses, impairment 
and changes in trade provisions” in the amount of Euro 
1,074,000, of which Euro 142,000 are bad debt losses. 
              

The details of “Cash and other cash equivalents” are as follows:

Trade receivables Impairment

2015 Opening Balance 5,936

Additions 931

Applications and payments -226

2016 Closing Balance 6,641

Additions 490

Applications and payments -5,416

2017 Closing Balance 1,715

Thousand euro

Items 2017 2016

Petty cash 10,371 8,600

Banks 136,764 3,419

Total 147,135 12,019

Thousand euro



184 2017 Annual Report

To ensure liquidity and meet the payment commitments 
arising from its business activities, the Company has 
access to the cash reflected on its balance sheet, as well 
as credit facilities and financing up to a limit of Euro 
91,500,000 in 2017. At the reporting date, no portion of 
the credit facilities available to the company had been 
drawn.            

CREDIT POLICIES

FINANCIAL INSTITUTION Used Limit Maturity Used Limit Maturity

BANKINTER - 50,000 28/12/18 24,447 25,000 21/12/17

CAIXABANK - 6,000 28/12/18 5,830 6,000 22/12/17

SABADELL ATLÁNTICO - 10,000 30/12/18 - 10,000 30/12/17

LIBERBANK - 6,000 28/12/18 5,094 6,000 19/12/17

BANCO MARE NOSTRUM - 5,000 27/12/18 5,000 5,000 20/12/17

BANCO CAIXA GERAL - 4,500 28/12/18 4,472 5,000 21/12/17

IBERCAJA - 10,000 29/05/18 - - -

TOTAL - 91,500 44,843 57,000

2017 2016

Thousand euro
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8.2. Investments in associates  

Movements in each item under this heading 2017 and 
2016 are as follows:      

Non-current
in associate 
companies

Loans to 
associated 
enterprises Totals

Opening balance 28,184 340 28,524

Deposits /(Reductions) - 3,963 3,963

2016 Closing Balance 28,184 4,303 32,487

Deposits /(Reductions) - 14 14

Withdrawals /(Funding) - - -

2017 Closing Balance 28,184 4,317 32,501

20
16

20
17

Shareholdings 

Thousand euro

On 30 November 2007 Metro de Madrid, S.A. extended 
a loan in the amount of Euro 255,000 to the associate 
Metros Ligeros de Madrid, S.A. The loan accrues annual 
interest at a rate of 4.75% and falls due in 2034.  Interest 
accrued at June 2017 and 2016 was capitalised, with 
total drawdowns amounting to Euro 367,000 and Euro 
353,000, respectively.  Accrued interest receivable at 31 
December 2017 and 2016 amounts to Euro 9,000 each 
year.

In 2015, Metro de Madrid, S.A. extended a loan in the 
amount of Euro 1,164,000 to the associate Transportes 
Ferroviarios de Madrid, S.A., which matures in 2016. In 
fiscal year 2016, this loan was modified to extend the 
credit limit to Euro 3,950,000 and the maturity date to 
2029.   

The most significant information on associates at year 
end is as follows, where in all cases the percentage 
ownership shown reflects the voting rights held by the 
Company in its investees: 

Transportes Ferroviarios de Madrid, S.A.: 42.5% interest. 
The initial investment made by Metro de Madrid, S.A. 
was in the amount of Euro 17,859,000 represented by 
297,160 unlisted registered shares with a par value of 
Euro 60.10 each, fully paid in.  On 30 December 2011 
the share capital was increased. The Company acquired 
an additional 6,746 shares with the same par value as 
mentioned above, maintaining its percentage ownership, 
for an overall investment of Euro 18,265,000.

In 2012 and 2013, the Board of Directors approved two 
capital increases in the amount of the payments made 
by the shareholders to cover the interest and fees on 
the subordinated loan.  Metro de Madrid maintained 
its percentage ownership and the total value of its 
investment amounted to Euro 18,642,000 and Euro 
18,947,000, respectively. Transportes Ferroviarios de 
Madrid, S.A. holds the concession for the construction 
and operation of the extension of Line 9 between 
Puerta de Arganda and Arganda del Rey.
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At 31 December 2017 and 2016 the Company 
recognised an impairment provision of Euro 14,960,000 
after testing the business of Transportes Ferroviarios 
de Madrid for impairment, based on the most probable 
future assumptions.  There was no change to the 
provision for the impairment of the investment in 2017. 

The recoverable amount of Transportes Ferroviarios de 
Madrid S.A. has been calculated as the present value 
of the Company’s share in the cash flows expected to 
be generated by this associate from its ordinary activity 
and through the sale of this company.
The present value of the cash flows has been calculated 
on the basis of the following assumptions:

1. The cash flows have been projected based on the 
results from operating activities contained in the 
concession business plan covering a period of 12 years.

2. A discount rate of 3.98% was used (3.92% in 2016) 
which was estimated based on the weighted average 
cost of capital for the sector.

This company’s annual accounts at 31 December 2017 
are being audited.  No dividends were received during 
the year.    

Thousand euro

Percentage
(%) of ownershipInvestee company Fiscal year Capital Reserves

Other equity 
items FY profit (loss) Total equity Impairment 

Net investment 
value

Transportes Ferroviarios de Madrid, S.A.                                         
Dr. Esquerdo, 136 28007 MADRID

2017 42.50% 44,581 4,028 -11,922 -1,712 34,975 -14,960 3,987

2016 42.50% 44,581 3,9874,028 1,594 -13,512 36,691 -14,960

Metrocall, S.A. Metro de Madrid, S.A. holds a 40% 
investment in the company for a purchase price of Euro 
1,503,000. This company´s capital totals Euro 2,750,000 
and is represented by 62,500 unlisted registered shares 
with a par value of Euro 44.00 each. Its corporate 
purpose is listed as the implmentation, management an 
operation os a public telecomunications networks able 

to provide mobile telephone service through Metro de 
Madrid´s network and facilities.

This company’s annual accounts at 31 December 2017 
are being audited.  No dividends were received during 
the year. No dividends were paid in 2017.    

Thousand euro

2017 40.00% 2,750 3,966 - 1,246 - 7,962 1,502

2016 40.00% 2,750 2,712 - 1,254 - 6,716 1,502

Metrocall,S.A                                              
C/Josefa Valcarcel, 26 MADRID

Investee company
Percentage

(%) of ownershipFiscal year Capital Reserves
Other equity 

items FY profit (loss) Total equity Impairment 
Net investment 

value
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Metros Ligeros de Madrid: S.A. 42.5% interest.  The total 
investment made by Metro de Madrid S.A. amounts to 
Euro 22,695,000. This company’s annual accounts at 31 
December 2017are being audited.   Metros Ligeros de 
Madrid, S.A. holds the concession for the construction 
and operation of the ML1 light railway line.  No 
dividends were paid  during the year. 

The recoverable value of Metros Ligeros de Madrid S.A. 
was calculated as the present value of the Company’s 
share in the cash flows that are expected to be 
generated by the investee from its ordinary activities 
and its disposal.

The present value of the cash flows has been calculated 
on the basis of the following assumptions:

1. The cash flows have been projected based on the 
results from operating activities contained in the 
concession business plan covering a period of 19 years.

2. A discount rate of 4.41% was used (4.37% in 2016) 
which was estimated based on the weighted average 
cost of capital for the sector.

Thousand euro

2017 42,50% 19.800      - 29.417 -122 -39.538 9.557 22.695

2016 42,50% 19.800      - 32.362 -2.945 -43.133 6.084 22.695

Metros Ligeros de Madrid, S.A. Avda. 
Manuel Azaña s/n 28033 MADRID

Percentage
(%) of ownershipInvestee company Fiscal year Capital Reserves

Other equity 
items FY profit (loss) Total equity Impairment 

Net investment 
value

8.3. Information on the types and 
levels of risk associated with financial 
instruments

Management of the Company’s financial risks is 
centralised under the Finance Department, which has 
mechanisms in place to control exposure to credit and 
liquidity risk.  The main financial risks affecting the 
Company are as follows:

a) Credit risk:
The Company considers that its financial assets are not 
significantly exposed to credit risk.

b) Liquidity risk:
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held 
in financial institutions with high credit ratings, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions for investing 
cash surpluses of public entities defined in the budget 
for the Autonomous Community of Madrid. 

c) Market risk:
The Company considers that its financial instruments 
are not significantly exposed to interest rate risk. 

Moreover, under the Contract Programme in force with 
the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium, based on a 
financial regime governed by the principle of sufficient 
fares to cover all actual costs under normal conditions 
of productivity and organisation, the directors do not 
consider the Company to be exposed to a significant 
risk of price variations (see note 1).
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9. Inventories

Movement in materials purchased and consumed in 
2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Thousand euro

ITEM
Sundry

 materials Spare parts
Office 

supplies Ticketing Uniforms

Provision for 
inventory 

impairment Total

2015 Closing Balance 1.892 14.530 163 103 74 -2.671 14.092

Process 4.615 9.402 372 181 876 - 15.446

Consumption -4.296 -8.155 -367 -231 -853 - -13.902

Transfers
 (removals)

- - - - - - -

Reversal/ - - - - - -559 -559
(Funding)

Saldo final 2016 2.211 15.777 168 53 97 -3.230 15.077

Process 4.710 6.669 345 211 499 - 12.434

Consumption -5.033 -8.403 -343 -263 -519 - -14.561
Transfers 
(removals)

- -811 - - - - -811

Reversal/ - - - - - 101 101
(Funding) - - - - - - -

2017 Closing Balance 1.888 13.232 170 1 78 -3.129 12.240

2016

2017

There are no restrictions on the availability of inventories 
due to guarantees, pledges, security deposits or similar 
commitments.

At the 2017 and 2016 reporting dates the Company has 
recognised impairment of inventories in the amount of 
Euro 3,129,000 and Euro  3,230,000, respectively, as 

a consequence of the loss of value of the Company’s 
stocks.

Spare parts valued at Euro 811,000 were transferred to 
property, plant and equipment in 2017. 
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10. Shareholders’ Equity, Capital and 
Reserves 

The composition and changes in equity are shown in 
the statement of changes in equity.

a) Share capital 
At 31 December 2017 the Company’s share capital 
amounts to Euro 14,984,000, represented by 4,679,212 
bearer shares with a par value of Euro 3.01 each, 
subscribed and fully paid. All shares have the same 
rights.

In 2016, the Company’s sole shareholder subscribed the 
entire capital increase in the amount of Euro 3,892,000 
by issuing 1,293,179 shares with a par value of Euro 
3.01 each.  The capital increase was effected by the sale 
of land located in Madrid at calle San Benito, 19.

Following the capital increase, the Company’s share 
capital at 31 December 2016 stands at Euro 17,977,000 
represented by 5,972,391 registered shares with a par 
value of Euro 3.01 each, fully subscribed and paid in. All 
shares have the same rights.

There are no other vested rights, dividend-right 
certificates, convertible bonds, securities or similar 
financial liabilities.  

b) Reserves
The “legal reserve” has been appropriated in an amount 
of 20% of share capital, which is the minimum amount 
required by article 27 of the Spanish Companies Act.  .

The balance under section 2. “Other reserves” is freely 
distributable provided that equity would not be equal 
to share capital as a result of the distribution.

As a consequence of a change in the accounting 
estimates used to determine the company’s non-current 
obligations to staff, the Company made an adjustment 
of Euro 6,851,000 to voluntary reserves to cover post-
retirement transport assistance benefits. The actuarial 
value of this commitment in FY 2017 resulted in gains 
of Euro 1,874,000. 

c) Grants, donations and bequests

c.1. Capital grants from the Regional Transport Consortium 

This item comprises non-refundable capital grants 
awarded by the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 
(CRTM) from 1991 onwards for asset purchases. Details 
are as follows:

Shareholders’ equity 2017 2016

Balance at 1 January 518,774 570,401

Additions

Gross 3,884 2,466

Tax effect -10 -6

Transferred to income

Adjustment to prior year grants -10,529

Tax effect 26

Transfer to income

Gross -39,609 -43,601

Tax effect 99 282

Other adjustments

Adjustment to prior year grants -497 -387

Tax effect 1 122

Balance at 31 December 482,642 518,774

Thousand euro

All of the capital grants received from the CRTM have 
been used to acquire property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets. 

In fiscal year 2017, the Company received grants from 
the Madrid Regional Transport Consortium to purchase 
assets for rail accessibility projects in the amount of 
Euro 3.884,000. In FY 2016 the Company was awarded 
Euro 2,466,000 in grants, which were funded in their 
entirety in 2017. 
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In 2017, the caption titled “Adjustment of prior years’ 
grants” includes Euro 428,000 for an adjustment 
to the accessibility grant received in FY 2016 and 
derecognised assets in the amount of Euro 69,000. In 
2016, derecognised assets totalled Euro 387,000. 

Pursuant to Income Tax Law 27/2014, in FY 2016 the 
corporate income tax rate was reduced from 28% to 
25%. As a result, temporary tax differences were reduced 
by Euro 162,000 in the account titled “Liabilities for 
taxable timing differences” (see note 14).

c.2. Capital grants awarded by other bodies

This item comprises non-refundable capital grants 
in the form of zero interest on funds awarded by 
public entities for the conversion of assets for public 
activities, such as museums, and subsidies for research, 
development and innovation projects.  Movement in 
these grants was as follows (thousand euro):

2017 2016

Balance at 1 January 2,509 2,360

Additions 

Gross 393 393

Tax effect -1 -1

Transfer to income

Gross -415 -245

Tax effect 1 2

Balance at 31 December 2,487 2,509

Pursuant to Income Tax Law 27/2014, in FY 2016 the 
corporate income tax rate was reduced from 28% to 
25%. As a result, temporary tax differences were reduced 
by Euro 122,000 in the account titled “Liabilities for 
taxable timing differences” (See Note 14).

c.3. Operating grants released to income during the year

“Operating grants taken to income” comprise training 
subsidies amounting to Euro 510,000 and research 
and development subsidies totalling Euro 200,000. In 
2016, training subsidies amounted to Euro 488,000 
and research and development subsidies totalled Eur 
14,000.
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11. Provisions 

11.1. Non-current provisions

The details of non-current provisions on the balance 
sheet at the end of 2017  and 2016 and the changes 
that occurred during the year are as follows: 

Non-current provisions
Commitments 

to staff

Provision 
for 

taxes
Other 

provisions Total

2016 Opening Balance 58,780 7,121 1,077 66,978

Additions 11,474 551 8,949 20,974

Applications/cancellations -9,484 - -2 -9,486

Transfer to short-term -17,585 - - -17,585

2016 Closing Balance 43,185 7,672 10,024 60,881

Additions 11,057 798 2,849 14,704

Applications/cancellations -7,179 -5,313 -12,492

Transfer to short-term -11,434 -11,434

2017 Closing Balance 35,629 3,157 12,873 51,659

20
16

20
17

Thousand euro
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11.1.1. Obligations to personnel.

Details of non-current obligations with personnel at 
the 2017 and 2016 reporting dates are as follows:  

Item 

Pre-1978 employee 
holiday leave 

pay

Provision for
 termination 

benefits 

Provision for 
pending 

processes
Provision for non-current 
employee compensation TOTAL

2016 Opening Balance 290 32,847 17,371 8,272 58,780

Additions - 303 3,628 7,543 11,474

Applications/cancellations -9 - -9,475 - -9,484

Transfer to short-term - -17,585 - - -17,585

2016 Closing Balance 281 15,565 11,524 15,815 43,185

Additions 10,052 1,004 11,056

Applications/cancellations -102 -13 -5,183 -1,880 -7,178

Transfer to short-term -11,434 -11,434

2017 Closing Balance 179 4,118 16,393 14,939 35,629

20
16

20
17

Thousand euro

 > Pre-1978 employee holiday leave pay: At the 
2017 reporting date, the Company has recognised 
a provision for holiday pay for employees who 
joined the Company prior to 1978. The current 
portion amounts to Euro 179,000 and the 
non-current portion totals Euro 22,000.    A 2% 
salary increase was estimated when calculating 
the provision, discounted at a rate of 0.95% 
(12-month returns on private income securities 
on the Spanish Fixed Income Market (AIAF)). At 
the 2016 reporting date, the non-current portion 
of the provision amounted to Euro 281,000 and 
the current portion totalled Euro 15,000. The 
calculation was based on a salary increase of 2% 
and a discount rate of 0.98%.

 > Provision for termination benefits: In 2013 
the Company filed a workforce restructuring 
plan affecting 589 workers and requiring 

the recognition of a provision for deferred 
termination benefits. 

In 2017 the provision totals Euro 15,010,000 of 
which Euro 4,118,000 are non-current and Euro 
10,892,000 are current. In 2016, the provision 
totals Euro 32,915,000 of which Euro 15,565,000 
are non-current and Euro 17,350,000 are current 
(see Note 11.2). The present value of the deferred 
termination benefits has been calculated using 
discount rates of 0.12% in 2017 and 0.25% in 2016. 

 > Provision for pending processes: At 31 
December 2017, a Euro 16,393,000 provision has 
been recognised for various legal claims lodged 
by the Company’s trade unions in connection 
with disputes over certain salary reductions.  At 
the 2016 year end the provision totalled Euro 
11,524,000.
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 > Provision for long-term employee benefits:  In 
2017 the Company updated the estimates used 
to calculate long-term obligations to personnel 
comprising post-employment benefits in the 
form of transport subsidies, amounting to Euro 
14,939,000.   In 2016 the estimated amount 
was Euro 15,815,000. The benefit consists of 
annual travel passes, free of charge, at the retired 
employee’s request.

11.1.2. Provision for taxes.

Details of the provision for taxes at 31 December 2016 
are as follows:

Item 
Provision for

 business tax (IAE)
Provision for 

property tax (IBI)
Other municipal 

taxes 

2016 Opening Balance 5,089 2,029 3

Additions 129 422 -

Applications/cancellations - - -

2016 Closing Balance 5,218 2,451 3

Additions 709 81 1

Applications/cancellations -3,232 -2,074 -

2017 Closing Balance 2,695 458 4

20
16

20
17

Thousand euro

On 7 March 2012, Madrid City Council notified the tax 
inspection authorities of the tax on economic activities 
for 2009 to 2012.  The inspection focused on network 
stations and 34 premises.

The provisions funded in 2016 and 2015 include 
the principal, interest and 50% of the penalties on 
the network stations and premises affected by the 
inspection. 
The provisions funded in 2016 include the principal, 
interest and 50% of the penalties on the network 



194 2017 Annual Report

stations and premises affected by the inspection. 
The provisions for penalties recognised in prior years 
for all depots, sheds and substations and for Plaza 
Castilla Network 2009-2012 were derecognised in FY 
2017, since the cases were resolved in the Company’s 
favour. 

Tax Financial Years Amount 
Late 

interest Penalty 

Provision 
for updated 

interest Total

2016 Closing balance 3,427 401 935 455 5.218

Additions 590    57 62 709

Cancellations -1,939 -935 -358 -3,232

2017 Closing Balance 2,078 458 0 159 2,695

Economic 
activities tax 

2017

Thousand euro

In FY 2014, the tax authorities commenced a tax 
inspection to verify that certain premises met the tax 
exemption requirements for property tax, in response 
to which a provision was funded. In 2016, since the tax 
audit was still ongoing, the provision was increased by 
Euro 2,451,000 provision to cover possible late interest. 
In 2017, most of the provisions funded in prior fiscal 
years were derecognised since the audit concluded 
in the Company’s favour, keeping a provision of Euro 
458,000 in relation to certain legal proceedings that 
are still ongoing.

2016 Closing balance 1,467 185 733 66 2,451

Additions 72 9 81

Cancellations -1,220 -131 -611 -112 -2,074

2017 Closing Balance 319 54 122 -37 458

Property tax 

2017

Tax Financial Years Amount 
Late 

interest Penalty 

Provision 
for updated 

interest Total

Thousand euro
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11.1.3. Other provisions 

In 2016, the Company had recognised provisions of Euro 
4,015,000 to cover the possible contingency associated 
with various civil lawsuits underway. That provision 
remained unchanged in 2017.

Moreover, pursuant to the Ministerial Order of 20 April 
1998 which regulates the collaboration of companies 
in the management of the Social Security System, 

and specifically on self-insurance for temporary 
disability, both for workplace accidents and common 
contingencies, at the 2017 and 2016 reporting dates 
the Company had made provisions of Euro 8,858,000 
and Euro 6,009,000 to cover potential future losses 
arising from such collaboration.
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11.2. Current provisions 

Details of current provisions at the 2017 and 2016 
reporting dates and the changes during the year are as 
follows: 

Item 

Pre-1978 employee
 holiday leave 

pay
Current provision 

for litigation

Provision for 
termination 

benefits 

Provisions 
for social 
security

Provision for 
taxes Total

2016 Opening Balance 15 114 14,536 4,567 - 19,232

Additions - 85 520 - 6 611

Applications/cancellations - -34 -14,807 -5,051 - -19,892

Transfers - 12,519 5,066 - 17,585

2016 Closing Balance 15 165 12,768 4,582 6 17,536

Additions 7 18 58 83

Applications/cancellations -86 -12,847 -5,103 -6 -18,042

Transfers 8,242 3,192 11,434

2017 Closing Balance 22 97 8,221 2,671 0 11,011

Thousand euro

 > Current provision for lawsuits: In 2017, the 
Company recognised a current provision of Euro 
18,000 and applied Euro 86,000 lawsuits, to 
cover possible contingencies arising from the 
relocation of network premises.  In 2016, the 
Company recognised a current provision of Euro 
85,000 for the same item, reducing it by Euro 
34,000.

 > Provision for termination benefits (workforce 
restructuring): The Company recognised a current 

provision of Euro 8,221,000 in 2017 and Euro 
12,768,000 in 2016 to cover the obligations 
arising from the workforce restructuring plan.

 > Provision for Social Security (workforce 
restructuring): The Company recognised a current 
provision of Euro 2,671,000 in 2017 and Euro 
4,582,000 in 2016  to cover the obligations 
arising from the workforce restructuring plan.
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11.3. Guarantees and bonds 

At the 2017 and 2016 reporting dates some of the 
Company’s transactions with third parties were secured 
with guarantees and bonds extended by banks and 
credit institutions, in an amount of Euro 34,746,000 
in 2017 and 43,453,000 in 2016, itemised as follows 
(thousand euro): 

     

The Company’s directors do not expect any liabilities to 
arise in the future in connection with these guarantees.
In the case of Transportes Ferroviarios de Madrid, 
the shareholders have secured a Euro 19,073,000 
subordinated loan with a maturity date of May 2016 (the 
Metro de Madrid guarantee was for Euro 8,106,000).  In 
2016, the Company restructured its debt completely, 
as a result of which the Metro de Madrid guarantee is 
limited to Euro 951,000 in 2016 and Euro 948,000 in 
2017. 

The Company has bank guarantees on non-current loans 
with the European Investment Bank (see Note 12.1).

Furthermore, as a result of the agreements entered into 
in 2014 to sell various real estate assets (see note 6), 
guarantees have been extended to the Company in an 
amount of Euro 864,000 in connection with the sale of 
Cavanilles-Granada and Euro 2,454,000 for the sale of 
the Cuatro Caminos property. These guarantees may be 
enforced in the event of a breach of contract.  

2017 2016In associates

Transporte Ferroviarios de Madrid                                          948 951

Non-current financing (EIB)                                              26,044

Other contingencies                                                                                                                                                 7,754

34,141

8,361



198 2017 Annual Report

12. Financial liabilities 

The carrying value of the financial liabilities is 
approximately the same as the fair value. 

 The classification of financial liabilities by category and 
class in 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Thousand euro

Thousand euro

Carrying value Carrying value

2017 2016

Debits and payables

Bank borrowings 674,430 688,351

Payables under finance leases (NOTE 7.1) 42,396 48,398

Other financial liabilities 5,238 6,390

Other non-current debt 59,875 35,469

Total debt 781,939 778,608

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 781,939 778,608

At amortised cost or cost

Carrying value Carrying value

2017 2016

Debits and payables

Bank borrowings 88,599 119,778

Payables under finance leases (NOTE 7.1) 7,578 7,796

Other financial liabilities 36,850 67,235

Total debt 133,027 194,809

Suppliers (group companies) 63,063 62,015

Other payables 246,242 244,977

Total creditors and other accounts payable 309,305 306,992

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 442,332 501,801

At amortised cost or cost

NON-CURRENT

CURRENT
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12.1. Loans and borrowings 

The nominal amount of bank loans and borrowings at 
31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

FY 2017

Thousand euro

* The Caixabank 2010, Abanca 2010, Bankinter 2015 and 
Santander 2016 loans that show a zero balance in 2017 
were repaid in full in 2017; and the BBVA 2016 loan was 
partially repaid in that year. 

Company 
Par value

2017
Par value

2016

B.E.I. (I) - 3,756

B.E.I. (II) 26,044 30,385

Bankinter 2009 7,500 10,500

Banco Popular 2009 7,500 10,500

Banco Sabadell 2009 7,500 10,500

BBVA 2009 4,653 6,514

Caixabank 2009 4,653 6,514

Caixabank 2010 - 22,500

Abanca 2010 - 13,500

Banco Sabadell 2014 6,000 10,000

Banco Caixa Geral 2014 5,082 6,776

Cajamar 2014 12,000 16,000

BEI 2015 48,000 48,000

BBVA 2015 50,768 55,383

Popular 2015 18,751 22,917

Abanca 2015 46,429 50,000

Bankinter 2015 - 34,335

BBVA 2015 6,873 7,637

Caixabank 2015 20,699 25,298

Bankia 2016 * 50,085 50,085

BBVA 2016 * 38,181 39,999

Cajamar 2016 28,332 29,999

Caixabank 2016 41,786 45,001

Banco Santander 2016 * - 67,719

BBVA 2016 29,777 55,000

Liberbank 2016 19,090 19,999

Caixabank 2016 6,668 7,180

España Duero 2016 25,791 26,913

Abanca 2016 28,750 30,000

Liberbank 2017 20,000 -

BBVA 2017 19,999 -

Abanca 2017 20,000 -

Bankinter 2017 32,000 -

Caixabank 2017 39,999 -

Banco Sabadell 2017 35,000 -

Cajamar 2017 30,000 -

BEI 2017 25,000 -

762,910 762,910
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Maturity of these loans at 31 December 2017 and 2016 
is as follows:

FY 2017 Thousand euro

Company 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter
Balance at
 31.12.17

B.E.I. (I) - - - - -

B.E.I. (II) 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,339 26,044

Bankinter 2009 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 7,500

Banco Popular 2009 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 7,500

Banco Sabadell 2009 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 7,500

BBVA 2009 1,861 1,861 931 0 0 0 4,653

Caixabank 2009 1,861 1,861 931 0 0 0 4,653

Banco Sabadell 2014 4,000 2,000 0 0 0 0 6,000

Banco Caixa Geral 2014 1,694 1,694 1,694 0 0 0 5,082

Cajamar 2014 4,000 4,000 4,000 0 0 0 12,000

BEI 2015 0 0 3,000 3,000 3,000 39,000 48,000

BBVA 2015 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 4,615 27,693 50,768

Popular 2015 4,167 4,167 4,167 4,167 2,083 0 18,751

Abanca 2015 7,143 7,143 7,143 7,143 7,143 10,714 46,429

BBVA 2015 764 764 764 764 764 3,053 6,873

Caixabank 2015 4,600 4,600 4,600 4,600 2,299 0 20,699

Bankia 2016 3,130 6,261 6,261 6,261 6,261 21,911 50,085

BBVA 2016 3,636 3,636 3,636 3,636 3,636 20,001 38,181

Cajamar 2016 3,333 3,333 3,333 3,333 3,333 11,667 28,332

Caixabank 2016 6,429 6,429 6,429 6,429 6,429 9,641 41,786

BBVA 2016 3,503 3,503 3,503 3,503 3,503 12,262 29,777

Liberbank 2016 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 10,000 19,090

Caixabank 2016 1,026 1,026 1,026 1,026 1,026 1,538 6,668

España Duero 2016 2,243 2,243 2,243 2,243 2,243 14,576 25,791

Abanca 2016 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 16,250 28,750

Liberbank 2017 909 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 11,819 20,000

BBVA 2017 1,111 2,222 2,222 2,222 2,222 10,000 19,999

Abanca 2017 1,429 2,857 2.857 2,857 2,857 7,143 20,000

Bankinter 2017 2,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 14,000 32,000

Caixabank 2017 2,857 5,714 5,714 5,714 5,714 14,286 39,999

Banco Sabadell 2017 2,500 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 12,500 35,000

Cajamar 2017 1,875 3,750 3,750 3,750 3,750 13,125 30,000

BEI 2017 0 0 0 0 1,762 23,238 25,000

TOTAL 88,345 102,156 96,796 84,740 82,117 308,756 762,910

Maturity at nominal amount
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FY 2016 Thousand euro

Company 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter
Balance at 
31.12.16

B.E.I. (I) 3,756 0 0 0 0 0 3,756

B.E.I. (II) 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,341 8,680 30,385

Bankinter 2009 3,000 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 10,500

Banco Popular 2009 3,000 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 10,500

Banco Sabadell 2009 3,000 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 10,500

BBVA 2009 1,861 1.861 1,861 931 0 0 6,514

Caixabank 2009 1,861 1,861 1,861 931 0 0 6,514

Caixabank 2010 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 2,500 0 22,500

Abanca 2010 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 13,500

Banco Sabadell 2014 4,000 4,000 2,000 0 0 0 10,000

Banco Caixa Geral 2014 1,694 1,694 1,694 1,694 0 0 6,776

Cajamar 2014 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 0 0 16,000

BEI 2015 0 0 0 3,000 3,000 42,000 48,000

BBVA 2015 4,615 4,615 4,615 4.615 4,615 32,308 55,383

Popular 2015 4,167 4,167 4,167 4,167 4,167 2,082 22,917

Abanca 2015 3,571 7,143 7,143 7,143 7,143 17,857 50,000

Bankinter 2015 4,578 4,578 4,578 4,578 4,578 11,445 34,335

BBVA 2015 764 764 764 764 764 3,817 7,637

Caixabank 2015 4,600 4,600 4,600 4,600 4,600 2,298 25,298

Bankia 2016 * 0 3,130 6,261 6,261 6,261 28,172 50,085

BBVA 2016 * 1,818 3,636 3,636 3,636 3,636 23,637 39,999

Cajamar 2016 1,667 3,333 3,333 3,333 3,333 15,000 29,999

Caixabank 2016 3,214 6,429 6,429 6,429 6,429 16,071 45.001

Banco Santander 2016 * 0 3,386 3,386 12,189 12,189 36,569 67.719

BBVA 2016 3,056 6,111 6,111 6,111 6,111 27,500 55,000

Liberbank 2016 909 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 11,818 19,999

Caixabank 2016 513 1,026 1,026 1,026 1,026 2,563 7,180

España Duero 2016 1,121 2,243 2,243 2,243 2,243 16,820 26,913

Abanca 2016 1,250 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 18,750 30,000

TOTAL 74,356 94,236 95,367 98,810 82,754 317,387 762,  910

Maturity at nominal value 
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The balances, interest rates and a breakdown between current and non-current (based on the amortised cost 
recognised on the balance sheet) at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

FY 2017                                       Thousand euro

Company 
Average interest

 rates (%)

Current 
amortised 

cost 

Non-current
amortised 

cost Total
Maturity 
(year)

B.E.I. (I) - - - -

B.E.I. (II) 0 4,341 21,703 26,044 2023

Bankinter 2009 0.63 3,000 4,500 7,500 2020

Banco Popular 2009 0.71 3,000 4,500 7,500 2020

Banco Sabadell 2009 0.98 3,000 4,500 7,500 2020

BBVA 2009 1.03 1.861 2,792 4,653 2020

Caixabank 2009 1.03 1,861 2,792 4,653 2020

Caixabank 2010 1.73 0 0 0 2017

Abanca 2010 2.23 0 0 0 2017

Banco Sabadell 2014 1.24 3,988 1,998 5,986 2019

Banco Caixa Geral 2014 1.09 1,690 3,384 5,074 2020

Cajamar 2014 1.21 3,991 7,992 11,983 2020

BEI 2015 1.62 0 48,000 48,000 2035

BBVA 2015 1.7 4,605 46,101 50,706 2028

Popular 2015 0.74 4,166 14,583 18,749 2022

Abanca 2015 0.63 7,142 39,284 46,426 2024

Bankinter 2015 2 0 0 0 2017

BBVA 2015 1.7 763 6,108 6,871 2026

Caixabank 2015 1.23 4,599 16,098 20,697 2022

Bankia 2016 1.5 3,130 46,951 50,081 2026

BBVA 2016 1.24 3,626 34,497 38,123 2028

Cajamar 2016 0.85 3,333 24,998 28,331 2026

Caixabank 2016 1.2 6,428 35,355 41,783 2024

Banco Santander 2016 2.25 0 0 0 2017

BBVA 2016 1.8 3,503 26,271 29,774 2026

Liberbank 2016 1.13 1,818 17,271 19,089 2028

Caixabank 2016 1.16 1,025 5,640 6,665 2024

España Duero 2016 0.77 2,242 23,546 25,788 2029

Abanca 2016 0.99 2,500 26,247 28,747 2029

Liberbank 2017 2.07 909 19,091 20,000 2029

BBVA 2017 1.14 1,111 18,889 20,000 2027

Abanca 2017 0.83 1,429 18,571 20,000 2025

Bankinter 2017 0.78 2,000 30,000 32,000 2026

Caixabank 2017 0.93 2,857 37,143 40,000 2025

Banco Sabadell 2017 1.07 2,500 32,500 35,000 2025

Cajamar 2017 0.66 1,875 28,125 30,000 2026

BEI 2017 1.31 0 25,000 25,000 2037

88,293 674,430 762,723TOTAL
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FY 2016                                                Thousand euro

Company 
Average interest

 rates (%)

Current 
amortised 

cost 

Non-current 
amortised 

cost Total
Maturity 
(year)

B.E.I. (I) 0 3,756 0 3,756 2017
B.E.I. (II) 0 4,341 26,044 30,385 2023
Bankinter 2009 0.79 3,000 7,500 10,500 2020
Banco Popular 2009 0.87 3,000 7,500 10,500 2020
Banco Sabadell 2009 1.14 3,000 7,500 10,500 2020
BBVA 2009 1.19 1,861 4,653 6,514 2020
Caixabank 2009 1.19 1,861 4,653 6,514 2020
Caixabank 2010 1.89 5,000 17,500 22,500 2021
Abanca 2010 2.39 3,000 10,500 13,500 2021
Banco Sabadell 2014 1.34 3,978 5,985 9,963 2019
Banco Caixa Geral 2014 1.3 1,689 5,074 6,763 2020
Cajamar 2014 1.49 3,988 11,983 15,971 2020
BEI 2015 1.62 0 48,000 48,000 2035
BBVA 2015 1.7 4,604 50,705 55,309 2028
Popular 2015 1.12 4,166 18,749 22,915 2022
Abanca 2015 0.79 3,571 46,425 49,996 2024
Bankinter 2015 2 4,577 29,756 34,333 2024
BBVA 2015 1.7 763 6,871 7,634 2026
Caixabank 2015 1.39 4,599 20,697 25,296 2022
Bankia 2016 * 1.37 0 50,081 50,081 2026
BBVA 2016 * 0.62 1,813 38,118 39,931 2028
Cajamar 2016 0.42 1,666 28,331 29,997 2026
Caixabank 2016 0.6 3,214 41,784 44,998 2024
Banco Santander 2016 * 1.84 6 67,713 67,719 2024
BBVA 2016 2.2 3,055 51,940 54,995 2026
Liberbank 2016 0.56 909 19,089 19,998 2028
Caixabank 2016 0.58 513 6,665 7,178 2024
España Duero 2016 0.96 1,121 25,788 26,909 2029
Abanca 2016 1.17 1,250 28,747 29,997 2029

74,301 688,351 762,652TOTAL

* Due to the calculation of the amortised cost of the Bankia 2016, BBVA 2016 and Banco Santander 2016 
loans, the outstanding capital was increased in 2016 which is not reflected in the balance sheet for 2016.
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In 2017 the Company entered into eight loan 
agreements with different banks for a total amount of 
Euro 222,000,000 which was drawn down during the 
year as follows (thousand euro):  

In order to improve the financial structure of the 
Company, loans extended Caixabank, Abanca, Bankinter, 
Santander and BBVA were partially and totally repaid.  

REPAYMENT OF LOANS IN 2017 

In 2016 the Company entered into loan agreements 
with six banks for a total amount of Euro 199,000,092, 
which was drawn down during the year (in thousand 
euro):

Company Term (years) Principal

LIBERBANK 12 20,000

BBVA 10 20,000

ABANCA 8 20,000

BANKINTER 9 32,000

CAIXABANK 8 40,000

SABADELL 8 35,000

CAJAMAR 9 30,000

BEI 20 25,000

222,000

Repaid loan 
Outstanding balance  

(nominal value)
Amortised

 cost

CAIXABANK 2010 17,500 17,500

ABANCA 2010 10,500 10,500

BANKINTER 2015 29,758 29,756

BANCO SANTANDER 2016 67,719 67,719

BBVA 2016 22,167 22,165

147,644 147,640

Thousand euro

Company Term (years) Principal 

CAJAMAR 10 30,000

ESPAÑA DUERO 13 26,912

LIBERBANK 12 20,000

ABANCA 13 30,000

BBVA 12 40,000

CAIXABANK 1 8 45,000

CAIXABANK 2 8 7,180

199,092
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In order to improve the terms and conditions of the 
financing transactions arranged in prior years, loans 
extended by Bankia, Santander and BBVA have been 
cancelled and new loan agreements have been signed 
with these banks.

LOANS REPAID IN 2016 Thousand euro

Repaid loan 
Outstanding balance

 (nominal value)
Amortised 

cost New loans 
Principal                

(nominal value)
Amortised

cost

BANKIA 2009 8,375 8,375

BANKIA 2010 16,500 16,500

BANKIA 2011 13,209 13,194

BANKIA 2014 12,000 11,958

SANTANDER 2009 7,444 7,444

SANTANDER 2010 15,000 15,000

SANTANDER 2012 11,375 11,372

SANTANDER 2013 9,900 9,898

SANTANDER 2014 24,000 23,915

BBVA 2010 25,000 25,000

BBVA 2014 30,000 29,915

172,803 172,571 172,804 172,795

BANKIA 2016 50,081

SANTANDER 2016 67,719 67,719

BBVA 2016 55,000 54,995

50,085

In connection with the Caixabank 2010 loan, in 2014 
the Company arranged a perfect hedge with this bank 
covering 50% of the nominal amount of the loan (Euro 
16,250,000), and with the same interest settlement dates 
as the loan. In 2016 when the hedge was evaluated, the 
amount was reduced by 546,000, of which Euro 546,000 
was recognised in equity, net of the tax effect (see table 
of recognised income and expense). With the repayment 
of the Caixabank 2010 loans in 2017, the hedge as also 
derecognised, transferring the cancellation costs of 
Euro 306,000 to the income statement.  

Current interest accrued and payable at 31 December 
2017 amounts to Euro 306,000 and has been recognised 
in the balance sheet under heading 2. “Loans and 
borrowings”, in section III. “Current payables”. At the 
2016 reporting date this item totalled Euro 634,000.
Borrowing costs recognised in 2017 and 2016 amounted 
to Euro 16,665,000 and Euro 16,064,000, respectively.
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Details of the maturity of non-current payables at 31 December 2017 and 2016, on an amortised cost basis, are as 
follows:

FY 2017:                            Thousand euro 

Company 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter
Balance at 
31.12.17

B.E.I. (II) 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,339 0 21,703

Bankinter 2009 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 0 4,500

Banco Popular 2009 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 0 4,500

Banco Sabadell 2009 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 0 4,500

BBVA 2009 1,861 931 0 0 0 0 2,792

Caixabank 2009 1,861 931 0 0 0 0 2,792

Caixabank 2010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Abanca 2010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Banco Sabadell 2014 1,998 0 0 0 0 0 1,998

Banco Caixa Geral 2014 1,691 1,693 0 0 0 0 3,384

Cajamar 2014 3,994 3,998 0 0 0 0 7,992

BEI 2015 0 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 36,000 48,000

BBVA 2015 4,606 4,607 4,608 4,609 4,610 23,061 46,101

Popular 2015 4,166 4,166 4,167 2,084 0 0 14,583

Abanca 2015 7,142 7,142 7,142 7,142 7,142 3,574 39,284

Bankinter 2015 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

BBVA 2015 763 763 763 763 763 2,293 6,108

Caixabank 2015 4,599 4,599 4,599 2,301 0 0 16,098

Bankia 2016 6,260 6,260 6,260 6,260 6,260 15,651 46,951

BBVA 2016 3,627 3,628 3,629 3,630 3,631 16,352 34,497

Cajamar 2016 3,333 3,333 3,333 3,333 3,333 8,333 24,998

Caixabank 2016 6,428 6,427 6,428 6,428 6,428 3,216 35,355

Banco Santander 2016 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

BBVA 2016 3,503 3,503 3,503 3,503 3,503 8,756 26,271

Liberbank 2016 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 8,181 17,271

Caixabank 2016 1,025 1,025 1,026 1,025 1,025 514 5,640

España Duero 2016 2,242 2,242 2,242 2,242 2,242 12,336 23,546

Abanca 2016 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 13,747 26,247

Liberbank 2017 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 10,001 19,091

BBVA 2017 2,222 2,222 2,222 2,222 2,222 7,779 18,889

Abanca 2017 2,857 2,857 2,857 2,857 2,857 4,286 18,571

Bankinter 2017 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 10,000 30,000

Caixabank 2017 5,714 5,714 5,714 5,714 5,714 8,573 37,143

Banco Sabadell 2017 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 7,500 32,500

Cajamar 2017 3,750 3,750 3,750 3,750 3,750 9,375 28,125

BEI 2017 0 0 0 1,562 1,562 21,876 25,000

TOTAL 102,119 96,768 84,720 81,902 77,517 231,404 674,430

Amortised cost at maturity 
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FY 2016                                                         Thousand euro

Company 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Thereafter
Balance at
31.12.16

B.E.I. (II) 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,341 4,339 4,341 26,044

Bankinter 2009 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 7,500

Banco Popular 2009 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 7,500

Banco Sabadell 2009 3,000 3,000 1,500 0 0 0 7,500

BBVA 2009 1,861 1,861 931 0 0 0 4,653

Caixabank 2009 1,861 1,861 931 0 0 0 4,653

Caixabank 2010 5,000 5,000 5,000 2,500 0 0 17,500

Abanca 2010 3,000 3,000 3.000 1,500 0 0 10,500

Banco Sabadell 2014 3,988 1,997 0 0 0 0 5,985

Banco Caixa Geral 2014 1,690 1,691 1,693 0 0 0 5,074

Cajamar 2014 3,991 3,994 3,998 0 0 0 11,983

BEI 2015 0 0 3,000 3,000 3,000 39,000 48,000

BBVA 2015 4,605 4,606 4,607 4,608 4,609 27,670 50,705

Popular 2015 4,166 4,166 4,166 4,167 2,084 0 18,749

Abanca 2015 7,142 7,142 7,142 7,142 7,142 10,715 46,425

Bankinter 2015 4,578 4,578 4,578 4,578 4,578 6,866 29,756

BBVA 2015 763 763 763 763 763 3,056 6,871

Caixabank 2015 4,599 4,599 4,599 4,599 2,301 0 20,697

Bankia 2016 * 3,130 6,260 6,260 6,260 6,260 21,911 50,081

BBVA 2016 * 3,626 3,627 3,628 3,629 3,630 19,978 38,118

Cajamar 2016 3,333 3,333 3,333 3,333 3,333 11,666 28,331

Caixabank 2016 6,428 6,428 6,427 6,428 6,428 9,645 41,784

Banco Santander 2016 * 3,392 3,392 12,191 12,194 12,196 24,348 67,713

BBVA 2016 6,110 6,110 6,111 6,111 6,111 21,387 51,940

Liberbank 2016 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 1,818 9,999 19,089

Caixabank 2016 1,025 1,025 1,025 1,026 1,026 1,538 6,665

España Duero 2016 2,242 2,242 2,242 2,242 2,242 14,578 25,788

Abanca 2016 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 16,247 28,747

TOTAL 94,189 95,334 98,784 82,739 74,360 242,945 688,351

Amortised cost at maturity 
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12.2. Other financial liabilities 

12.2.1. Other non-current financial 
liabilities

On the balance sheet, heading 5. “Other financial 
liabi¬lities” in section II. “Non-current payables” reflects 
the following:

 > The present value of the outstanding amount 
of the repayable interest-free loans extended 
by the Ministry of Industry, Energy and Tourism 
and the Ministry of Development in the period 
from 2008 to 2016 inclusive is Euro 1,884,000 
(Euro 2,489,000 in 2015). Maturity information is 
shown below:

FY 2017                                                               Thousand euro

Par 
value

Current
value

Ministry of Industry, Tourism 
and Trade 

671 644 282 251 222 188 553 432

Ministry of Development 58 56 58 51 58 49 290 213

TOTAL 729 700 340 302 280 237 843 645

Company 

2019 2020 2021 Thereafter
Par 

value
Current
value

Par 
value

Current
value

Par 
value

Current
value

FY 2016                                                                Thousand euro

Nominal
value

Current
value

Ministry of Industry, Tourism 
and Trade 

671 644 671 595 282 240 774 604

Ministry of Development 58 56 58 51 58 49 348 250

TOTAL 729 700 729 646 340 289 1,122 854

Company 

2018 2019 2020 Thereafter
Nominal
value

Current
value

Nominal
value

Current
value

Nominal
value

Current
value

At the 2017 and 2016 year end, non-current guarantees received amount to Euro 3,354,000.  
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12.2.2. Other current financial liabilities.

On the balance sheet, heading 5. “Other financial 
liabilities” in section III. “Current payables” essentially 
reflects the following:          

The balance of Euro 846,000 that appears under “Other 
payables” at 31 December 2017 (Euro 860,000 in 2016) 
refers primarily to the non-interest-bearing repayable 
loans from the Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Trade 
and the Ministry of Development in the fiscal years from 
2008 to 2016 (see note 12.2.1). 

12.3. Other non-current payables 

The balance of Euro 59,875,000 that appears under 
section 6, “Other non-current payables” on the 2017 
balance sheets (Euro 35,469,000 in 2016) refers 
primarily to the cash payments received from the 
buyer for the sale of the Cuatro Caminos Land, which 
was reversed in 2016 (See note 6).

Thousand euro

Balance at 
31.12.2017

Balance at 
31.12.2016

Fixed asset suppliers: 

  > Invoices received 22,245 48,708

  > Invoices pending receipt 13,415 17,294

SUBTOTAL 35,660 66,002

Other payables 1,190 1,233

TOTAL 36,850 67,235
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12.5. Late payments to suppliers. 
“Reporting Requirement”, third additional 
provision of Law 15/2010 of 5 July 2010

Details of the average supplier payment period are as follows:

2017 2016

Days Days

44 59

Number of payments made 45 61

Number of pending payments 41 41

2017 2016

Total payments made 594,472 620,031

Total payments outstanding 54,758 53,960

Average days to pay suppliers

Thousands of euros
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13. Non-current prepayments and
accruals 

A breakdown of heading “VII. Prepayments for non-current 
assets” in the balance sheet is as follows (see note 7):

NON-CURRENT ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME 2017 2016

Ferromóvil 3000 operating lease 41,212 44,926

Ferromóvil 9000 operating lease 26,063 28,402

Total 67,275 73,328

 This caption reflects the non-current portions of the 
difference between the expenses recognised in the 
year and the lease payments paid to the lessors of 
the Ferromovil 3000 and Ferromovil rolling stock (see 
notes 7 and 15).

Section V. “Non-current accruals” under liabilities on the 
balance sheet reflects the following:

a) The fibre optics assignment agreement 
entered into with Madritel, S.A., with a term of 20 
years and for a total amount of Euro 12,621,254. 
At 31 December 2017 and 2017, balances of 
Euro  947,000 and Euro 1,578,000, respectively, 
have yet to be taken to income. Accrued income 
is recognised in profit and loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the agreement.

b) The collaboration agreement between Metro 
de Madrid, S.A. and Madrid City Council to open up 
to the public the turbine chamber at the Pacífico 
electrical power station and Chamberí metro 
station. The agreement is for a term of 16 years 
and an amount of Euro 6,280,000. The amount 
received is non-refundable provided these two 
facilities remain open to the public from one year 
to the next. Since 2010 the amounts accrued each 
year have therefore been taken to “Other capital 
grants” in section A-3) “Grants, donations and 
bequests received” on the balance sheet, net of the 
tax effect (see note 10). At 31 December 2017 and 
2016, balances of Euro 2,355 and Euro 2,748,000, 
respectively, have yet to be transferred to equity 
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14. Tax situation and public administrations 

14.1. Current tax balances 

Details of current balances payable to and receivable from public 
entities at the 2016 and 2015 reporting dates are as follows  
(thousand euro):

Other taxes payable 2017 2016

Spain

  Personal income tax payable 6,191 5,951

  Social security tax 7,450 7,605

Ecuador (see note 1)

  Personal income tax payable -  43

Total 13,641 13,599

Other taxes payable 2017 2016

Spain

    Tax withholdings and other 66 87

    Instalment payments, corporate tax 36 -

    VAT payable 37,362 38,354

    VAT paid, not accrued 4.,308 3,262

    Social security 19 9

    Grants, Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 733 2,466

Total 42,524 44,178

The amount shown under “Tax authorities, unaccrued input VAT” reflects unused deductions available arising from 
invoices for fixed assets under construction payable at the due date, as provided for in article 75.two of Law 
37/1992
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14.2. Reconciliation of the accounting 
result with the tax result. 

The Company’s principal activity being metropolitan 
public transport, it is entitled to avail itself of the 
allowance provided for in article 34.2 of the Income 
Tax Law, whereby a rebate applies to 99% of gross tax 
payable.

The table below shows the reconciliation of the 
accounting loss with the tax loss for 2017:

TOTAL

-31,327

Increases Decreases Balance Total

Tax on profits 90 35 55 - 89 -89 -34

Permanent differences 86 7,017 -6,931 - - - -6,931

Temporary differences: - - - - - - -

- Arising during the year 23,402 - 23,402 35,698 35,698 59,100

- Carryforwards 59,411 -59,411 - - - -59,411

Offset of prior-year losses - - - - - - -

Taxable base - - -38,604 1 -38,603

Item 
INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED 

DIRECTLY IN EQUITYINCOME STATEMENT

Income/expense for the year
4,281 -35,609

Increases Decreases Balance

Thousand euro

The table below shows the reconciliation of the 
accounting result with the tax result for 2016:

TOTAL

-109,303

Increases Decreases Balance Total

Tax on profits 269 185 84 - 275 -275 -191

Permanent differences 308 - 308 10,529 - 10,529 10,837

Temporary differences:

- Arising during the year 127,621 - 127,621 41,105 - 41,105 168,726

- Carryforwards - 53,679 -53,679 - - - -53,679

Offset of prior-year losses - 4,098 -4,098 - - - -4,098

Taxable base - - 1,763 - - 10,529 12,292

Income/expense for the year
-68,473 -40,830

Item 
INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED 

DIRECTLY IN EQUITYINCOME STATEMENT

Increases Decreases Balance

Thousand euro
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The adjustments made to the carrying results by 
applying the temporary differences are as follows:                                                                   

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Holiday provision agents hired before 1978 - - - -

Provision for taxes   790 - 551 -

HR provision 10,052 - 3,628 -

Inventory depreciation provision - - 559 -

N/C provision for litigation - - 3,515 -

Current provision for litigation 18 - 85 -

Restriction on financial expenses - - 8,604 -

Provisions for termination benefits and social security 11,492 - 18,407 -

Provision for municipal taxes 1 - - -

N/C provisions for employee compensation 1,004 - 674 -

Provision for late interest - - 4,126 -

Cuatro Caminos operation (See Note 6) - - 87,470 -

Closure of Ecuador location 45 - -

TOTAL 23,402 - 127,621 - 

Temporary differences arising during the year

2017 2016

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Provision for taxes - 4,551 - -

Application pending HR provision  - 5,183 - 9,475

Inventory depreciation provision - 101 - -

Outsourcing of pension plan - - - -

Holiday provision agents hired before 1978 - 95 - 8

Provisions for termination benefits and social security - 29,398 - 37,444

Current provision for litigation - 86 - 34

Provision for municipal taxes - - - -

Provision for financial asset depreciation - - - -

Amortisation restriction - 6,718 - 6,718

Restriction on financial expenses - 12,530 - -

Provision for late interest - 749 - -

TOTAL 59,411 53,679

Temporary differences arising in prior years
2017 2016

Thousand euro

Thousand euro
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14.3. Reconciliation of the accounting 
loss with the tax credit arising from 
corporate income tax.

The table below shows the calculation of the tax credit 
for 2017 and 2016  arising from the tax base calculated 
in the preceding point:

Items 2017 2016

Pre-tax carrying losses -4,336 68,389

Permanent differences 6,931 -10,837

Taxable base 2,595 57,552

25% tax credit 25% (2015 at 28%) 649 14,388

99% discount (Art. 34.2  Income Tax Law ). 642 14,244

Corporate tax income/(expense) for the year -7 -144

Corporate tax income for the year            
(unrecognised tax losses)

97 -144 

Adjustment to tax on profits -35 84

Corporate tax revenue -55 -84

14.4. Breakdown of income tax 
expense (income).

Details of the income tax expense/income in 2017 and 
2016 are as follows:            

Thousand euro

2017 2016

Current-year tax -35 144

- Current year  - 144

- Current year -35 -

Deferred tax 90 -60

TOTAL -55 -84

Thousand euro

Tax loss carryforwards for the following amounts are 
available for offset at 31 December 2017, with no time 
limit for their application (thousand euro).

FY Amount

2009 27,037

2010 92,401

2011 15,565

2012 59,452

2013 102,990

2015 61,251

2017 (estimated) 38,603

TOTAL 397,299
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These tax losses represent a tax credit of Euro 993,000. 
Of this amount, the company had recognised Euro 
337,000 as assets at 31 December 2017. 
 
In fiscal year 2016, tax loss carryforwards from 2009 
were offset in an amount of Euro 4,089,000.

14.5. Recognised deferred tax assets

Details of this item at the 2017 and 2016 reporting 
dates are as follows:

Deferred tax assets 2017 2016

Provision for taxes 10 19

Provision for litigation 50 37

Provision for financial investments 11 11

Provision for inventory depreciation 8 8

Provision for pre-1978 employee holiday leave pay 1 1

Provision for municipal taxes 1 1

Provision for post-employment transport pass 37 40

Limitation on deductibility of financial expenses  128 159

Current provision for litigation 1 1

Amortisation restriction 117 134

ERE provision 37 82

Temporary differences due to hedges 0 1

Late interest, suppliers 8 10

Cuatro Caminos operation 219 219

Closure of Ecuador location 1 -

Temporary differences 629 723

Tax credit 337 334

Total deferred tax assets 966 1,057

Thousand euro
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Pursuant to the new Income Tax Law 27/2014, which 
brought the corporate income tax rate down from 28% 
to 25%, tax credits were adjusted in 2016 resulting in a 
reduction of Euro 41,000. 

The tax credit at 31 December 2016 includes Euro 
334,000 in tax losses recognised in prior years. At the 
2017 year end this amount was Euro 337,000.

Based on the best estimate of the Company’s future 
profits, it is probable that the above deferred tax 

assets will be recovered, and they have therefore been 
recognised on the balance sheet.

Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences 
decreased by Euro 94,000 in 2017. In 2016 they 
increased by Euro 87,000, including Euro 62,000 as a 
result of the corporate income tax rate being reduced 
from 28% to 25%.
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14.6. Unrecognised deferred tax assets.

The Company has not recognised certain deferred tax 
assets in the accompanying balance sheet, as their 
application in the short and medium term is considered 
unlikely. Details of these unrecognised deferred tax 
assets are as follows:

      Pending deductions 2017 2016

Training courses 2006 144 144

Training courses 2007 144 144

Training courses 2008 122 122

Training courses 2009 72 72

Training courses 2010 26 26

R+D+i expense 2005 67 67

R+D+i expense 2006 143 143

R+D+i expense 2007 283 283

R+D+i expense 2008 1,981 1,981

R+D+i expense 2009 2,720 2,720

R+D+i expense 2010 863 863

R+D+i expense 2011 312 312

R+D+i expense 2012 56 56

R+D+i expense 2013 48 48

R+D+i expense 2014 23 23

R+D+i expense 2015 25 25

R+D+i expense 2016 3 3

R+D+i expense 2017* 51 -

Donations to non-profits 2009 57 57

Donations to non-profits 2010 35 35

Donations to non-profits 2011 32 32

Donations to non-profits 2012 11 11

International double taxation 2012 385 385

International double taxation2013 148 148

Unrecognised tax income 2012 149 149

Unrecognised tax income 2013 257 257

Unrecognised tax income 2015 153 153

Unrecognised tax income 2017 (*) 96 -

Total deferred tax assets 8,406 8,259

Thousand euro

* Estimated.
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14.7. Deferred tax liabilities.

Applying the 18th measurement standard, on “Grants, 
donations and bequests received”, capital grants are 
accounted for as income directly in equity. Such income 
is recognised net of the tax effect, and a deferred tax 
liability is therefore recorded. At  the 2017 year end this 
balance amounts to Euro 1,216,000 (Euro 1,306,000 
in 2016) and the variation in the deferred amount – 
a reduction of Euro 90,000 – has been recognised in 
equity. 

14.8. Years open to tax inspections and 
audits.

In accordance with current legislation, taxes cannot be 
considered definitive until they have been inspected 
and agreed by the taxation authorities or before the 
inspection period of four years has elapsed. Therefore, at 
31 December 2017, the Company has open to inspection 
by the taxation authorities all the main applicable taxes 
since December 2013, except for income tax which is 
open to inspection since 1 January 2013. The directors 
do not expect that any significant additional liabilities 
would arise in the event of an inspection

Nonetheless, the tax authorities’ right to examine or 
investigate tax loss carryforwards (whether available 
or already offset), double taxation relief and tax credits 
aimed at incentivising certain activities (whether 
applied or available) becomes statute-barred ten years 
as from the day after the filing deadline for the tax return 
or self-assessment for the tax period in which the right 
of offset or application was generated. After this period, 
the Company must justify the tax loss carryforwards 
or tax credits by presenting the assessment or self-
as¬sessment and its accounts, together with evidence 
of their having been filed during the aforementioned 
period at the Commercial Registry.
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15. Current prepayments and accruals 

A breakdown of heading “VI. Prepayments for current 
assets” in the balance sheet is as follows (see notes 7 
and 13): 

CURRENT PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUALS 2017 2016

Ferromóvil 3000 operating lease 3,715 2,203

Ferromóvil 9000 operating lease 2,338 1,378

Total 6,096 3,641

Others 43 60

“Current accruals” under liabilities in the balance sheet 
comprise Euro 116,000, reflecting the maintenance and 
adaptation of the rolling stock under the sale-purchase 
agreement entered into with Subterráneos de Buenos 
Aires (SBASE) for units in the 6000 series. The Company 
has recognised revenue of Euro 248,000 in the income 
statement deriving from external services, based on 
progress billings for the work carried out (see note 6). 
No work was performed under this contract in 2017. 
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16. Liabilities for non-current employee 
benefits

The commitments undertaken by the Company are set 
forth in the collective bargaining agreement for the 
2016-2019 period, whereby it consents to incorporate 
as an integral part of that agreement the arbitration 
awards handed down on 18 December 1999 and 2 
February 2000.

The main commitments undertaken by the Company 
are as follows:

 > Immediate and lifelong survivor annuity for 
retired personnel or beneficiaries of the defunct 
“FAS” (Social Welfare Fund) drawing retirement 
benefit prior to 30 June 1998, or death of spouse, 
death of parent or permanent disability benefit 
pursuant to the 18 December 1999 arbitration 
award and the 2 February 2000 explanatory 
award.

 > Death of beneficiaries (retired or permanently 
totally disabled personnel) who joined the 
Company prior to 18 March 1998.

All of the obligations described above have been insured 
and discounted at 31 December 2017 through insurance 
policies compliant with the first additional provision 
of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2002 of 29 November 
2002, approving the Revised Pension Plans and Funds 
Law, and Royal Decree 1588/1999 of 15 October 1999, 
enacting the Regulation on firms’ pension commitments 
to employees and beneficiaries.

The present value of pension commitments externalised 
in 2001 for retired personnel was calculated using the 
following parameters:

 > Technical interest rate: 5.97% for the first 40 
annuities and 3.05% for the remainder.

 > Mortality table: PERM/F-2000P.

The present value of death commitments externalised at 
31 December 2010 for retired personnel was calculated 
using the following parameters:

 > Technical interest rate: 2.25% per annum.

 > Mortality table: GKM/F-95.

The Company considers that all of the commitments 
undertaken at the date of preparation of the financial 
statements are fully and correctly insured.

In addition to the above-mentioned commitments, 
Metro de Madrid, S.A. provides a transport pass free of 
charge to any serving employee who requests one from 
the Company. This commitment is regulated in writing 
in the Company’s internal rules.

However, the provision of assistance to retired personnel 
to offset transport costs has been suspended due to the 
fact that, even though this commitment is regulated 
in the Company’s internal rules and approved in the 
budget of Community of Madrid which applies to the 
Company, we are not allowed to provide this as it is 
considered an employee benefit.  

At 31 December 2017, the Company updated the amount 
of the provision for the commitment to personnel which 
will be paid starting in FY 2018 once the actuarial 
report is available. The amount of the provision is Euro 
14,939,000 (Euro 15,815,000 in 2016) (see note 11.1.1).
The main assumptions on which the study was based 
were as follows: 

 > Mortality tables: PERMF 2000 NP

 > Technical interest rate: 1.96%

 > Inflation: 1.5%

 > No disability or turnover tables were applied 
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 > The projected unit credit method was used to 
determine the benefits accrued in respect of the 
commitments assessed. Under this calculation 
method, costs are assigned as the services are 
rendered; that is, the total projected obligation 
is distributed on a uniform basis over the years 
during which the employee renders service to the 
Company, until the benefit is received.
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17. Income and expenses 

a) Wages, salaries and employee benefits 

Details of salaries and wages in 2017 and 2016 are as
follows:

ITEM 2017 2016

Salaries 271,332 261,575

Accident and illness 4,320 3,615

Expense allowance  395 386

Other payroll items 9,545 3,321

Termination benefits 55 894

TOTAL 285,647 269,791

Details of employee benefits are as follows:

ITEM 2017 2016

Social security 85,061 80,963

Social security (workforce restructuring) -1,267 -1,221

Social security voluntary collaboration 2,804 5,343

Other staff welfare costs 5,175 4,975

TOTAL 91,773 90,060

Thousand euro

Thousand euro
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b) External services

In 2017 and 2016 the details of this income statement 
item are as follows:

Thousand euro

The item titled “External services” primarily includes 
security patrol for facilities and rolling stock, cleaning 
and fumigation services and cash transportation.

ITEM 2017 2016

Royalties and leases (note 7.2) 164,332 162,216

Repairs and maintenance 107,713 102,990

Utilities 66,795 55,199

External services 109,555 107,716

Insurance premiums 4,528 4,447

Bank and similar services 665 1,717

Transport and insurance 1 1

Comunicaciones 1,421 1,436

Public relations 260 195

Advertising and publicity 2,104 1,316

Legal costs 107 55

Consultants 1,940 2,587

Miscellaneous 498 420

TOTAL 459,919 440,295

External services 2017 2016

Security services 48,211 48,482

Cleaning services 48,505 48,404

Cash transportation 1,593 1,767

Other external services 11,246 9,063

TOTAL 109,555 107,716

Thousand euro
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c) Sales

Sales revenue for 2017 and 2016 is distributed as 
follows:

ITEM 2017 2016

Passenger transport 844,386 820,597

Commissions on ticket sales Madrid Regional 
Transport Consortium  

21,918 21,410

Operating income Transport Ferroviarios Madrid SA 9,944 9,721

Operating income Metros Ligeros Madrid SA 7,401 10,051

Sales 883,649 861,779

 > Passenger transport revenues: This heading 
reflects the remuneration from public rail 
transport services provided on the Autonomous 
Region of Madrid network, based on an average 
fare per passenger carried pursuant to the 
Framework Agreement entered into with the 
Madrid Regional Transport Consortium (see note 1).

On 30 December 2016 the Madrid Regional 
Transport Consortium and Metro de Madrid, S.A. 
entered into an agreement, effective from 1 
January 2017 to 31 December 2017, regulating the 
relationship between the two entities

 > Ticket sale revenues: Under the Framework 
Agreement with the Madrid Regional Transport 
Consortium (CRTM), the Company has been 
entrusted with ticket sales and receives a 
commission for each ticket sold.

Thousand euro

 > Operating revenues from the Transportes 
Ferroviarios Madrid, S.A. (TFM) network: The 
Company has entered into an agreement for 
the comprehensive operation of the Line 9B 
rail concession between Puerta de Arganda and 
Arganda del Rey stations, for which Transportes 
Ferroviarios de Madrid, S.A. holds the concession.

 > Operating revenues from the Metros Ligeros 
de Madrid, S.A. (MLM) network: The Company has 
entered into an agreement for the comprehensive 
operation of the Line ML1 light railway 
concession between Pinar de Chamartín and Las 
Tablas station.
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d) Other income/expense 

Included under the heading of “Other income/expense 
for fiscal years 2017 and 2016 are the following 
amounts:

2017 2016

Other income  4,279 296

Other expenses 328 91,050

SUBTOTAL 3,951 -90,754

Thousand euro

In 2017, the balances under “Other income” primarily 
reflect the cancellation of provisions funded for claims 
lodged by the City of Madrid in relation to business and 
property taxes (see Note 11.1.2) 

In 2016, these balances included amounts reimbursed 
by the tax authorities for the health tax (“céntimo 
sanitario”), among other things. 

In 2017, the balances under “Other expenses” primarily 
reflect indemnity payments for evictions from different 
commercial properties and in 2016 it included Euro 
86,967,000 for the possible withdrawal from the 
contract to purchase the Cuatro Caminos property  (see 
note 6). 
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18. Related party transactions 

Details of transactions with associates in 2017 and 
2016  are as follows:             

2017 2016 2017 2016

Transportes Ferroviarios de Madrid, S.A.

Provision of Services 10,590 10,742 - -

Advertisement - - 21 21

10,590 10,742 21 21

Metros Ligeros de Madrid, S.A.

Operation of ML1 light rail 7,319 9,994 - -

Other revenue 98 630 - -

Cost of using Hortaleza engine sheds and other expenses - - 1,262 1,148

Interest on loans 17 17

7,434 10,641 1,262 1,148

TOTAL 18,024 21,383 1,283 1,169

COMPANY
INCOME EXPENSES

Thousand euro

The balances with these companies at 31 December 
2017 and 2016  are as follows:

2017 2016 2017  2016

Transportes Ferroviarios de Madrid, S.A. 6,976 7,406 107 132

Metros Ligeros de Madrid, S.A. 2,665 3,931 235 116

TOTAL 9,641 11,337 342 248

COMPANY (see Notes 8.1.2 and 8.2)
Credit balance

(See Note 12.4)
Debit balance 

Thousand euro
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Details of transactions with related parties in 2017 and 
2016 are as follows:

SALES REVENUES 844,386 820,597

COMMISSIONS ON TRANSIT PASS SALES 21,918 21,410

ACCESSIBILITY GRANT 3,884 2,466

Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 2017 2016

Thousand euro

The balances held with related parties are as follows:

2017 2016 2017 2016

Madrid Regional Transport Consortium 5,505 245,878 1,265 53,693

TOTAL 5,505 245,878 1,265 53,693

Credit balance 
COMPANY

Debit balance 

Thousand euro

2017 2016

Directorate General of Infrastructure 146,247 146,131

TOTAL 146,247 146,131

COMPANY
Credit balance 

Thousand euro
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19. Events after the closing date 

On 14 February 2018, the Labour and Social Security 
Inspectorate charged the Company in two separate 
cases of committing various violations involving the 
maintenance of rolling stock using asbestos-containing 
equipment without having adopted the required safety 
measures, for a total amount of 191 thousand euro. The 
processing of theses administrative cases has been 
suspended, meaning that that the Company has not, to 
date, been able to present arguments prior to the cases 
being turned over to the Public Prosecutor’s Office, 

which will then determine whether or not to take action 
against those responsible for such violations, if any. 
Since no legal action of any kind has as yet been taken 
in relation to these cases and no complaints have been 
filed in or out of court by any of the parties concerned, 
including claims for compensation by employees or any 
other type of claim in relation to asbestos-containing 
equipment, the directors are unable to estimate what 
impact, if any, these events could have on the 2017 
financial statements. 
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20. Other information 

20.1. Staff and members of the Board 
of Directors in 2017 and 2016  

Employees 

Average at
31.12.2017

Actual at
31.12.2017

Average at
31.12.2016

Actual at
31.12.2016

Management
(excluded from collective agreement) (**)

5 5 10 10

Men 3 3 7 7

Women 2 2 3 3

Management (***) 72 73 72 73

Men 56 57 52 53

Women 16 16 20 20

University graduates, technical and
administrative personnel 1,298 1,314 1,250 1,272

Men 917 928 888 904

Women 381 386 362 368

Operations 4,031 4,080 4,178 4,253

Men 2,731 2,764 2,849 2,900

Women 1,300 1,316 1,329 1,353

Operators 1,312 1,328 1,140 1,161

Men 1,290 1,306 1,120 1,140

Women 22 22 20 21

TOTAL 6,718 6,800 6,650 6,769

(**) Including the CEO of Metro de Madrid and senior management (not under the collective bargaining 
agreement)
(***) Including the Director of Rail Operations and the Managers of Divisions, Areas and Services. 
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The average number of employees with disabilities of 
33% or more and their job categories are shown below 
for the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years: 

Job Category 2017 2016

Auxiliary 16 21

Employees 141 105

Middle managers and qualified technical staff 10 11

Managers and technical 5 6

Total 172 143

Members of the Board of Directors 

Average at
31.12.2017

Actual at
31.12.2017

Average at
31.12.2016

Actual at
31.12.2016

Directors  (*) 9 9 8 9

Men 7 6 7 8

Women 2 3 1 1

(*)  The CEO of Metro de Madrid is included as a member of the Board of Directors.

20.2. Remuneration of the board of 
directors and senior management 
personnel  

The Company did not pay any allowances or other 
remuneration to the members of the Board of Directors 
in 2017.  In 2016 the Company paid Euro 1,000 euros 
for this item.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016 no balances are 
receivable from or payable to the members of the board 
of directors. 
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No advances or loans were extended to directors and 
the company assumed no obligations on their behalves 
in the form guarantees. Furthermore, the company has 
not assumed any pension or life insurance commitments 
for current or former members of senior management 
or directors, except as mentioned in this note.

At 31 December 2017 the personnel who are part of the 
company’s management staff had received Euro 447,000 
in salaries and other compensation items, as compared 
to Euro 991,000 in 2016.  Of this amount, Euro 97,000 
was paid senior management who are members of the 
Board of Directors. 

At 31 December 2017 there is no balances receivable 
from members of senior management for advances 
and/or home loans.

Members of senior management who joined the 
company prior to 18 March 1998 have the same cover 
in terms of pension commitments as the rest of the 
serving personnel (see note 16). 

The Company has various directors’ and officers’ liability 
policies in place to cover professional malpractice that 
occurs during or prior to the term of the insurance. The 
premiums on these policies in 2017 and 2016 were 
Euro 34,000.

20.3. Conflicts of interest involving 
directors 

The directors of the Company and their related parties 
have had no conflicts of interest requiring disclosure 
in accordance with article 229 of the Revised Spanish 
Companies Act.

20.4. Auditors’ Fees 

KPMG Auditores, S.L., the auditors of the Company’s 
annual accounts, and other companies related to 
the auditors as defined by Audit Law 19/1988 of 12 
July 1988, invoiced the Company the following fees 
for professional services during the years ended 31 
December 2017 and 2016 (thousand euro):

ITEM 2017 2016

Auditing services 56 52

Other services - 26

56 78

The amounts detailed in the above table include the 
total fees for services rendered in 2017 and 2016, 
irrespective of the date of invoice.

20.5. Environmental Aspects 

In keeping with its environmental policies, the Company 
has various activities and projects underway to address 
environmental issues. The expenses incurred and 
investments made in 2017 are for negligible amounts 
and are therefore not disclosed in the annual accounts. 
Nonetheless, these items have been recognised in the 
income statement and the balance sheet, respectively.

No provision has been made for environmental 
contingencies, as the risk of their materialising is not 
deemed significant.
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